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I. INTRODUCTION  

A. THE PARTIES AND THE TRIBUNAL 

1. The Claimant in this arbitration is Tennant Energy, LLC (the “Claimant” or “Tennant Energy”), 

a Limited Liability Corporation incorporated in California, United States of America (“United 

States”), with its address at 27 Edgefield Ct., Napa, California 94558.1 As of 15 January 2015, 

the Claimant acquired 45.2% of the shares of Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc. (“Skyway 127”), an 

enterprise incorporated in Ontario, Canada on 18 October 2007, with its address at 3042 

Concession 3, Adjala, Ontario, RRI, Hockley Valley, Palgrave, Ontario, L0N 1P0.2 

2. The Claimant is represented in these proceedings by: 

Mr. Barry Appleton 
Appleton & Associates International Lawyers LP 
121 Richmond St 
Suite 602 
Toronto, ON M5H 2K1 
Canada 
 
Mr. Edward Mullins 
Reed Smith LLP 
200 South Biscayne Boulevard 
Suite 2600 
Miami, Florida 33131 
United States  

3. The Respondent in this arbitration is the Government of Canada, a sovereign State (“Canada” or 

the “Respondent”).  

4. The Respondent is represented in these proceedings by: 

Ms. Heather Squires, Lead Counsel 
Ms. Alexandra Dosman, Counsel3 
Ms. Susanna Kam, Counsel 
Mr. Mark Klaver, Counsel 

                                                      
 
1 The Claimant was originally incorporated with the name “Tennant Consulting, LLC” in California, United 

States on 10 September 2001 (Articles of Organization, 10 September 2001 (C-111)). On 27 November 
2002 the Claimant amended its certificate of incorporation in order to change its name to “Tennant Travel 
Services, LLC” (Tennant Travel Services, LLC, Limited Liability Company Restated Articles of 
Organization, 27 November 2002 (R-10)). On 20 April 2015, the Claimant was renamed “Tennant Energy, 
LLC” (Tennant Energy LLC, Amendment to Articles of Organization of a Limited Liability Company, 20 
April 2015 (R-11)). Throughout this document, regardless of the time, the Claimant is referred to as the 
Claimant or Tennant Energy. 

2 Skyway 127 - Certificate of Incorporation, 18 October 2007 (C-113). 
3   Since 4 February 2020. 
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Ms. Maria Cristina Harris, Counsel 
Mr. Stefan Kuuskne, Counsel 
Mr. Benjamin Tait, Paralegal 
Ms. Krystal Girvan, Paralegal4 
Trade Law Bureau (JLT)5 
Global Affairs Canada 
125 Sussex Drive 
Ottawa, ON, K1A 0G2 
Canada 

5. The Tribunal is composed of Mr. Doak Bishop, appointed by the Claimant, Sir Daniel Bethlehem 

KC, appointed by the Respondent, and Mr. Cavinder Bull SC, appointed as presiding arbitrator 

by the Secretary-General of the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes 

(“ICSID”) acting as appointing authority. 

B. THE DISPUTE 

6. This arbitration concerns the Claimant’s allegation that the Respondent violated its obligations 

under Chapter Eleven of the North American Free Trade Agreement (the “NAFTA” or the 

“Treaty”) through certain measures related to the 2011 Feed-in Tariff Program (see below) in 

respect of the Claimant’s alleged investment in Skyway 127 in Canada. 

7. In particular, the Claimant submits that the Respondent violated Article 1105 of the NAFTA by 

reference to the following five alleged wrongful actions or omissions:6 

“(a) Special business opportunities provided to a politically connected local favourite, 
IPC. 

(b)  The “Breakfast Club” cabal of politicians and senior officials systemically 
abusing the process to reward friends at the expense of everyone else. 

(c) Ontario’s decision to not complete its FIT Program for the Bruce Region contrary 
to the legitimate expectation of FIT Proponents such as Skyway 127. 

(d) The delay of the award of contracts because of Korean Consortium’s failure to 
comply with its contractual obligations. 

(e) The conspiracy in the systemic violations of the NAFTA and the spoliation and 
wanton destruction of evidence by Ontario.” 

8. In its Statement of Defence, dated 2 July 2019, the Respondent advanced four objections to the 

jurisdiction of the Tribunal over the Claimant’s claims. By its Procedural Orders Nos. 8 and 9, 

dated 12 November 2020 and 10 March 2021, respectively, the Tribunal ordered the bifurcation 

of the proceedings, such that two of those objections would be decided as preliminary questions, 

                                                      
 
4   Since 6 October 2020. 
5 Since the outset of the proceedings until 4 February 2020, Ms. Lori Di Pierdomenico formed part of the 

team of the Trade Law Bureau as Lead Counsel. Ms. Annie Ouellet and Ms. Darian Bakelaar also 
represented the Respondent as Counsel and Paralegal, respectively. 

6 Memorial, ¶ 13. 
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namely, that (a) the Claimant was not a protected “investor of a Party” when the alleged breach 

occurred, and therefore the Claimant has not met the requirements of Article 1116(1) of the 

NAFTA (the “First Objection”); and (b) the claim was not filed prior to the expiry of the 3-year 

limitation period articulated in Article 1116(2) of the NAFTA (the “Second Objection”, and 

together with the First Objection, the “Preliminary Objections”). In this Final Award, the 

Tribunal decides the Respondent’s Preliminary Objections. 

II. RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

A. COMMENCEMENT OF THE ARBITRATION AND CONSTITUTION OF THE TRIBUNAL 

9. On 2 March 2017, the Claimant served upon the Respondent a “Notice of Intent to Submit a Claim 

to Arbitration under Section B of Chapter Eleven of the North American Free Trade Agreement” 

pursuant to Articles 1119 and 1116 of the NAFTA. 

10. On 1 June 2017, the Claimant commenced these arbitration proceedings by serving upon the 

Respondent its Notice of Arbitration pursuant to Articles 1116 and 1120 of the NAFTA and 

Article 3 of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law Rules of Arbitration, as 

adopted in 1976 (the “UNCITRAL Rules”). 

11. On 6 April 2018, the Claimant appointed Mr. R. Doak Bishop, a United States national, as the 

first arbitrator. 

12. On 20 April 2018, the Respondent appointed Sir Daniel Bethlehem KC, a United Kingdom 

national, as the second arbitrator. 

13. The Parties being unable to agree on a presiding arbitrator, the Claimant, by a letter dated 

5 October 2018, requested the Secretary-General of ICSID to appoint the presiding arbitrator 

pursuant to Article 1124(1) of the NAFTA. 

14. On 12 November 2018, the Secretary-General of ICSID, acting as appointing authority, appointed 

Mr. Cavinder Bull SC, a Singapore national, as Presiding Arbitrator. 

B. FIRST PROCEDURAL STEPS 

15. On 20 November 2018, the Claimant confirmed that its Notice of Arbitration of 1 June 2017 

should also serve as its Statement of Claim. 
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16. On 21 November 2018, the Respondent informed the Tribunal that the Parties had jointly agreed 

that the Permanent Court of Arbitration (the “PCA”) would act as registry in these proceedings. 

17. On 10 January 2019, the Tribunal circulated the final version of the Terms of Appointment for 

the Parties’ signature, and on 29 January 2019, the PCA circulated the signed copy of the 

document, as executed by the Parties and the Tribunal.  

18. On 17 June 2019, the first procedural meeting was held at the World Bank Main Complex 

Building in Washington D.C. (the “First Procedural Meeting”), and attended by the following 

participants: 

Tribunal 
 

Mr. Cavinder Bull SC (Presiding Arbitrator) 
Mr. R. Doak Bishop (via videoconference) 

Sir Daniel Bethlehem KC (via videoconference) 
 

Claimant 
 

Claimant’s Representative, Tennant Energy LLC 
Mr. John Pennie 

 
Counsel, Appleton and Associates International 

Lawyers LP 
Mr. Barry Appleton 
Ms. Lillian De Pena 

(via telephone) 
 

Counsel, Reed Smith LLP 
Mr. Edward Mullins 

Mr. Ben Love 
 
 
 
 

Respondent 
 

Respondent’s Representatives, Ministry of Energy, 
Northern Development and Mines, Government of 

Ontario 
 

Ms. Jennifer Kacaba, Senior Counsel 
Ms. Harkamal Multani, Counsel  

(via videoconference) 
Ms. Karen Slawner, Senior Advisor  

(via videoconference) 
Mr. William Coutts, Senior Project Advisor  

(via videoconference) 
 

Respondent’s Representatives, Ministry of the Attorney 
General, Government of Ontario 

 
Ms. Saroja Kuruganty, Counsel 

Ms. Aida Setrakian, Counsel  
(via videoconference) 

Mr. Andrew Christie, Counsel  
(via videoconference) 

 
Respondent’s Representatives, Economic Development, 

Job Creation and Trade, Government of Ontario 
 

Mr. Miran Ternamian, Senior Policy Advisor  
(via videoconference) 

Ms. Jenarra DeSouza, Manager 
(via videoconference) 

 
Respondent’s Representatives, Independent Electricity 

System Operator, Legal Services 
 

Ms. Reena Goyal, Senior Counsel  
(via videoconference) 
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Respondent’s Representatives, Investment Trade 
Policy, Government of Canada 

 
Ms. Julie Boisvert, Deputy Director  

(via videoconference) 
Ms. Renaude Bender, Senior Trade Policy Officer 

(via videoconference) 
Ms. Jessica Choe, Trade Policy Officer 

(via videoconference) 
 

Counsel 
 

Ms. Lori Di Pierdomenico, Senior Counsel 
Ms. Annie Ouellet, Senior Counsel 

(via videoconference) 
Ms. Susanna Kam, Counsel 

Ms. Maria Cristina Harris, Counsel 
Ms. Johannie Dallaire, Counsel 

(via videoconference) 
Ms. Darian Bakelaar, Senior Paralegal 

Mr. Benjamin Tait, Paralegal 
Ms. Paula Cabrera Jimenez, Student 

(via videoconference) 
 

Court Reporter 
Ms. Felicia Newland 

 
Permanent Court of Arbitration 

Ms. Christel Y. Tham 

19. On 24 June 2019, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 1 which, inter alia, provided that 

these proceedings shall be governed by the UNCITRAL Rules (except as modified by the 

provisions of Section B of the NAFTA) and fixed Washington, D.C. as the place of arbitration. 

Annex 1 of Procedural Order No. 1 also established the procedural calendar for an initial phase 

leading to a Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions and the Tribunal’s decision on 

bifurcation and preliminary motions, as well as two alternative timetables for a subsequent phase 

applicable (a) should the proceedings not be bifurcated; and (b) should the proceedings be 

bifurcated. 

20. On the same date, the Parties and the Tribunal executed a Confidentiality Order which, inter 

alia, set forth a regime governing the handling of confidential and restricted access information 

in the proceedings. 

21. On 2 July 2019, the Respondent submitted its Statement of Defence. 

C. REQUEST FOR BIFURCATION AND PRELIMINARY MOTIONS 

22. On 16 August 2019, the Respondent submitted its Motion for Security for Costs and Disclosure 

of Third-Party Funding (the “Motion for Security for Costs”). 
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23. On the same date, the Claimant submitted its Request for Interim Measures. 

24. On 23 September 2019, the Claimant submitted its Response to Canada’s Motion for Security for 

Costs and Disclosure of Funding. 

25. On the same date, the Respondent submitted its Request for Bifurcation and, in a separate filing, 

its Response to the Claimant’s Request for Interim Measures (the “Response to the Request for 

Interim Measures”). 

26. On 23 October 2019, the Claimant submitted its Response to the Request for Bifurcation. 

27. On 1 November 2019, the United States, through its Department of State, submitted a letter to the 

Tribunal informing inter alia that it did not intend to make any submissions in connection with 

the Request for Bifurcation but that it may wish to do so in connection with the Parties’ 16 August 

2019 preliminary motions. The United States proposed to inform the Tribunal and the Parties 

whether it would make such submissions by 27 November 2019, and file any such submissions 

by 6 December 2019. The United States also reserved its right to make oral submissions during 

the Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions, pursuant to Article 1128 of the NAFTA. 

28. On 2 November 2019, the Claimant wrote to the Tribunal (a) objecting to the United States’ 

proposed procedural schedule and maintaining that any non-disputing Party submissions should 

be provided no later than 6 November 2019; and (b) objecting to the United States’ participation 

at the Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions. 

29. On 4 November 2019, the Government of the United Mexican States (“Mexico”) submitted a 

letter to the Tribunal (a) informing that it did not intend to make a submission on bifurcation; 

(b) communicating its intention to attend the Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions; 

and reserving its right to make any oral submissions at that point; and (c) joining the United States 

in its proposal to inform the Tribunal and the Parties whether it would make submissions on the 

Parties’ preliminary motions by 27 November 2019 and file any such submissions by 6 December 

2019. 

30. On the same day, the Respondent wrote to the Tribunal arguing inter alia that (a) under the 

NAFTA, the non-disputing Parties have a right to make submissions on questions of interpretation 

of the NAFTA and that their proposed timetable was reasonable; and (b) the non-disputing Parties 

have a right under the NAFTA to attend hearings and make oral submissions. 

31. On 5 November 2019, in reaction to the 4 November 2019 letter from Mexico, the Claimant wrote 

to the Tribunal requesting that it (a) set a new date, no later than 8 November 2019, for the filing 
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of all remaining non-disputing Party submissions; and (b) reaffirm its prior decision, as reflected 

in Procedural Order No. 1, that the non-disputing Parties should not be allowed to attend the 

Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions. 

32. On 11 November 2019, the Tribunal wrote to the Parties and the non-disputing Parties directing 

inter alia that (a) the non-disputing Parties inform the Tribunal by 13 November 2019 whether 

they would be making any submissions on the Parties’ preliminary motions and file any such 

submissions by 27 November 2019; (b) the Parties file their responses, if any, to any non-

disputing Party submissions, by 27 December 2019; and (c) the non-disputing Parties would be 

allowed to attend the Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions and make any oral 

submissions to the extent that they had given timely notice to the Parties in writing.  

33. On 13 November 2019, both Mexico and the United States informed the Tribunal that they 

expected to make submissions on questions of interpretation of the NAFTA in connection with 

the Parties’ preliminary motions. 

34. On 18 November 2019, the Respondent submitted a revised version of legal authority RLA-6,7 

containing a translation from Spanish into English of the paragraphs of this document cited by 

the Claimant in its Response to the Request for Interim Measures.  

35. On 27 November 2019, Mexico and the United States submitted their respective submissions on 

questions of interpretation of the NAFTA, pursuant to Article 1128 of the Treaty. 

36. On 27 December 2019, the Parties submitted their respective responses to the non-disputing 

Parties’ submissions of 27 November 2019. 

37. On 7 January 2020, the United States informed the Tribunal and the Parties that it intended to 

make oral submissions at the Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions. On the same date, 

Mexico informed the Tribunal and the Parties that it did not intend to make oral submissions at 

the Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions. 

38. The Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions was held from 14 to 15 January 2020 at the 

World Bank main complex building in Washington, D.C. The following persons attended the 

Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions:  

                                                      
 
7 Manuel García Armas et al. v. Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, PCA Case No. 2016-08, Procedural Order 

No. 9, Decision on Provisional Measures, 20 June 2018 [Spanish, with attached translated excerpts in 
English] (RLA-6). 
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Tribunal 
 

Mr. Cavinder Bull SC (Presiding Arbitrator) 
Mr. R. Doak Bishop 

Sir Daniel Bethlehem KC 
 

Claimant 
 

Claimant’s Representative, Tennant Energy LLC 
Mr. John Pennie 

 
Counsel, Appleton and Associates International 

Lawyers LP 
Mr. Barry Appleton 
Ms. Lillian De Pena  

(via telephone) 
 

Counsel, Reed Smith LLP 
Mr. Edward Mullins 

 
 
 
 
 

Respondent 
 

Respondent’s Counsel, Trade Law Bureau, 
Government of Canada 

Ms. Lori Di Pierdomenico, Senior Counsel 
Ms. Susanna Kam, Counsel 
Mr. Mark Klaver, Counsel 

Ms. Johannie Dallaire, Counsel 
Ms. Maria Cristina Harris, Counsel 

Ms. Darian Bakelaar, Senior Paralegal 
Mr. Scott Little, Deputy Director and Senior Counsel 

(via videoconference) 
Ms. Annie Ouellet, Deputy Director  

(via videoconference) 
Mr. Benjamin Tait, Paralegal  

(via videoconference) 
 

Respondent’s Representatives, Ministry of Energy, 
Northern Development and Mines, Government of Ontario 

Ms. Jennifer Kacaba, Senior Counsel 
Ms. Harkamal Multani, Counsel  

(via videoconference) 
Ms. Haramrit Kaur, Article Student  

(via videoconference) 
Ms. Karen Slawner, Senior Advisor  

(via videoconference) 
Mr. William Coutts, Senior Project Advisor  

(via videoconference) 
 

Respondent’s Representatives, Investment Trade Policy, 
Government of Canada 

Ms. Renaude Bender, Senior Trade Policy Officer 
Ms. Julie Boisvert, Deputy Director  

(via videoconference) 
Ms. Jessica Choe, Trade Policy Officer  

(via videoconference) 
 

Respondent’s Representatives, Ministry of Economic 
Development, Job Creation and Trade, 

Government of Ontario 
Ms. Saroja Kuruganty, Counsel 

Ms. Aida Setrakian, Counsel  
(via videoconference) 

Mr. Miran Ternamian, Senior Policy Advisor  
(via videoconference) 

Mr. Sean Andrade, Policy and Trade Strategy Advisor 
(via videoconference) 

Respondent’s Representatives, Independent Electricity 
System Operator, Legal Services 
Ms. Sejal Shah, Senior Counsel  

(via videoconference) 

PUBLIC VERSION



PCA Case Nº 2018-54 
Final Award 

Page 15 of 137 
 
 

 

 
Representatives of the Non-Disputing Parties 

 
Mexico 

Mr. Aristeo López Sánchez, Ministry of Economy 
Mr. Orlando Perez, General Counsel for International Trade 

 
United States of America 

Ms. Nicole Thornton, U.S. Department of State 
Mr. Nathaniel Jedrey, U.S. Department of State 

Ms. Margaret Sedgewick, U.S. Department of State 
Ms. Amanda Blunt, Office of the U.S. Trade Representative 

Ms. Catherine Gibson, Office of the U.S. Trade Representative 
 

Permanent Court of Arbitration 
Ms. Christel Y. Tham 

 
Court Reporter 

Ms. Dawn Larson 

39. During the Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions, the Tribunal heard oral submissions 

by counsel and put questions to the Parties regarding the Request for Interim Measures, the 

Request for Bifurcation and the Request for Security for Costs. The Tribunal further heard oral 

submissions by the United States on questions of interpretation of the NAFTA regarding the 

Motion for Security for Costs, pursuant to Article 1128 of the Treaty. 

40. On 4 February 2020, the Respondent requested leave to introduce into the record the Decision on 

the respondent’s Request for Security for Costs and the claimant’s Request for Security for Claim 

in Dirk Herzig as Insolvency Administrator over the Assets of Unionmatex Industrieanlagen 

GmbH v. Turkmenistan (ICSID Case No. ARB/18/35), dated 27 January 2020 (the “Decision in 

Dirk Herzig”), as a new legal authority, and to allow the Parties to make written submissions on 

the relevance of this decision vis-à-vis the Motion for Security for Costs. The Claimant objected 

to this request on the same date.  

41. On 10 February 2020, the Tribunal granted the Respondent leave to file the Decision in Dirk 

Herzig and invited the Parties to provide their comments thereon. 

42. On 17 February 2020, the Respondent submitted the Decision in Dirk Herzig into the record as 

exhibit RLA-112 and its comments thereon. On 24 February 2020, the Claimant provided its 

response to the Claimant’s submission on the Decision in Dirk Herzig.  
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43. On 27 February 2020, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 4, by which the Tribunal 

(a) dismissed the Request for Interim Measures;8 (b) dismissed the Request for Bifurcation on the 

ground that it was premature;9 (c) ordered the Claimant to make certain disclosures to the Tribunal 

and the Respondent regarding the identity of any third-party funder as well as the terms of any 

third-party funding agreement;10 and (d) dismissed the Request for Security for Costs.11 The 

Tribunal determined that the proceedings would continue in accordance with the procedural 

timetable set out in Procedural Order No. 1 for the non-bifurcated scenario, with certain 

modifications adopted in order to allow the Respondent to pursue the bifurcation of the 

proceedings after having had sight of the Claimant’s Memorial. The Tribunal further directed that 

the Memorial should set out in full detail the Claimant’s pleading on issues of jurisdiction, 

including the issue of the time-bar. In the event that the Respondent decided to renew its request 

for bifurcation, the Tribunal held that it would decide that request on the papers without a hearing 

and issue relevant procedural directions thereafter.12 

44. On 2 March 2020, the Parties respectively requested, inter alia, that the Tribunal rule on the 

Respondent’s confidentiality designations as set out in their Disputed Designations Schedule 

pursuant to the Confidentiality Order.  

45. On 3 March 2020, the Claimant provided its response to the Respondent’s e-mail of 2 March 

2020. 

46. On 4 March 2020, the Tribunal indicated that it considered the confidentiality designations to be 

ripe for decision and stated that it would render a decision in this respect in due course. 

47. On 27 March 2020, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 5, setting out its decision on the 

Respondent’s confidentiality designations in the Disputed Designations Schedule submitted on 

2 March 2020. 

48. On 3 April 2020, the Respondent filed a Motion for Targeted Document Production, requesting 

that the Claimant be ordered to produce certain categories of documents relating to the Claimant’s 

ability to comply with an adverse costs award (the “Motion for Targeted Document 

Production”). Together with its Motion, the Respondent filed a Redfern Schedule specifying the 

documents for which it requested production. 

                                                      
 
8 Procedural Order No. 4, ¶¶ 69, 183(a). 
9 Procedural Order No. 4, ¶¶ 88, 183(b). 
10 Procedural Order No. 4, ¶¶ 106-108, 183(c). 
11 Procedural Order No. 4, ¶¶ 181, 183(d). 
12 Procedural Order No. 4, ¶¶ 92-93, 183(b). 
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49. On 20 April 2020, the Claimant filed a Response to the Respondent’s Motion for Targeted 

Document Production, requesting that such motion be denied. 

50. On 6 May 2020, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 6, dismissing the Motion for Targeted 

Document Production. 

D. FURTHER WRITTEN PLEADINGS AND THE RENEWED BIFURCATION REQUEST 

51. On 2 May 2020, the Claimant informed that it had encountered “severe difficulties” caused by 

the COVID-19 pandemic and requested that the deadline for the filing of the Memorial be 

postponed by six weeks, and that the two subsequent deadlines in the procedural calendar be 

correspondingly modified. On 8 May 2020, the Respondent consented to the Claimant’s request. 

On 10 May 2020, the Tribunal confirmed the Parties’ agreed amendments to the procedural 

schedule.  

52. On 27 June 2020, the Claimant explained that it continued to experience difficulties caused by 

the worsening pandemic and requested a further one-month extension of the deadline for the filing 

of the Memorial, along with corresponding modifications to the two immediately following 

deadlines. On 3 July 2020, the Respondent agreed to the Claimant’s proposed modifications and, 

the next day, the Tribunal approved the modifications to the procedural calendar, as agreed by the 

Parties.  

53. On 7 August 2020, the Claimant filed its Memorial on Jurisdiction, Merits and Quantum (the 

“Memorial”), accompanied by the witness statement of John C. Pennie (CWS-1) (“Pennie 

Statement”), and the expert valuation report of Deloitte LLP (CER-1) (“Deloitte Report”). 

54. On 10 August 2020, the Respondent asserted that the Claimant had in its Memorial 

inappropriately used information contained in unredacted videos of the hearing in the Mesa Power 

Group LLC v. Government of Canada (PCA Case No. 2012-17) arbitration (“Mesa Power”) that 

had been designated as confidential, and requested the Tribunal to order appropriate remedies. 

55. On 18 August 2020, the Claimant submitted its “Response to Canada’s Motion to Suppress 

Evidence from the Public and the Tribunal”, accompanied by the witness statement of 

Ms. Parthenya Taiyanides (CWS-2). In its response, the Claimant requested the Tribunal reject 

the Respondent’s 10 August 2020 request. 

56. On 26 August 2020, the Respondent submitted its reply to the Claimant’s submission of 

18 August 2020. 
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57. On 2 September 2020, the Claimant submitted its rejoinder to the Respondent’s reply of 

26 August 2020, accompanied by the witness statement of Mr. Justin Giovannetti (CWS-3). 

58. On 21 September 2020, the Respondent submitted its Memorial on Jurisdiction (the “Counter-

Memorial”) and, in a separate filing, its renewed request for bifurcation (the “Renewed Request 

for Bifurcation”), which was accompanied by the witness statement of Mr. Lucas 

McCall (RWS-1) (“McCall Statement”). In its Renewed Request for Bifurcation, the 

Respondent asked the Tribunal to bifurcate the proceedings and consider the Preliminary 

Objections as preliminary questions.13  

59. On the same date, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 7, by which the Tribunal dismissed 

the Respondent’s request of 10 August 2020. 

60. On 13 October 2020, the Claimant filed its response to the Respondent’s Renewed Request for 

Bifurcation. 

61. On 28 October 2020, the Respondent sought leave (a) to submit into the record as a new legal 

authority the Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada (ICSID Case No. 

UNCT/20/3) Procedural Order No. 3 (Decision on Bifurcation), dated 20 October 2020 (the 

“Westmoreland Decision”); and (b) for both disputing Parties to file submissions on the relevance 

of the Westmoreland Decision to the Renewed Request for Bifurcation. 

62. On 30 October 2020, at the Tribunal’s invitation, the Claimant provided its response to the 

Respondent’s 28 October 2020 request, stating that it “oppose[d] [it] based on practicality, delay, 

and cost.” Further, in the event that the Tribunal decided to admit the Westmoreland Decision 

into the record, the Claimant argued that a specific procedure should then follow, according to 

which both the disputing and non-disputing Parties would be given the opportunity to file 

submissions and the Parties would then be given the opportunity to respond to the non-disputing 

Parties’ submissions. 

63. On 10 November 2020, the Tribunal informed the Parties that, prior to receipt of the Respondent’s 

request concerning the Westmoreland Decision, it had already decided on the course to be 

followed in connection with the Respondent’s Renewed Request for Bifurcation. As such, it saw 

no need to depart from that decision for purposes of receiving further submissions from the Parties 

on the Westmoreland Decision. Taking account of the fact that the Westmoreland Decision was 

                                                      
 
13 Renewed Request for Bifurcation, ¶ 2, 21-22. 
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already in the public domain, the Tribunal nevertheless granted the Respondent permission to 

submit it into the record, without comment from the Parties.  

64. On 12 November 2020, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 8, by which the Tribunal 

granted the Respondent’s Renewed Request for Bifurcation, with the scope of the bifurcated 

jurisdictional hearing to be determined after the Claimant’s filing of its ensuing submission on 

jurisdiction. 14  In particular, the Tribunal determined that, while at least the First Objection 

warranted the bifurcation of the proceedings, it would decide whether the preliminary review of 

the Second Objection was appropriate after it had sight of the Claimant’s Counter-Memorial on 

jurisdiction.15 

E. BIFURCATED JURISDICTIONAL PHASE 

65. On 30 November 2020, the Claimant submitted inter alia that “fairness and due process require” 

that there be document production in the preliminary phase of the proceedings. The Claimant 

further submitted that it should file its Reply on Jurisdiction only after the Respondent had filed 

its Counter-Memorial on merits and damages, and the proposed document production phase had 

occurred.  

66. On 15 December 2020, the Respondent objected to the Claimant’s 30 November 2020 

submissions. 

67. On 23 December 2020, the Tribunal, having considered the Parties’ views, rejected the Claimant’s 

proposal for document production in the preliminary phase of proceedings, and “confirm[ed] that, 

in accordance with PO1 and PO8, the Claimant’s Reply on Jurisdiction shall be due on 11 January 

2021. Thereafter, after determining whether the Second Objection will be addressed in the 

preliminary phase of the proceedings, the Tribunal shall fix the deadlines for the remaining 

procedural steps in accordance with the procedural calendar set out in Annex 1 of PO1.”  

68. On the same date, the Claimant (a) requested an extension from 11 January to 1 March 2021 for 

the filing of its next submission on jurisdiction; and (b) proposed a revised procedural calendar, 

which reflected corresponding adjustments to what it considered to be the remaining procedural 

events for this phase, namely the Reply and Rejoinder Memorials on Jurisdiction, the non-

disputing Party submissions, and the disputing Parties’ responses to those submissions. 

                                                      
 
14 Procedural Order No. 8, ¶¶ 39, 46. 
15 Procedural Order No. 8, ¶ 44. 
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69. On 29 December 2020, the Respondent agreed to the Claimant’s request to extend the deadline 

for the filing of its Reply on Jurisdiction. However, the Respondent objected to the Claimant’s 

proposed procedural calendar, submitting its own proposal for a revised procedural calendar. The 

Respondent contended, in particular, that (a) reply and rejoinder memorials on jurisdiction were 

not necessary since both Parties would have each already completed two rounds of submissions 

on jurisdiction; and (b) the Claimant’s proposed calendar did not account for the Tribunal’s 

decision on the scope of the preliminary phase following the Claimant’s Counter-Memorial on 

jurisdiction. 

70. On 10 January 2021, the Tribunal (a) confirmed the Parties’ agreement regarding the extension 

of the deadline for the filing of the Claimant’s Reply on Jurisdiction; and (b) adopted the 

procedural calendar proposed by the Respondent. 

71. On 1 March 2021, the Claimant filed its Counter-Memorial on Jurisdiction (the “Reply”), 

accompanied by the witness statements of Mr. John H. Tennant (CWS-2) and Mr. Derek Tennant 

(CWS-3), as well as the expert legal opinion of Hon. Margaret Grignon (CER-2) (the “Grignon 

Report”).  

72. On 10 March 2021, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 9, inter alia, deciding on the 

scope of the bifurcated jurisdictional hearing and granting the Respondent’s Renewed Request 

for Bifurcation in respect of both Preliminary Objections.  

73. On the same day, the Claimant wrote to the Tribunal (a) contending that Procedural Order No. 9 

erroneously “omits Tennant Energy’s opportunity to respond by filing a Rejoinder Memorial on 

Jurisdiction”, and proposing a modified procedural schedule for the remainder of the bifurcated 

jurisdiction phase correcting this alleged error; (b) requesting an extension from 15 to 30 days of 

the time period for the Parties to respond to the non-disputing Parties’ submissions; and (c) 

requesting guidance on the length and dates for the bifurcated jurisdictional hearing. 

74. On 12 March 2021, at the Tribunal’s invitation, the Respondent responded, inter alia, (a) rejecting 

the Claimant’s proposed schedule; and (b) raising no objections to the Claimant’s extension 

request. 

75. By letter dated 23 March 2021, the Tribunal (a) rejected the Claimant’s proposed schedule and 

corresponding request to file an additional submission on jurisdiction after the Respondent’s 

second submission on jurisdiction, on the basis that it had already decided this issue in its 10 

January 2021 letter and saw no reason to depart from the said decision; (b) in the absence of any 

objections from the Respondent to the Claimant’s request, the Tribunal confirmed that the time 
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period for the Parties to respond to the non-disputing Parties’ submissions would be extended 

from 15 to 30 days; and (c) decided that the bifurcated jurisdictional hearing would take place 

over a maximum of four days, in the period from 15 to 19 November 2021, the final hearing 

schedule to be determined in the light of the Parties’ agreement, if any, or submissions, in advance 

of the pre-hearing conference.  

76. On 26 March 2021, the Respondent, inter alia, requested that the Tribunal make a final 

determination with respect to disputed confidentiality designations to exhibit C-108 and the 

videos of the hearing in Mesa Power. 

77. On 5 April 2021, the Claimant submitted its response to the Respondent’s request of 26 March 

2021. 

78. On 13 April 2021, the Respondent submitted its reply to the Claimant’s response of 5 April 2021. 

79. On 15 April 2021, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 10 which set out in its Annex I the 

revised procedural calendar for the bifurcated jurisdictional phase. 

80. On 20 April 2021, the Claimant submitted its rejoinder comments to the Respondent’s reply of 

13 April 2021.  

81. On 1 May 2021, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 11, adopting an amended procedural 

calendar for the Bifurcated Jurisdictional phase agreed upon by the Parties.  

82. On 5 May 2021, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 12, by which the Tribunal rejected 

the Respondent’s request of 26 March 2021. 

83. On 26 May 2021, the Respondent filed its Rejoinder Memorial on Jurisdiction (“Rejoinder”), 

accompanied by the expert legal opinion of Margaret G. Lodise (RER-1) (the “Lodise Report”). 

84. On 11 June 2021, the United States notified the Tribunal of its intention to make a written 

submission on matters of interpretation of the NAFTA in the bifurcated jurisdictional phase of 

the proceedings. 

85. On 25 June 2021, Mexico and the United States filed their respective submissions regarding the 

Preliminary Objections pursuant to NAFTA Article 1128 (“Mexico’s Second Submission” and 

the “United States’ Second Submission”, respectively)  

86. On 26 July 2021, the Parties filed their respective Responses to the non-disputing Parties’ 

submissions regarding the Preliminary Objections pursuant to NAFTA Article 1128 (the 
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“Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission” and the “Respondent’s Second Article 1128 

Submission”). 

F. HEARING ON JURISDICTION 

87. On 27 August 2021, the Respondent proposed that the bifurcated jurisdictional hearing 

(the “Hearing on Jurisdiction”) take place in person in Toronto, Canada. In support thereof, the 

Respondent relied on paragraph 3.2 of Procedural Order No. 1, which provided that hearings may 

take place at locations other than Washington D.C., if so decided by the Tribunal after 

consultation with the Parties. 

88. On 3 September 2021, the Claimant advised the Tribunal that it did not share the Respondent’s 

view about holding the Hearing on Jurisdiction in-person due to the on-going COVID-19-related 

health concerns and travel restrictions. 

89. On 8 September 2021, the Tribunal decided that the Hearing on Jurisdiction would proceed by 

way of a videoconference, noting that virtual hearings had been conducted in numerous cases 

with good efficiency. The Tribunal further informed the Parties that, in accordance with 

paragraphs 13.1 and 13.2 of PO1, it would propose a draft virtual hearing protocol for the Parties 

to consider. 

90. On 16 September 2021, the Respondent requested a ruling from a Tribunal for permission to 

submit into the record the Award in MAKAE Europe SARL v. Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (ICSID 

Case No. ARB/17/42) dated 30 August 2021 (the “MAKAE Award”). 

91. On 16 September 2021, the Tribunal circulated a draft of Procedural Order No. 14 (a virtual 

hearing protocol for the Hearing on Jurisdiction) and invited the Parties’ comments thereon. 

92. On 25 September 2021, at the Tribunal’s invitation, the Claimant noted that, to its knowledge, the 

MAKAE Award had not been released to the public and sought “clarification of the [MAKAE 

Award]’s status before being able to address whether this decision should be admitted into the 

record.” 

93. On 8 October 2021, the Respondent explained that it had obtained a copy of the MAKAE Award 

through Investment Arbitration Reporter, an online subscription-based source. 

94. On 14 October 2021, the Parties submitted their agreed proposed amendments to the draft 

Procedural Order No. 14. By separate correspondence of the same date, the Parties provided 

comments on outstanding points of disagreements on the draft Order. 
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95. On 16 October 2021, the Tribunal provided certain guidance to the Parties and directed them to 

confer with a view to reducing the number of outstanding issues relating to draft Procedural Order 

No. 14 in advance of the pre-hearing conference scheduled for 19 October 2021.  

96. On 18 October 2021, the Parties submitted an updated version of the draft Procedural Order 

No. 14, noting that the issue of the hearing schedule remained outstanding. 

97. Also on 18 October 2021, the Respondent recalled its 16 September 2021 request to have the 

MAKAE Award added to the record and inquired whether the Tribunal required anything further 

to assist in its decision on the matter. 

98. On 19 October 2021, a pre-hearing conference was held by video-conference, in which counsel 

and representatives for both Parties, all members of the Tribunal, and the PCA participated, to 

discuss the organization of the Hearing on Jurisdiction, as well as the Respondent’s request to add 

the MAKAE Award into the record. 

99. On 25 October 2021, at the Tribunal’s direction, the PCA wrote to ICSID seeking clarification in 

respect of the authenticity of the version of the MAKAE Award published in Investment 

Arbitration Reporter. On the same date, ICSID noted that the parties in the MAKAE case “have 

not consented to the publication of the Award to date”, meaning that ICSID was “unable to 

address the authenticity or completeness of the version presented to the tribunal”. 

100. On 26 October 2021, following the Tribunal’s direction, the Parties jointly proposed an indicative 

schedule for the Hearing on Jurisdiction for the Tribunal’s consideration. 

101. On 27 October 2021, the Tribunal requested that the Parties provide indicative timings for each 

step in their proposed draft hearing schedule. Following an inquiry from the Claimant of the same 

date, the Tribunal reiterated this direction to the Parties on 28 October 2021. 

102. On 31 October 2021, the Parties submitted an agreed indicative schedule for the Hearing on 

Jurisdiction. 

103. On 2 November 2021, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 14, whereby the Tribunal made 

directions for the procedure of the Hearing on Jurisdiction and set forth a hearing schedule. As 

noted in Section 5.4 of Procedural Order No. 14, the non-disputing Parties notified the Tribunal 

that they did not expect to make oral submissions during the Hearing on Jurisdiction. 

104. On 5 November 2021, the Respondent reiterated its request to add to the record the MAKAE 

Award. 
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105. On 8 November 2021, the Claimant provided its response to the Respondent’s 5 November 2021 

submission concerning the MAKAE Award. 

106. On 9 November 2021, the Tribunal granted the Respondent’s application to admit the MAKAE 

Award into the record. The Respondent filed the MAKAE Award on the same date. 

107. The Hearing on Jurisdiction was held from 15 to 19 November 2021 by video-conference. The 

following persons attended the Hearing on Jurisdiction: 

Tribunal 
 

Mr. Cavinder Bull SC (Presiding Arbitrator) 
Mr. R. Doak Bishop 

Sir Daniel Bethlehem KC 
Claimant 

 
Claimant’s Representative, Tennant Energy LLC 

Mr. John Pennie 
 

Counsel, Reed Smith LLP 
Mr. Edward Mullins 
Ms. Sujey Herrera 

Ms. Cristina Cardenas 
Ms. Annabel Blanco 

Mr. Kevin Hernandez 
Mr. Jarol Guiterrez 

 
Counsel, Appleton and Associates International 

Lawyers LP 
Mr. Barry Appleton 

Mr. Gabriel Marshall 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Respondent 
 

Respondent’s Counsel, Trade Law Bureau, 
Government of Canada 

Ms. Heather Squires, Deputy Director and Senior 
Counsel 

Mr. Mark Klaver, Counsel 
Ms. Alexandra Dosman, Counsel 

Mr. Stefan Kuuskne, Counsel 
Mr. Benjamin Tait, Paralegal 
Ms. Krystal Girvan, Paralegal 

Ms. Jessica Scifo, Articling Student  
Mr. Scott Little, Deputy Director and Senior Counsel 

Mr. Mark Luz, General Counsel 
Mr. Jean-Francois Hebert, Senior Counsel 

 
Respondent’s Representatives, Ministry of Energy, 

Northern Development and Mines,  
Government of Ontario 

Mr. Erik Guloien, Counsel 
Ms. Karen Slawner, Senior Advisor 

Mr. William Coutts, Senior Policy Advisor  
 

Respondent’s Representatives, Investment Trade 
Policy, Government of Canada 

Mr. Matthew Tone, Senior Trade Policy Analyst 
Ms. Callie Stewart, Executive Director  

 
Respondent’s Representatives, Ministry of Economic 

Development, Job Creation and Trade,  
Government of Ontario 

Ms. Saroja Kuruganty, Counsel 
Ms. Margaret Kim, Counsel 

Ms. Adrianna Militano, Senior Policy and Trade 
Advisor 

 
Respondent’s Representative, Independent Electricity 

System Operator, Legal Services 
Ms. Eva Markowski, Counsel  
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Respondent’s Representative, Core Legal,  
Trial Graphics  

Ms. Gen Barlow 
 

Permanent Court of Arbitration 
Mr. José Luis Aragón Cardiel, Legal Counsel 

Ms. Clara Ruiz Garrido, Assistant Legal Counsel 
Ms. Diana Pyrikova, Case Manager 

 
Court Reporter 

Mr. David Kasdan 
 

Technical Support 
Mr. Faraz Kahn, Law in Order  

 
Observers 

Mr. Romane S. Duncan 
Ms. María Gómez  

108. At the Hearing on Jurisdiction, the following fact and expert witnesses for the Claimant were 

cross-examined by the Respondent’s counsel: Mr. Lucas McCall, Mr. John C, Pennie, Mr. John 

Tennant, Mr. Derek Tennant, and Justice Margaret Grignon.  

109. At the Hearing, the following expert witness for the Respondent was cross-examined by the 

Claimant’s counsel: Ms. Margaret G. Lodise. 

110. Following discussions with the Parties at the close of the Hearing, the Tribunal issued questions 

to the Parties to be addressed in the Parties’ respective post-hearing briefs, directing the Parties 

to make simultaneous submissions by 17 December 2021 and the Claimant to file a further 

submission, limited only to responding to the Respondent’s submissions during the hearing on 

the matter of successor in interest, by 22 December 2021.  

G. POST-HEARING PROCEEDINGS 

111. On 17 December 2021, the Parties respectively submitted their post-hearing briefs (the Claimant’s 

post-hearing brief (the “Claimant’s PHB”) and the Respondent’s post-hearing brief 

(the “Respondent’s PHB”)). 

112. On 22 December 2021, the Claimant filed its Response to Canada’s Post Hearing Brief on 

Transfers (the “Response to the Respondent’s PHB”). 

113. On 16 February 2022, the Respondent filed a dual application (a) to submit into the record the 

Final Award in Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada (ICSID Case No. 

UNCT/20/3), dated 31 January 2022 (the “Westmoreland Award”); and (b) for security for costs. 
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114. On 24 February 2022, at the Tribunal’s invitation, the Claimant submitted its response to the 

Respondent’s application of 16 February 2022. 

115. On 20 April 2022, the Tribunal granted the Respondent’s application to submit into the record the 

Westmoreland Award and invited the Parties to address the Award by 4 May 2022. As for the 

Respondent’s renewed application for security for costs, the Tribunal indicated that it would 

address the issue in this Final Award. 

116. On 4 May 2022, the Respondent filed its submission on the Westmoreland Award (the 

“Respondent’s Westmoreland Submission”). Noting that its textual interpretation of NAFTA 

Article 1116(1) aligned with that advanced by the Westmoreland tribunal, with which all NAFTA 

Parties agreed, the Respondent maintained that the NAFTA offered no mechanism to assign 

investment claims to separate investors who did not hold the investment at the time of the alleged 

breach. According to the Respondent, the Claimant failed to satisfy the jurisdictional pre-

requisites articulated in the Westmoreland Award because the Claimant’s acquisition of the 

investment, after the alleged breach occurred for the purpose of bringing the NAFTA claims, did 

not constitute a bona fide transaction. Furthermore, the Respondent, inter alia, clarified 

that (a) NAFTA Article 1109 was a substantive obligation and thus was not relevant to the 

Tribunal’s determination of its jurisdiction; (b) domestic law was not dispositive to the question 

of whether the right to bring a NAFTA claim may be assigned; and (c) a separate entity, like 

Tennant Energy that merely acquired the investment years after the alleged breach, could not be 

a “legal successor” who could continue a NAFTA claim. 

117. On the same date, the Claimant filed its submission on the Westmoreland Award (the “Claimant’s 

Westmoreland Submission”). According to the Claimant, the Westmoreland Award was 

inapposite because (a) the Claimant already owned and controlled the investment (i.e., the 

Skyway 127 shares) at the time it had actual knowledge of the Respondent’s breach of its NAFTA 

obligations; and (b) unlike the situation in Westmoreland where only specific claims were 

assigned to the claimant through bankruptcy, Tennant Energy was the “successor in interest” in 

relation to all rights and liabilities attached to the Skyway 127 shares, including any treaty claims, 

that Mr. John Tennant previously held. In any event, the Claimant considered that the 

Westmoreland tribunal erred by failing to take into account NAFTA Article 1109, which, 

according to the Claimant, permitted the transfer of a claim between foreign nationals insofar as 

there is no change in the underlying nationality. Consequently, the Claimant submitted that the 

Tribunal should not rely upon the Westmoreland Award, which was “contradictory to general 

principle of international law and by the jurisprudence constante”. 
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118. On 26 May 2022, the Respondent requested that the Tribunal give advance notice regarding the 

issuance of its Award on Jurisdiction. The Claimant submitted its comments on such request the 

same day. 

119. On 24 June 2022, the Tribunal invited the Parties to file submissions on costs. The Parties filed 

their respective Submissions on Costs on 15 July 2022 (the “Claimant’s Costs Submission” and 

the “Respondent’s Costs Submission”). 

III.  THE PARTIES’ REQUEST FOR RELIEF  

A. THE RESPONDENT’S REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

120. The Respondent requests that the Tribunal:16 

“(a)  Dismiss the Claimant’s claim in its entirety and with prejudice on the grounds of lack 
of jurisdiction under NAFTA Articles 1116(1) and 1116(2); 

(b)  Order the Claimant to bear the costs of this arbitration in full and to indemnify Canada 
for its legal fees and costs in this arbitration; and 

(c)  Grant any further relief it deems just and appropriate under the circumstances.” 

B. THE CLAIMANT’S REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

121. The Claimant requests that the Tribunal:17 

“a.  Declare that Tennant Energy is an Investor as defined by NAFTA Article 1139 as of 
April 26, 2011 over Tennant Energy’s investment in Skyway 127 Wind Energy; 

b.  Declare that this Tribunal has jurisdiction over Tennant Energy’s NAFTA Chapter 
Eleven claim; 

c.  Dismiss Canada’s jurisdictional application in its entirety and order that this 
arbitration proceeds to the merits. 

d.  Award the costs, disbursements, and fees of the defense of this application on a full 
indemnity basis to the Investor, Tennant Energy.” 

IV. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

122. The following sections will briefly summarize the facts giving rise to this dispute to the extent 

necessary to place the Parties’ arguments on the Preliminary Objections in context. This summary 

is not intended to set out all of the facts as alleged by the Parties or all of the Parties’ submissions. 

                                                      
 
16 Rejoinder, ¶ 109; Counter-Memorial, ¶ 159; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 82. 
17 Reply, ¶ 447. See also Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 154; Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 90. 
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A. THE CLAIMANT’S ALLEGED INVESTMENT  

123. The Claimant’s primary position is that it “directly owns and controls Skyway 127, a wind project 

located in the province of Ontario, Canada”,18 and that it had “standing” as an investor under the 

NAFTA when its claim first arose on 15 August 2015 because, at the time, it “was effectively 

controlling Skyway 127, and it effectively owned 45.2% of the shares of Skyway 127.”19 

124. To the extent that the Tribunal finds that the claim arose prior to 15 January 2015, when the 

Claimant allegedly acquired its 45.2% stake in Skyway 127, the Claimant maintains that it still 

“has standing to bring a claim.”20 In particular, the Claimant avers that it “has standing to bring a 

claim regarding the period from April 26, 2011 to January 15, 2015” as it owned and controlled 

“a property right through its beneficial ownership of shares in Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc.” 

that qualifies as a protected investment under the NAFTA.21  

1. The Alleged Beneficial Ownership in the Shares of Skyway 127  

125. As mentioned above, Skyway 127 was incorporated in Ontario, Canada on 18 October 2007.22 At 

the time of its constitution, Skyway 127 was 50% owned by I.Q. Properties Inc., a company with 

its address at 51 St. Lawrence St., ON L9Y 4Y3, Collingwood, Canada; 25 % owned by Mr. John 

C. Pennie; and 25% owned by Ms. Marilyn Field, both with their address at 3030 Concession 

Road 3 Adjala, ON L0N 1P0, Palgrave, Canada.23  

126. According to Messrs. John Pennie, John Tennant and Derek Tennant’s witness testimony, on 19 

April 2011, Mr. John Tennant “agreed to allow the [437,500] Skyway 127 shares [that I.Q. 

Properties Inc. held at the time] to satisfy the debt” of CAD 200,000 on which Mr. Derek Tennant 

had defaulted.24 Thereafter, on 26 April 2011, Mr. John Tennant “confirmed with Derek that I 

would nominate Tennant Travel Services, LLC to hold the Skyway 127 shares”,25 and notified 

                                                      
 
18  Memorial, ¶¶ 112. 
19  Memorial, ¶ 117. 
20  Reply, ¶ 7(a). 
21 Reply, ¶¶ 2(a), 7(a). See also Reply, ¶¶ 115-119.  
22 Skyway 127 - Certificate of Incorporation, 18 October 2007 (C-113). 
23 Shareholders and Transfers Register, Skyway 127, 18 October 2007 (C-140). 
24  Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 18 (CWS-2). See also Pennie Statement, ¶ 47 (CWS-1); Witness 

Statement of Derek Tennant, ¶ 16 (CWS-3). 
25  Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 19 (CWS-2). See also Witness Statement of Derek Tennant, ¶ 21 

(CWS-3). 
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Mr. John C. Pennie, who was the corporate secretary of Skyway 127 at the time, that the shares 

should be transferred to Tennant Travel Services, LLC.26  

127. According to Skyway 127’s shareholders and transfers register, on 20 June 2011, Tennant Travel 

Services, LLC did not hold any of its shares. Instead, Mr. John Tennant, with his address at 250 

Greenfield Avenue, San Mateo, California, United States, held an 11.3% equity interest in 

Skyway 127.27 The remaining portion of Skyway 127’s shares at that time was held by:  

(a) GE Energy, LLC (“GE Energy”), a company with its address at 1 River Road, 

Schenectady, New York 12345, United States (total of 50% of the shares);  

(b) Premier Renewable Energy, Ltd. (“Premier Renewable”), a company with its address at 

Fransestraat 2, 6524 JA Nijmegen, the Netherlands (total of 25% of the shares); 

(c) Ms. Marilyn Field (total of 5.6% of the shares);  

(d) Mr. J. C. Pennie (total of 5.6% of the shares);  

(e) Mr. Earl Hughson, with his address at 17 Silver Spring Crescent, Uxbridge, Canada (total 

of 0.5% of the shares);  

(f) Mr. Al Lopez, with his address at 37 Fenwick Ave., Toronto, Canada (total of 0.3% of the 

shares); 

(g) Mr. Anthony Oram, with his address at 4168 Susan Court, Burlington, Canada (total of 

0.3% of the shares); 

(h) Mr. Brad White, with his address at 3 May Street, Toronto, Canada (total of 0.3% of the 

shares); 

(i) Mr. Mohammad Al Zaibak, with his address at 112 Forest Hill Road, Toronto, Canada 

(total of 0.3% of the shares); 

(j) Cross Over Solutions Inc., a company with its address at 45A West Wilmot Street, 

Richmond Hill, Canada (total of 0.2% of the shares); 

(k) Mr. Fred Kahn, with his address at 1908 - 65 Harbour Square, Toronto, Canada (total of 

0.2% of the shares); 

(l) Mr. Michael Harrison, with his address at 349 Sunnyside Avenue, Toronto, Ontario (total 

of 0.2% of the shares); and  

                                                      
 
26  Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 20 (CWS-2); Pennie Statement, ¶ 48 (CWS-1); Witness Statement 

of Derek Tennant, ¶¶ 22-24 (CWS-3). 
27 Shareholder’s Ledger Skyway 127, 9 June 2011 (C-117). 
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(m) Mr. Wayne Noble, with his address at 112 Forest Hill Road, Toronto, Canada (total of 0.2% 

of the shares). 

128. As a result of the cancellation of Premier Renewable’s shares, on 31 December 2011, Mr. John 

Tennant’s shareholding increased from 11.3% to 22.6%.28  

129. As will be discussed in detail below, the Parties disagree on the date on which Mr. John Tennant 

first acquired shares in Skyway 127 and the capacity in which he held his shares.29 According to 

the Claimant, although Mr. John Tennant’s first acquisition of shares in Skyway 127 was 

officially recorded on 20 June 2011, it was in fact completed on 19 April 2011.30 According to 

Mr. John C. Pennie, however, this was only because Skyway 127 was very busy at the time with 

managing its wind energy project. 31  The Claimant further maintains that Mr. John Tennant 

acquired his shares in Skyway 127 to be held in trust, and designated Tennant Energy as the 

beneficiary owner of its shares on 26 April 2011 and 31 December 2011, respectively.32  

130. The Respondent, by contrast, contends that Mr. John Tennant acquired an 11.3% equity interest 

in Skyway 127 on the date recorded in the shareholders’ ledger (i.e., on 20 June 2011). 33 

Moreover, the Respondent maintains that the Claimant has failed to provide sufficient evidence 

to prove its beneficial ownership of up to 22.6% of the shares in Skyway 127.34  

131. On 15 January 2015, the Claimant acquired 45.2% of the shares in Skyway 127 from Mr. John 

Tennant, Ms. Marilyn Field and Mr. John Pennie.35 

2. Skyway 127 Application to the FIT Program  

132. On 27 November 2009, Skyway 127 submitted an application to the Ontario FIT Program (as 

defined below) for a 100 megawatts (“MW”) on-shore wind project near the town of Port Elgin, 

with a connection point in the Bruce region.36 

                                                      
 
28 Shareholder’s Ledger Skyway 127, 30 December 2011(C-114). 
29 Section VI.A.1. below. 
30 Reply, ¶¶ 69-70.  
31  Pennie Statement, ¶ 47 (CWS-1). 
32 Reply, ¶¶ 84, 154. 
33 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 32.  
34 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 88. 
35 Shareholder's Ledger Skyway 127, 15 January 2015 (C-115). 
36 Skyway 127 FIT Application, 27 November 2009, p. 26 (R-25). 

PUBLIC VERSION



PCA Case Nº 2018-54 
Final Award 

Page 31 of 137 
 
 

 

B. THE FIT PROGRAM 

133. On 24 September 2009, the Ontario Minister of Energy and Infrastructure (the “Minister of 

Energy”) directed the Ontario Power Authority (the “OPA”) to develop a Feed-in Tariff Program 

to procure energy from renewable energy sources in the province (the “FIT Program”).37 Under 

the FIT Program, the OPA would negotiate long-term contracts with developers to design, build 

and operate renewable generating facilities in exchange of guaranteed, long-term pricing for their 

output.38 

134. On 30 September 2009, the OPA issued rules setting out the eligibility criteria for the program as 

well as the processes and criteria to evaluate applications (the “FIT Rules”);39 and a model FIT 

contract (“FIT Contract”).40 The FIT Program was formally launched by the OPA on 1 October 

2009.  

135. Applications for the FIT Program were regulated by two different procedures: (a) a special 

procedure for applications received during the first 60 days of the FIT Program (i.e., from 

1 October 2009 to 30 November 2009) (the “Launch Period”); and (b) a standard procedure for 

all subsequently-received applications. 41  As mentioned above, Skyway 127 submitted its 

application to the FIT Program on 27 November 2009, which falls within the Launch Period.42 

Under the Launch Period procedure, projects that had reached certain development milestones 

were granted priority access to available connection capacity.43 

136. During the Launch Period of the FIT Program, the OPA received about 930 FIT applications.44 

On 8 April 2010, the OPA announced that it had offered 184 FIT Contracts to applications 

submitted during the Launch Period for large projects (i.e., projects exceeding a generation 

capacity of 500 kilowatts).45 The Launch Period applicants that did not receive a FIT Contract 

                                                      
 
37 Letter from George Smitherman (Minister of Energy and Infrastructure) to Colin Andersen (OPA), 

Direction to the OPA, 24 September 2009 (C-174).  
38 Letter from George Smitherman (Minister of Energy and Infrastructure) to Colin Andersen (OPA), 

Direction to the OPA, 24 September 2009, p. 2 (C-174). 
39 OPA, FIT Rules Version 1.1, 30 September 2009 (C-162). 
40 OPA, FIT Program Contract, v. 1.1, 30 September 2009 (R-36). 
41 OPA, FIT Rules Version 1.1, 30 September 2009, Sections 13.2(a), 13.5 (C-162). 
42 Skyway 127 FIT Application, 27 November 2009, p. 26 (R-25). 
43 OPA, FIT Rules Version 1.1, 30 September 2009, Section 13.5 (C-162); OPA, Feed-in Tariff Program, 

Program Overview, v. 1.1, 30 September 2009, p. 10 (R-35). 
44 OPA, Backgrounder, 8 April 2010, p. 2 (R-34). 
45 OPA, Backgrounder, 8 April 2010, p. 2 (R-34). 
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remained in “reserve” pending their re-assessments under certain conditions.46 On 21 December 

2010, the OPA published a priority ranking in respect of such projects.47 

137. On 17 February 2011, the Minister of Energy directed the OPA prepare a plan to meet the Ontario 

Government’s goal, in its 2010 Long-Term Energy Plan, to generate 10,700 MW of electricity 

from renewable energy sources other than hydroelectric by 2018.48 

138. Further to its direction of 17 February 2011, on 3 June 2011, the Minister of Energy directed the 

OPA to offer FIT Contracts for up to 750 MW in the Bruce region and up to 300 MW in the West 

of London transmission area.49 Under this direction, the OPA was instructed to allow a five-day 

change window during which any FIT applicant in the Bruce and West of London regions could 

change its connection point.50  

139. As a result of this 3 June 2011 direction, the Claimant alleges that Skyway 127’s domestic 

competitor, Boulevard Associates Canada, Inc., “was able to move four of its unsuccessful West 

of London projects over to the Bruce Region”, which allowed it “to jump to the front of the 

priority line for the Bruce Transmission Region and bump ahead some of the projects, including 

Skyway 127, that had been in the top six in that area since the launch of the FIT Program.”51 

Likewise, the Claimant contends that two other companies, International Power Canada (the 

“IPC”) and NextEra, were also able to change their connection points from the West of London 

to Bruce regions and obtain FIT Contracts to Skyway 127’s detriment.52 The Claimant further 

claims that the changes to the FIT Program under 3 June 2011 direction were a result lobbied for 

by NextEra.53 

                                                      
 
46 OPA, Feed-in Tariff Program, Program Overview, v. 1.1, 30 September 2009, p. 10, 25-26 (R-35). 
47 Feed in Tariff Program, Program Update, Priority ranking for First Round FIT Contracts, 21 December 

2010 (C-128). 
48 Letter from Minister Brad Duguid (Ministry of Energy) to Colin Andersen (OPA), Direction to the OPA, 

17 February 2011, p. 3 (C-222). 
49 Directive from Minister of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid to Colin Andersen, CEO, Ontario Power 

Authority, 3 June 2011 (C-176). 
50 Directive from Minister of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid to Colin Andersen, CEO, Ontario Power 

Authority, 3 June 2011, p. 2 (C-176). 
51  Memorial, ¶ 248; OPA, FIT CAR Priority Ranking by Region, 3 June 2011 (C-148). 
52  Memorial, ¶¶ 78-87, 251, 258-259. 
53  Memorial, ¶¶ 254-256; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada (PCA Case No, 2012-17), 

Hearing Transcript, Day 3 (Public Version), 28 October 2014, Testimony of Jim MacDougall, 225:5-9 (C-
121); Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, (PCA Case 2012-17), Hearing Video, Day 3, 
Part 2 (Public Version), 28 October 2014, E-mail from Al Wiley (NextEra), 10 May 2011 
[CONFIDENTIAL], 1:25:35 (C-204).  
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140. On 4 July 2011, the OPA awarded FIT Contracts for the available capacity on the Bruce to Milton 

Line.54 While Skyway 127 was not offered a FIT Contract, it was informed by the OPA that “[a]t 

this time, your project will remain in the Priority Ranking and proceed to the Economic 

Connection Test.”55 

141. In the fall of 2011, the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario submitted its 2011 Annual Report 

to the Legislative Assembly of Ontario.56 Among other matters, the report set out the observations 

and recommendations relating to the implementation of the Government’s renewable energy 

policy by the OPA and the Ministry of Energy, including the FIT Program and the Green Energy 

Investment Agreement (“GEIA”).57 With respect to the FIT Program, the Auditor indicated inter 

alia that “[a] higher-than-anticipated number of renewable energy projects under the FIT program 

[were] awaiting connection to the distribution grid,” however, Ontario’s power grid could not 

accommodate all of the over 3000 pending FIT applications.58 As to the GEIA (which is further 

described below), the Auditor pointed out, in July 2011, that this was amended to grant the Korean 

Consortium (described further below) a date extension for phases one and two of its projects and 

consequentially reduced the original price contract.59 

142. Following a two-year review of the FIT Program, on 12 June 2013, the Minister of Energy 

directed the OPA no longer to procure any additional MW under the FIT Program for large FIT 

projects.60 The OPA was further directed to discontinue large FIT project applications submitted 

prior to the date of this direction and in relation to which a contract offer had not been made.61 

Thus, pursuant to the 12 June 2013 Direction, Skyway 127’s application was discontinued.62  

C. THE GEIA 

143. In December 2008, the Minister of Energy, on the one hand, and Samsung C&T and Korea 

Electric Power Corporation, on the other hand (together the “Korean Consortium”), signed a 

                                                      
 
54 Bruce-Milton Contract List, 4 July 2011 (C-25). 
55  Notice of Arbitration, ¶ 73, quoting Letter from JoAnne Butler (OPA) to John Pennie (Skyway 127), 4 July 

2011 (C-149). See also Memorial, ¶ 249; Reply, ¶ 266. 
56  Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, 2011 [Excerpt] (R-2). 
57  Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, 2011 [Excerpt], p. 92-120 (R-2). 
58  Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, 2011 [Excerpt], p. 91 (R-2). 
59  Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, 2011 [Excerpt], p. 108 (R-2). 
60 Direction from Minister of Energy, Bob Chiarelli to Colin Anderson, OPA, 12 June 2013, p. 3 (C-152). 
61 Direction from Bob Chiarelli, Minister of Energy to Colin Andersen, OPA, 12 June 2013, p. 3 (C-152). 
62 See Direction from Bob Chiarelli, Minister of Energy to Colin Andersen, OPA, 12 June 2013, p. 3 (C-152). 
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memorandum of understanding regarding a proposal from the latter for an investment project in 

Ontario’s renewable energy sector.63 

144. On 29 September 2009, the ongoing negotiations with the Korean Consortium were publicly 

announced.64  

145. By a direction dated 30 September 2009, the Minister of Energy advised the OPA that the 

“Government [was] exploring opportunities to further enable new green industries through new 

investment and job creation and provide incentives for investment in renewable energy 

technologies.”65 Against this backdrop, the Minister of Energy directed the OPA, “in carrying out 

the Transmission Availability Test under the FIT Program Rules”, to “hold in reserve 240 MW 

of transmission capacity in Haldimand County and a total of 260 MW of transmission capacity in 

Essex County and the Municipality of Chatham-Kent jointly for renewable energy generating 

facilities whose proponents have signed a province-wide framework agreement with the 

Province.”66 

146. On 21 January 2010, the Minister of Energy and the Korean Consortium signed the GEIA.67 

Under this CAD 7-billion agreement, the Korean Consortium committed to build 2,000 MW of 

wind projects and 500 MW of solar projects in Ontario in five phases from 2012 to 2016.68 On 

the same date, the Ontario Government announced the GEIA at the Toronto Stock Exchange and 

through a press release.69 

147. On 1 April 2010, referring to phase 1 of the GEIA, the Minister of Energy directed the OPA “to 

negotiate one or more power purchase agreements as appropriate with respect to each Phase [of 

the GEIA] with the Korean Consortium or appropriate Project companies.”70 The 1 April 2010 

                                                      
 
63 Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, 2011 [Excerpt], p. 108 (R-2). 
64 Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, 2011 [Excerpt], p. 108 (R-2). 
65 Letter from George Smitherman (Minister of Energy) to Colin Andersen (OPA), Direction to OPA, 

30 September 2009 (C-186). 
66 Letter from George Smitherman (Minister of Energy) to Colin Andersen (OPA), Direction to OPA, 

30 September 2009 (C-186). 
67 Government of Ontario, Ministry of Energy, Archived Backgrounder, “Ontario Delivers $7 Billion Green 

Investment”, 21 January 2010 (R-41); Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, 2011 
[Excerpt], p. 108 (R-2). 

68 Government of Ontario, Ministry of Energy, Archived Backgrounder, “Ontario Delivers $7 Billion Green 
Investment”, 21 January 2010 (R-41); Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, 2011 
[Excerpt], p. 108 (R-2). 

69 The Canadian Press, “Korean Deal Approved: Wind, Solar Farms Coming to Ontario”, 21 January 2010 
(R-42); Government of Ontario, Ministry of Energy, Archived Backgrounder, “Ontario Delivers $7 Billion 
Green Investment”, 21 January 2010 (R-41). 

70 Directive from Minister of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid to Colin Andersen, CEO, Ontario Power 
Authority, 1 April 2010, p. 2 (C-139). 
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direction specified that, in accordance with section 5.2 of the FIT Rules, the OPA was to “give 

priority to projects within the scope of this direction when assessing transmission availability with 

respect to the FIT Program.”71 The Minister further clarified that the transmission capacity held 

in reserve pursuant to its direction of 30 September 2009 was for the Korean Consortium or its 

project companies.72 

148. According to the Claimant, however, the Korean Consortium failed to meet its obligations under 

Article 11.1(e) of the GEIA to notify its connection points and, as a result, “Ontario was not 

required to hold any transmission capacity back in the Bruce Transmission region for the Korean 

Consortium after July 30, 2010”73 and was further entitled to terminate the GEIA.74 Yet, the 

Claimant alleges, Ontario did not do so “for political reasons” and instead extended the deadlines 

under the GEIA, which resulted in the displacement of projects like Skyway 127.75  

149. On 3 August 2011, the Ontario Ministry of Energy announced changes to the GEIA, which 

included a one-year extension of the commercial operation date.76 

150. On 17 September 2010, the Minister of Energy further directed the OPA “in carrying out 

Transmission Availability Tests and Economic Connection Tests under the FIT Program Rules, 

to hold in reserve 500 MW of transmission capacity to be made available in the Bruce area in 

anticipation of the completion of the Bruce-Milton Transmission Reinforcement, for Phase 2 

projects of the Korean Consortium or its Project Companies.”77 

151. The Claimant further alleges that from early 2010 to 13 September 2011, the Korean Consortium 

and its joint venture partner Pattern Energy “used the delay [in notifying connection points], to 

pick ‘low-hanging fruit’ – projects ranked too low to obtain a FIT contract – in the FIT process 

to then convert into GEIA projects.”78 

                                                      
 
71 Directive from Minister of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid to Colin Andersen, CEO, Ontario Power 

Authority, 1 April 2010, p. 2 (C-139). 
72 Directive from Minister of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid to Colin Andersen, CEO, Ontario Power 

Authority, 1 April 2010, p. 3 (C-139). 
73  Memorial, ¶ 214. 
74  Memorial, ¶ 215; Green Energy Investment Agreement, 21 January 2010, Art. 14.2(d) (C-210). 
75  Memorial, ¶ 76, 216. 
76  Ministry of Energy, Statement from Minister of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid, 3 August 2011 

(C-147). 
77 Direction from Minister of Energy to OPA, 17 September 2010 (R-43). 
78  Memorial, ¶ 222-223; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada (PCA Case No, 2012-17), 

Hearing Transcript, Day 3 (Public Version), 28 October 2014, Testimony of Jim MacDougall, 200:19-
201:19 (C-121). 
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152. The 2011 Auditor General’s Report, which was made public on 5 December 2011, also addressed 

the GEIA and its relationship to the FIT Program.79 

D. ONTARIO’S HANDLING OF GOVERNMENT RECORDS 

153. Among the alleged breaches of the NAFTA at issue in this arbitration, the Claimant argues that 

“[s]enior officials improperly destroyed necessary and material evidence of their internationally 

unlawful actions in an attempt to avoid liability for their wrongfulness.”80 In support of this 

contention, the Claimant refers to two proceedings which, in its view, confirm the Government 

of Ontario’s unlawful records management practices.81 

1. Management of Documents Concerning Gas Plants Cancellation 

154. Between 2012 and 2013, Ontario’s Legislative Assembly conducted investigations in connection 

with the cancellation in 2010 and 2011 of two gas plants in Oakville and Mississauga, Canada.82 

Within the framework of these investigations, the office of Minister of Energy and Premier of 

Ontario failed to submit documents it was directed to provide concerning the cancelation of the 

gas plants.83 On 9 April 2013, Mr. Craig MacLennan, the Chief of Staff to the former Minister 

from January 2010 to August 2012, appeared before the Legislative Assembly and testified that 

the reason why he could not provide any responsive documents was because he had a practice of 

deleting all of his e-mails.84 

155. On 5 June 2013, the Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario issued a special 

investigation report addressing a complaint pertaining to the statement made by 

Mr. MacLennan.85 The Commissioner concluded that the practice of indiscriminate deletion of 

all e-mails sent and received by the former Chief of Staff was in violation of the applicable 

recordkeeping rules and policies.86 In addition, the Commissioner stated that, as part of her 

                                                      
 
79  Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, 2011 [Excerpt], pp. 107-108 (R-2). 
80  Notice of Arbitration, ¶ 91. 
81  Memorial, ¶¶ 262-268. 
82  Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, Deleting Accountability: Records Management 

Practices of Political Staff, 5 June 2013, pp. 4-6 (R-3). 
83  Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, Deleting Accountability: Records Management 

Practices of Political Staff, 5 June 2013, p. 5 (R-3). 
84  Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, Deleting Accountability: Records Management 

Practices of Political Staff, 5 June 2013, p. 5 (R-3).  
85  Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, Deleting Accountability: Records Management 

Practices of Political Staff, 5 June 2013, p. 1 (R-3). 
86  Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, Deleting Accountability: Records Management 

Practices of Political Staff, 5 June 2013, pp. 1-2 (R-3). 
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investigation, she verified that Mr. David Livingston, the Chief of Staff that preceded 

Mr. MacLennan, also had the practice of deleting all his e-mails.87 

156. On 7 June 2013, the Ontario Provincial Police launched a criminal investigation into the 

destruction of e-mails relating to the relocation and cancellation of the gas plants.88 

2. Claim for Spoliation of Documents in Trillium Power v. Ontario 

157. In or around June 2015, Trillium Wind Power Corporation, a company that also applied to the 

FIT Program, amended its statement of claim in a lawsuit against the Government of Ontario to 

include claims for “the Willful Destruction or Suppression of Evidence relevant to a legal 

proceeding.”89 The litigation initiated by Trillium concerned the cancelation in February 2011 of 

Trillium’s proposed off-shore wind power projects.90  

E. OTHER RELEVANT NAFTA PROCEEDINGS 

158. In their submissions, the Parties refer to two previous investment treaty arbitrations conducted 

under the NAFTA that dealt with claims regarding the FIT Program.91 A brief description of those 

cases is provided below.  

1. Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Canada 

159. On 4 October 2011, Mesa Power Group, LLC, an American developer of renewable energy 

projects, commenced an arbitration against Canada pursuant to Article 1120(1)(c) of the 

NAFTA.92 The former claimed that Canada had breached a number of its obligations under 

                                                      
 
87  Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, Deleting Accountability: Records Management 

Practices of Political Staff, 5 June 2013, pp. 3-4 (R-3). 
88  Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, Addendum to Deleting Accountability: Records 

Management Practices of Political Staff, 20 August 2013, p. 3 (R-4). 
89  Destruction of Evidence Motion against Government of Ontario Granted by Court, Trillium Power Wind 

Corporation media release, 22 June 2015 (C-153). 
90  Trillium Power Wind Corporation v. Ontario (Natural Resources), 2013 ONCA 683, 12 November 2013, 

¶¶ 1-2 (CLA-99). 
91  See e.g. Memorial, ¶¶ 14-30, 729, 754-755; Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 45-52. 
92  Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 

4 October 2011 (R-5). 
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Section A of the NAFTA by undertaking certain measures in respect of the application of the FIT 

Program.93 In particular, the claimant alleged that Canada had breached: 94 

“[I]ts obligation to provide National Treatment by providing more favorable transmission 
treatment to a Canadian company in like circumstances, Boulevard Associates Canada, Inc., 
and to local subsidiaries of members of the [Korean] Consortium, which was also in like 
circumstances.95 
[…] 
[I]ts Most Favored Nation Treatment obligation (NAFTA Article 1103), when it provided 
more favorable transmission treatment to the local subsidiary of a company owned by a non-
NAFTA party which was in like circumstances, namely the members of the [Korean] 
Consortium, than that provided to the Investor and its Investments.96 
[…] 
[I]ts Article 1105 obligation through the Government of Ontario’s unfair, arbitrary and 
discriminatory actions. These measures include, but are not necessarily limited to, the 
following: 

a. Unannounced last-minute arbitrary changes, failing to fulfill the reasonable and 
legitimate expectations of the Investment; 
b. Failure to provide reasons for the ranking methodology applied by the Ontario 
Power Authority; 
c. Undue political interference and discriminatory treatment to the Investment and 
blatant favoritism to other investments; 
d. Failure to provide transparent administration of the FIT Program; 
e. Imposition of irrelevant political considerations when assessing the Investment; and 
f. Failure to apply relevant considerations such as the technical merits of the Investors 
wind farm.97 

[And] 
[Article 1106 of the NAFTA by] impos[ing] prohibited local content requirements on the 
Investor and its Investments, as a precondition to obtain approval of contracts under the FIT 
Program.” 

160. The tribunal in Mesa Power issued its final award on 24 March 2016, in which it dismissed in full 

the claimant’s claims.98  

2. Windstream Energy, LLC v. Canada  

161. On 28 January 2013, Windstream Energy, LLC, a company incorporated in the United States, 

commenced an arbitration against Canada pursuant to Articles 1116, 1117 and 1120 of the 

                                                      
 
93  Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 

4 October 2011, ¶¶ 6, 70 (R-5). 
94  Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 

4 October 2011, ¶ 68 (R-5). 
95  Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 

4 October 2011, ¶ 58 (R-5). 
96  Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 

4 October 2011, ¶ 60 (R-5). 
97  Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 

4 October 2011, ¶ 62 (R-5). 
98  Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Award, 24 March 2016, ¶ 

706 (RLA-1). 
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NAFTA.99 The dispute pertained to the administration of the FIT Program in respect of an 

offshore wind electricity generation project in Ontario.100 Windstream Energy, LLC claimed that 

Canada violated a number of its obligations under Section A of Chapter Eleven the NAFTA by 

inter alia imposing a moratorium on the development of offshore wind that frustrated the 

claimant’s attempts to develop a project under the FIT Program.101 

162. On 27 September 2016, the tribunal in Windstream Energy, LLC v. Canada (“Windstream 

Energy”) issued its award, in which it held that the respondent breached Article 1105 of the 

NAFTA and dismissed the remaining claims submitted by the claimant.102  

V. THE CLAIMANT’S CASE ON MERITS AND QUANTUM  

163. The Claimant claims that the Respondent breached Article 1105 of the NAFTA by failing to 

accord to Skyway 127 treatment in accordance with international law, including fair and equitable 

treatment and full protection and security.  

164. The Claimant asserts that the Respondent’s conduct in implementing and administering the FIT 

Program was wrongful. According to the Claimant:103 

“13. The Tennant NAFTA Claim is about: 

(a) Special business opportunities provided to a politically connected local favourite, IPC. 

(b) The “Breakfast Club” cabal of politicians and senior officials systemically abusing the process 
to reward friends at the expense of everyone else. 

(c) Ontario’s decision to not complete its FIT Program for the Bruce Region contrary to the 
legitimate expectation of FIT Proponents such as Skyway 127. 

(d) The delay of the award of contracts because of Korean Consortium’s failure to comply with its 
contractual obligations. 

(e) The conspiracy in the systemic violations of the NAFTA and the spoliation and wanton 
destruction of evidence by Ontario.” 

                                                      
 
99  Windstream Energy LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2013-22, Award, 27 September 2016, 

¶ 11 (RLA-88). See also Windstream Energy LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2013-22, 
Amended Notice of Arbitration, 28 January 2013 (R-54). 

100  Windstream Energy LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2013-22, Award, 27 September 2016, 
¶¶ 5-7 (RLA-88). 

101  Windstream Energy LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2013-22, Award, 27 September 2016, 
¶ 5 (RLA-88). 

102  Windstream Energy LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2013-22, Award, 27 September 2016, 
¶ 515 (RLA-88). 

103  Memorial, ¶ 13. See also Memorial, ¶¶ 89, 310, 717. 
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165. The Claimant claims damages as a result of the Respondent’s alleged wrongful actions. The 

Deloitte Report assessed the midpoint value of damages to be not less than CAD 219,012,000, 

comprised of economic losses of CAD 184,012,000 (midpoint value) and the Claimant’s claim 

for moral damages of CAD 35,000.104 The alleged economic losses were calculated to include: 

(a) the alleged lost profits that Tennant Energy would have earned from its project, had a FIT 

Contract been obtained; and (b) the alleged costs already incurred by Tennant Energy in relation 

to preparing the project for commercial operation.105 As regards moral damages, the Claimant 

avers that it is entitled to damages for the “reputational, psychological, and emotional harm” 

suffered by the corporate officials of Tennant Energy. 106  In addition, the Claimant seeks 

arbitration and legal costs.107 

VI. THE PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS ON JURISDICTION 

166. In the following Section, the Tribunal summarizes the Parties’ arguments with respect to (A) two 

preliminary considerations, namely whether Articles 1116(1) and 1116(2) of the NAFTA 

constitute jurisdictional or admissibility requirements, and which Party bears the burden of proof; 

(B) the Respondent’s First Objection, namely, that the Tribunal has no jurisdiction ratione 

temporis under Article 1116(1) because the Claimant was not an “investor of a Party” when the 

alleged breach occurred; and (C) the Respondent’s Second Objection, namely that the Tribunal 

has no jurisdiction ratione temporis because the Claimant failed to submit its claim within the 

three-year limitation period established by Article 1116(2) of the NAFTA.  

167. Both the United States and Mexico made submissions on the interpretation of Article 1116 of the 

NAFTA, and in particular on the question whether the fulfilment of the requirements of Article 

1116 is a matter of jurisdiction or admissibility. As such, sub-sections summarizing each of the 

non-disputing Parties’ arguments in this respect, and the disputing Parties’ responses thereto, 

follow the summaries of the Parties’ arguments. 

                                                      
 
104  Memorial, ¶¶ 31(d), 889. 
105  Deloitte Report (CER-1), ¶ 4.2.4. 
106  Memorial, ¶¶ 894-899. 
107  Memorial, ¶¶ 900-903. 
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A. PRELIMINARY CONSIDERATIONS  

1. The Respondent’s Position  

168. The Respondent submits that compliance with Articles 1116(1) and 1116(2) of the NAFTA 

constitute jurisdictional requirements in respect of which the Claimant bears the burden of proof, 

as agreed by the non-disputing Parties.108  

169. The Respondent avers that, pursuant to Article 1122(1) of the NAFTA, its consent to arbitration 

is conditioned upon the fulfilment of the requirements imposed by the NAFTA, including those 

set forth in Articles 1116(1) and 1116(2). 109  It follows, the Respondent asserts, that the 

assessment of its objections under Articles 1116(1) and 1116(2) are questions of jurisdiction.110 

According to the Respondent, the former has been consistently recognized by NAFTA 

tribunals.111  

170. The Respondent contends that the awards in Pope & Talbot v. Canada and Feldman v. Mexico, 

on which the Claimant relies, are not relevant to the question of whether Article 1116(2) raises 

admissibility or jurisdictional questions because neither of the tribunals ruled on that question.112 

Moreover, the Respondent observes that, although the TECMED v. Mexico tribunal concluded 

that compliance with a time limitation to bring a claim was not a jurisdictional matter under the 

applicable treaty, such position is inconsistent with the one adopted by numerous subsequent 

NAFTA tribunals and the NAFTA Parties.113 In any event, the Respondent notes that, as the Mobil 

v. Canada tribunal held, regardless of whether an objection under Article 1116(2) is characterized 

as an issue of jurisdiction or admissibility, that “the practical consequences are the same: if a 

                                                      
 
108 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 55-61; Rejoinder, ¶ 12; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 5. 
109 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 55. 
110 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 55. 
111 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 56-57; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-

17, Award, 24 March 2016, ¶¶ 325-327 (RLA-1); Resolute Forest Products Inc. v. Government of Canada, 
PCA Case No. 2016-13, Decision on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 30 January 2018, ¶ 83 (RLA-79); 
Apotex Inc. v. United States of America, ICSID Case No. UNCT/10/2, Award on Jurisdiction and 
Admissibility, 14 June 2013, ¶¶ 318, 335 (RLA-80); B-Mex, LLC and Others v. United Mexican States, 
ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/16/3, Partial Award, 19 July 2019, ¶ 145 (RLA-121); Vito G. Gallo v. 
Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2008-03, Award, 15 September 2011, ¶¶ 324-326 (RLA-4). See 
also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 22:23-23:7, referring to Methanex Corporation v. United 
States of America, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 7 August 2002 (RLA-2). 

112 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 13-14; Pope & Talbot Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Award in relation to 
Preliminary Motion by Government of Canada to Strike Paragraphs 34 and 103 of the Statement of Claim 
of the Record (“The Harmac Motion”), 24 February 2000, ¶ 11 (RLA-36); Marvin Roy Feldman Karpa v. 
United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/99/1, Award, 16 December 2002, ¶¶ 46-47 (RLA-81). 

113 Rejoinder, ¶ 15; Técnicas Medioambientales, TECMED, S.A. v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. 
ARB (AF)/00/2, Award, 29 May 2003, ¶ 73 (CLA-113). 
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claimant has failed to comply with the limitation period set out in Article 1116(2), then the case 

cannot proceed.”114 

171. As to burden of proof, the Respondent maintains that NAFTA tribunals have consistently held 

that it is for the claimant to establish that its claims fall within the scope of the NAFTA and within 

the tribunal’s jurisdiction, including that it qualified as an “investor of a Party” when the alleged 

breach occurred under Article 1116(1) and that its claim was timely under Article 1116(2).115 

Concerning the Claimant’s assertion that the Respondent bears the burden of proof because the 

objections before the Tribunal at this stage are “affirmative defences”, the Respondent maintains 

that this is incorrect and lacks any basis.116 The Respondent asserts that Article 24(1) of the 

UNCITRAL Rules, referred to by the Claimant, “does not override the Claimant’s legal burden 

of establishing the Tribunal’s jurisdiction.”117 Further, the Respondent argues that the tribunal’s 

dictum in Pope & Talbot v. Canada, that an objection under Article 1116(2) constitutes an 

“affirmative defence”, should be disregarded as it has been discounted by numerous more recent 

decisions.118 

172. In order to discharge its burden of proof, the Respondent further posits that a claimant must prove 

all the facts on which the jurisdiction of the tribunal rests. 119  In support of this claim, the 

Respondent quotes the Phoenix Action v. Czech Republic tribunal, which held that for the 

establishment of its jurisdiction it must “ascertain that the prerequisites for its jurisdiction are 

                                                      
 
114 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 57; Mobil Investments Canada Inc. v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. 

ARB/15/6, Decision on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 13 July 2018, ¶ 136 (RLA-131).  
115 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 58; Rejoinder, ¶ 16; Apotex Inc. v. United States of America, ICSID Case No. 

UNCT/10/2, Award on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 14 June 2013, ¶ 150 (RLA-80); Bayview Irrigation 
District et al. v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/05/1, Award, 19 June 2007, ¶¶ 63, 122 
(RLA-65); Grand River Enterprises Six Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, Kenneth Hill, and Arthur Montour 
v. United States of America, UNCITRAL, Award, 12 January 2011, ¶ 122 (RLA-132), Vito G. Gallo v. 
Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2008-03, Award, 15 September 2011, ¶ 328 (RLA-4). See also 
Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 54. 

116 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 16-21. 
117 Rejoinder, ¶ 19, David Caron and Lee Caplan, The UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules: A Commentary (Oxford 

University Press, Second Edition, 2012) [Updated Excerpt], p. 558 (RLA-74); Resolute Forest Products 
Inc. v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2016-13, Decision on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 
30 January 2018, ¶ 84 (RLA-79). 

118 Rejoinder, ¶ 20; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Award, 
24 March 2016, ¶ 236 (RLA-1); Apotex Inc. v. United States of America, ICSID Case No. UNCT/10/2, 
Award on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 14 June 2013, ¶ 150 (RLA-80); Phoenix Action, Ltd. v. Czech 
Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/06/5, Award, 15 April 2009, ¶¶ 58-64 (RLA-5); Bayview Irrigation 
District et al. v. United States of America, UNCITRAL, Award, 12 January 2011, ¶ 122 (RLA-132), Vito 
G. Gallo v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2008-03, Award, 15 September 2011, ¶ 328 (RLA-4). 

119 Rejoinder, ¶ 16. 
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fulfilled, and that the facts on which its jurisdiction can be based are proven”.120 For this reason, 

in the Respondent’s view, the Claimant’s position that, absent evidence of bad faith, the Tribunal 

should defer to the Claimant’s judgment about when its claim arose when assessing whether it 

complied with a jurisdictional requirement, is “unsupported and incorrect”.121 

2. The Claimant’s Position 

173. While the Claimant similarly agrees that this distinction is ultimately not material as a practical 

matter, it maintains, contrary to the Respondent’s position, that compliance with Articles 1116(1) 

and 1116(2) of the NAFTA constitute an admissibility requirement. In addition, specifically in 

relation to the Respondent’s time bar objection, the Claimant considers that the Respondent bears 

the burden of proving it because it is an affirmative defence. 

174. The Claimant first submits that “the questions raised by Canada are fundamentally ones of 

admissibility rather than questions of jurisdiction”. 122  With respect to the time limitation 

requirement in Article 1116(2) of the NAFTA, in particular, the Claimant observes that the 

tribunals in Pope & Talbot v. Canada, Feldman v. Mexico and TECMED v. Mexico adopted the 

same view.123 Nevertheless, the Claimant contends that as a practical matter, the “Tribunal need 

not be overly concerned with this distinction as it might in other cases due to the sufficiency of 

evidence produced by Tennant Energy with respect to standing, and due to the absence of 

responsive evidence adduced by Canada on the issue of its affirmative defence on timing.”124 

175. In addition, the Claimant submits that the Respondent’s time bar objection under Article 1116(2) 

constitutes an affirmative defence, and, thus, that the Respondent bears the burden of proving 

sufficient facts to justify that particular objection.125 In this regard, the Claimant contends that the 

Respondent “conflates the burden and standard of proof for admissibility with that for jurisdiction. 

Canada incorrectly suggests that they are the same.”126 In fact, the Claimant asserts, not only has 

                                                      
 
120 Rejoinder, ¶ 23; Phoenix Action, Ltd. v. Czech Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/06/5, Award, 15 April 2009, 

¶ 64 (RLA-5). See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 23:16-24:20. 
121  Rejoinder, ¶ 23. 
122 Reply, ¶ 183. 
123 Reply, ¶ 214, Pope & Talbot Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Award in relation to Preliminary 

Motion by Government of Canada to Strike Paragraphs 34 and 103 of the Statement of Claim of the Record 
(“The Harmac Motion”), 24 February 2000, ¶ 11 (RLA-36); Técnicas Medioambientales, TECMED, S.A. 
v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB (AF)/00/2, Award, 29 May 2003, ¶ 73 (CLA-113). See 
also Marvin Roy Feldman Karpa v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/99/1, Award, 
16 December 2002 (RLA-81). 

124  Reply, ¶ 183. 
125 Reply, ¶¶ 23, 191. 
126  Reply, ¶ 263. 
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the Respondent admitted that it bears the burden of proving its time bar objection,127 but this 

position is also consistent with Article 24(2) of the UNCITRAL Rules, which provides that 

“[e]ach party shall have the burden of proving the facts relied on to support its claim or 

defence.”128 The Claimant further relies on the Pope & Talbot v. Canada tribunal’s holding that 

it is for “Respondent States to bear ‘the burden of proof of showing [a] factual predicate’ to ‘an 

affirmative defense”.129  

3. The Non-Disputing Parties’ Submissions  

(a) Submissions of the United States and Mexico  

176. The non-disputing Parties agree with the Respondent’s submission that the requirements set forth 

in Article 1116 are matters of jurisdiction.130 

177. With respect to consent to arbitration, Mexico, relying on Methanex v. United States, “concurs 

with Canada that fulfillment of Article 1116’s requirements is one of the conditions that must be 

met to establish a NAFTA Party’s consent” contained in Article 1122(1).131 Thus, Mexico affirms 

that “[f]ailure to comply with Article 1122(1) results in the absence of a NAFTA Party’s consent 

and thus, in the tribunal’s lack of jurisdiction.”132  

178. Likewise, the United States submits that “a tribunal must find that a claim satisfied the 

requirements of, inter alia, Article 1116 in order to establish a Party’s consent to (and therefore 

the tribunal’s jurisdiction over) an arbitration claim.”133 

179. As to the burden of proof, the non-disputing Parties agree that a claimant bears the burden of 

proving the factual elements necessary to establish the tribunal’s jurisdiction and the fulfilment 

of the specific legal requirements, including that each of its claims falls within the three-year 

                                                      
 
127  Reply, ¶ 259; Respondent’s Response to Claimant’s Request for Interim Measures, 23 September 2019, 

¶ 6. 
128 Reply, ¶¶ 23, 191. 
129 Reply, ¶ 192, Pope & Talbot Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Award in relation to Preliminary 

Motion by Government of Canada to Strike Paragraphs 34 and 103 of the Statement of Claim of the Record 
(“The Harmac Motion”), 24 February 2000 (RLA-36).  

130  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 3; Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 2.  
131  Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶¶ 3-4, referring to Methanex Corporation v. United States of America, 

UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 7 August 2002, ¶ 120 (RLA-2). 
132  Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 2. 
133  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 3. 
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limitations period provided in Article 1116(2).134 This view, according to Mexico, is shared by 

all three NAFTA Parties and has been confirmed by NAFTA tribunals.135  

(b) The Respondent’s Reply to the Submissions of the Non-Disputing Parties 

180. As a threshold matter, the Respondent submits that concordant views expressed by the NAFTA 

Parties in their non-disputing Party submissions regarding the interpretation of their obligations 

constitute subsequent agreement and practice within the meaning of Article 31(3) of the 1969 

Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (the “VCLT”). 136  Accordingly, the Respondent 

contends that, in line with other NAFTA tribunals, the Tribunal should give considerable weight 

to the “longstanding interpretation of Article 1116 that has been consistently maintained by all 

three NAFTA Parties”.137 

181. The Respondent emphasizes that the NAFTA Parties – as demonstrated in the Mexican and 

United States’ submissions – have consistently advanced the same position with respect to the 

burden of proof under Article 1116, namely that a claimant bears the burden of proving the factual 

elements necessary to establish jurisdiction.138 This position, the Respondent continues, has been 

recognized and accepted by numerous NAFTA tribunals.139 

182. In a similar vein, the Respondent highlights that both Mexico and the United States agree with 

the Respondent that the fulfilment of the requirements of Article 1116 is one of the conditions 

that must be met to establish a NAFTA Party’s consent to arbitration and, in turn, to establish a 

tribunal’s jurisdiction.140 

(c) The Claimant’s Reply to the Submissions of the Non-Disputing Parties 

183. Disagreeing with the non-disputing Parties’ submissions, the Claimant reiterates that “the issue 

of time is best considered as an admissibility issue rather than as a jurisdictional one.” 141 

Accordingly, the Claimant takes the view that the burden of proof rests on the party advancing 

the admissibility the argument – the Respondent. 142  The Claimant further contests the 

                                                      
 
134  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 3; Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶¶ 5, 13. 
135  Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 13, referring to Resolute Forest Products Inc. v. Government of Canada, 

PCA Case No. 2016-13, Decision on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 30 January 2018, ¶ 85 (RLA-79). 
136  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶¶ 5-6. 
137  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶¶ 7-8, 11. 
138  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 10. 
139  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶10. 
140  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 11. 
141  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 9.  
142  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 9. 
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Respondent’s and the non-disputing Parties’ assertions that the interpretations by the NAFTA 

Parties in the form of written pleadings are sufficient to constitute subsequent practice under 

VCLT.143 

184. The Claimant further objects to the non-disputing Parties’ position that “the matter at hand is not 

properly one of consent”. 144 Instead, the Claimant argues that the Respondent has given its 

consent to this arbitration in Article 1122(1) and that, contrary to Mexico’s contention, such 

admission of consent meets any burden of proof.145  

B. THE FIRST OBJECTION  

185. The Respondent submits that the Tribunal has no jurisdiction ratione temporis under 

Article 1116(1) because the Claimant was not an “investor of a Party” when the alleged breach 

occurred. Article 1116(1) provides: 

“1.  An investor of a Party may submit to arbitration under this Section a claim that another 
Party has breached an obligation under: 

 
(a)  Section A or Article 1503(2) (State Enterprises), or 
(b)  Article 1502(3)(a) (Monopolies and State Enterprises) where the monopoly has 

acted in a manner inconsistent with the Party's obligations under Section A, 
and that the investor has incurred loss or damage by reason of, or arising out 
of, that breach.” 

186. The Claimant, on the other hand, contends that it has standing to submit the claims at issue in this 

arbitration pursuant to Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA as it was an “investor of a Party” when the 

alleged breaches occurred. On this basis, the Claimant requests that the Tribunal dismiss the First 

Objection.  

1. The Respondent’s Position  

(a) Interpretation of Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA 

187. The Respondent advances two interpretative considerations for the assessment of the First 

Objection.146 First, the Respondent submits that claims submitted by a claimant on its own behalf 

                                                      
 
143  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 151-153. See Claimant’s First Article 1128 Submission, ¶¶ 42-44, referring to Martins 

Paparinskis, The International Minimum Standard of Treatment and Equitable Treatment (Oxford 
University Press, First Edition, 2013), pp. 144-146 (CLA-97). 

144  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 10. 
145  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 10. 
146 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 62-79. 
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under Article 1116(1), such as those that have been brought by the Claimant, may only be brought 

by an “investor of a Party” that qualified as such at the time the alleged breach occurred.147 

188. According to the Respondent, the term “investor of a Party” in Article 1116(1) should be read 

together with Articles 1101(1) and 1139 of the NAFTA. 148  Article 1101(1) establishes that 

Chapter Eleven of the NAFTA applies to measures of a Contracting Party relating to, inter alia, 

(a) investors of another Party; or (b) investments of investors of another Party in the territory of 

the Party.149 Article 1139 of the NAFTA, in turn, defines “investor of a Party” as “a Party or state 

enterprise thereof, or a national or an enterprise of such Party, that seeks to make, is making or 

has made an investment;” and “investment of an investor of a Party” as “an investment owned or 

controlled directly or indirectly by an investor of such Party”. 150  Having regard to these 

provisions, the Respondent concludes that “[t]he proper interpretation of the term ‘investor of a 

Party’, as it operates within Article 1116(1), is that a tribunal’s jurisdiction ratione temporis is 

limited to claims submitted by a claimant who qualified as an ‘investor of a Party’ when the 

alleged breach occurred”.151 

189. Additionally, the Respondent maintains that scholars and investment treaty tribunals, including 

tribunals established under the NAFTA, agree that, for a tribunal to have temporal jurisdiction, a 

claimant must be a protected investor under the treaty when the alleged breach occurred.152 The 

Respondent notes that in reaching that conclusion some tribunals have referred to the principle of 

                                                      
 
147 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 67. 
148 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 65-67; Rejoinder, ¶ 28. 
149 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 65. 
150 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 66. 
151 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 67. 
152 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 68-74; Rejoinder, ¶ 28; Phoenix Action, Ltd. v. Czech Republic, ICSID Case No. 

ARB/06/5, Award, 15 April 2009, ¶ 68 (RLA-5); Cementownia “Nowa Huta” S.A. v. Republic of Turkey, 
ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/06/2, Award, 17 September 2009, ¶ 112 (RLA-139); Renée Rose Levy and 
Gremcitel S.A. v. Republic of Peru, ICSID Case No. ARB/11/17, Award, 9 January 2015, ¶¶ 146-147 
(RLA-140); Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Award, 24 March 
2016, ¶¶ 325-329 (RLA-1); Philip Morris Asia Limited v. Commonwealth of Australia, PCA Case No. 
2012-12, Award on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 17 December 2015, ¶ 529 (RLA-141); Indian Metals 
& Ferro Alloys Ltd v. Republic of Indonesia, PCA Case No. 2015-40, Award, 29 March 2019, ¶ 107 (RLA-
142); Libananco Holdings Co. Limited v. Republic of Turkey, ICSID Case No. ARB/06/8, Award, 
2 September 2011, ¶¶ 121-128 (RLA-143); Société Générale In respect of DR Energy Holdings Limited 
and Empresa Distribuidora de Electricidad del Este, S.A. v. Dominican Republic, LCIA Case No. UN 7927, 
Award on Preliminary Objections to Jurisdiction, 19 September 2008, ¶¶ 106-107 (RLA-144); ST-AD 
GmbH v. Republic of Bulgaria, PCA Case No. 2011-06, Award on Jurisdiction, 18 July 2013, ¶ 300 (RLA-
145); Zachary Douglas, The International Law of Investment Claims (Cambridge University Press, First 
Edition, 2009) [Excerpt], ¶¶ 303, 631, and Rule 32 (RLA-117); Hanno Wehland, “The Transfer of 
Investments and Rights of Investors under International Investment Agreements — Some Unresolved 
Issues” (2014) 3(30) Arbitration International, p. 568 (RLA-137); Nelson Goh, “The Assignment of 
Investment Treaty Claims: Mapping the Principles” (2019) 1(10) Journal of International Dispute 
Settlement, p. 35 (RLA-138). See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 30:12-31:5. 
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non-retroactivity of international treaties, pursuant to which “State conduct cannot be governed 

by rules that are not applicable when the conduct occurs”.153 According to the Respondent, 

NAFTA tribunals similarly have considered provisions such as Article 1116(1) and 

Article 1101(1) to be consistent with the principle of non-retroactivity.154 For instance, the Mesa 

Power tribunal held that it lacked jurisdiction ratione temporis over certain measures that 

occurred before the claimant’s enterprises were incorporated in Canada, and thus, before it 

became a protected investor with respect to those investments.155 In this respect, the Respondent 

underlines that the Mesa Power tribunal, referring to Article 1101(1), found that there is no 

jurisdiction if disputed measures are not “relating to investors” or to “investments of an 

investor.”156 

190. While the Claimant does not appear to challenge this legal principle, the Respondent notes, it 

erroneously contends that the date of the alleged breach is when “Tennant Energy became aware 

or could have become aware of the internationally wrongful act.”157 In the Respondent’s view, 

however, for purposes of determining the Tribunal’s jurisdiction under Article 1116(1), the date 

of the alleged breach “is an objective event” which is not linked to a claimant’s subjective 

knowledge.158 The former is consistent, the Respondent asserts, with paragraph 42 of Procedural 

Order No. 8, in which the Tribunal held that the First Objection is “separate from the question of 

whether the Claimant knew or should have known about the alleged breach”.159 

191. Second, the Respondent argues that the applicable standard of proof for establishing ownership 

of an investment requires the Claimant to provide cogent, reliable, contemporaneous documentary 

evidence.160 The Respondent asserts that investment treaty tribunals have confirmed that an 

                                                      
 
153 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 71-72, quoting Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 

2012-17, Award, 24 March 2016, ¶ 325 (RLA-1). 
154 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 72; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, 

Award, 24 March 2016, ¶ 325 (RLA-1); International Law Commission, Draft articles on Responsibility 
of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts with commentaries, 2001, Article 13 (CLA-185); Vienna 
Convention on the Law of Treaties, 1155 U.N.T.S. 331, 23 May 1969, Article 28 (RLA-31). 

155 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 70, referring to Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 
2012-17, Award, 24 March 2016, ¶¶ 325-327 (RLA-1). 

156 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 71, referring to Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 
2012-17, Award, 24 March 2016, ¶ 325 (RLA-1). 

157  Rejoinder, ¶ 29, referring to Reply, ¶ 171. 
158 Rejoinder, ¶ 30. 
159 Rejoinder, ¶ 30, quoting Procedural Order No. 8, ¶ 42. 
160 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 75-79; Rejoinder, ¶¶ 34-38; Vito G. Gallo v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 

2008-03, Award, 15 September 2011, ¶¶ 325-326 (RLA-4); Ampal-American Israel Corporation, EGI-
FUND (08-10) Investors LLC, EGI-Series Investments LLC, BSS-EMG Investors LLC, and David Fischer 
v. Arab Republic of Egypt, ICSID Case No. ARB/12/11, Decision on Jurisdiction, 1 February 2016, ¶¶ 223-
226 (RLA-175); Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Award, 
24 March 2016, ¶ 607 (RLA-1). 
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alleged investor cannot rely exclusively on (a) materials drafted in contemplation of arbitration; 

or (b) witness statements with a personal interest in the arbitration without any reliable 

corroborating evidence. 161  Citing Gallo v. Canada, a case brought under the NAFTA, the 

Respondent points out that the tribunal declined jurisdiction as it deemed “unconceivable that the 

[c]laimant, after extensive discovery, ha[d] not been able to produce one single shred of 

documentary evidence, confirming the date when Mr. Gallo acquired ownership”. 162  The 

Respondent emphasizes that, in that case, Mr. Gallo only relied on the testimony of a witness to 

prove his ownership and control over the investment at issue.163 

192. The Respondent also relies on Ampal v. Egypt, in which the tribunal determined that the claimants 

failed to prove that they beneficially owned the alleged investment as the evidence produced in 

this respect was limited to a witness statement and documents executed five years after the 

relevant transaction.164 The Respondent underscores that the claimant in Ampal v. Egypt did not 

produce a trust deed evidencing the double blind trust had been submitted to that tribunal.165 

193. Third, the Respondent argues that nothing in the language of the Treaty, nor the jurisprudence 

thereof, offers a mechanism that allows an investor to “assign or sell” a potential NAFTA claim 

to another investor.166 The Respondent, in this regard, emphasizes that a NAFTA Party’s consent 

to arbitration is specific to the disputing investor who brings a claim relating to the alleged 

breaches of specific obligations “owed to that investor”, which is filed “on its own behalf”.167 

Otherwise, the Respondent takes the view that the NAFTA Parties would have expressly 

established a mechanism authorising the assignment of claims, such as in the case of 

subrogation.168 

                                                      
 
161 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 75-79; Rejoinder, ¶¶ 36, 38; Vito G. Gallo v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 

2008-03, Award, 15 September 2011, ¶ 284 (RLA-4); Helnan International Hotels A/S v. Arab Republic 
of Egypt, ICSID Case No. ARB/05/19, Award, 3 July 2008, ¶ 158 (RLA-150); EDF (Services) Limited v. 
Romania, ICSID Case No. ARB/05/13, Award, 8 October 2009, ¶¶ 224-232 (RLA-151). 

162 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 76, quoting Vito G. Gallo v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2008-03, Award, 
15 September 2011, ¶ 289 (RLA-4). 

163 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 76; Vito G. Gallo v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2008-03, Award, 
15 September 2011, ¶ 289 (RLA-4). 

164 Rejoinder, ¶ 36; Ampal-American Israel Corporation, EGI-FUND (08-10) Investors LLC, EGI-Series 
Investments LLC, BSS-EMG Investors LLC, and David Fischer v. Arab Republic of Egypt, ICSID Case No. 
ARB/12/11, Decision on Jurisdiction, 1 February 2016, ¶¶ 223-226 (RLA-175). 

165 Rejoinder, ¶ 36, referring to Ampal-American Israel Corporation, EGI-FUND (08-10) Investors LLC, EGI-
Series Investments LLC, ) BSS-EMG Investors LLC, and David Fischer v. Arab Republic of Egypt, ICSID 
Case No. ARB/12/11, Decision on Jurisdiction, 1 February 2016, ¶ 223 (RLA-175). 

166  Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 17-18; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 716:24-717:5, 718:15-21. 
167  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 19; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 717:5-7 
168  According to the Respondent, subrogation is an exception to the general rule that a claim cannot be 

assigned. It is a special case of assignment that arises where the investor has received an indemnity under 
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194. For the Respondent, permitting an investment claim under NAFTA to be assigned from one 

investor to another poses several risks: (a) NAFTA Parties may face duplicative domestic and 

international proceedings over the same alleged breach from the assignor and assignee, rendering 

the waiver provision in Article 1121(1)(b) meaningless; (b) it would incentivize claim shopping; 

(c) it would create significant uncertainty to NAFTA Parties with no predictability as to the scope 

of potential claimants; and (d) it would create leeway for investors to avoid personal liability for 

adverse costs orders.169 

195. The Respondent considers the cases cited by the Claimant inapposite because none of the tribunals 

found that a different investor or a “successor in interest” can initiate a claim about events that 

predated its acquisition of the investment, or that a claimant bringing a NAFTA claim need not 

be a protected investor when the alleged breach occurred.170 The Respondent adds that inter-State 

cases are also irrelevant since the right of the States to bring claims under international law 

procedures of diplomatic protection are distinct from those of an investor to bring a claim under 

the NAFTA.171 

196. In response to the Claimant’s argument that the Respondent’s interpretation may impede access 

to justice, the Respondent clarifies that its position is not applicable to situations where there is a 

continuation of “the same legal personality after a death, or corporate reorganization, under the 

applicable domestic law.”172  

(b) Whether the Claimant Complied with the Requirements of Article 1116(1) 

197. In the present case, the Respondent argues, the Claimant has failed to establish that it was a 

protected “investor of a Party” when the alleged breaches occurred, and therefore, “the Tribunal 

has no jurisdiction ratione temporis […] under Article 1116(1).”173 In support of this position, the 

Respondent contends that (a) all of the challenged measures, and therefore the alleged breach, 

                                                      
 

an insurance claim. Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 21 and fn. 45; United States–Mexico–Canada Agreement 
(USMCA), 1 July 2020, Chapter 14-Investment, Art. 14.15 (CLA-294).  

169  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 22. 
170  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 24; Daimler Financial Services AG v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. 

ARB/05/1, Award, 22 August 2012, ¶¶ 40-44, 144 (CLA-309); The Loewen Group, Inc. and Raymond L. 
Loewen v. United States of America, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/98/3, Award, 26 June 2003, ¶ 237 (CLA-
138); Enron Corporation and Ponderosa Assets, L.P. v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/01/3, 
Decision on Jurisdiction (Ancillary Claim), 14 January 2004, ¶ 52 (CLA-333). 

171  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 25. 
172  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 26.  
173 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 80-96. 
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occurred between 2008 and 2013;174 and (b) during that period the Claimant did not own or 

control its alleged investment in Skyway 127.175 

 The Alleged Breach Occurred between 2008 and 2013 

198. As explained above, the Respondent contends that the date of the alleged breach for purposes of 

determining a tribunal’s jurisdiction under Article 1116(1) is an objective event that is not linked 

to a claimant’s subjective knowledge.176 On this proposition, the Respondent submits that the 

alleged breach occurred between 2008 and 2013, which the Parties agree is the period during 

which all the challenged measures in this dispute were implemented.177 

199. According to the Respondent, the government measures and actions which the Claimant avers 

resulted in violations of the NAFTA may be categorized into three groups.178 The first group of 

measures, according to the Respondent, concerns the Korean Consortium and occurred from 

December 2008 to 13 September 2011.179 The actions impugned by the Claimant in this respect, 

the Respondent states, comprise: the negotiation and signature of the GEIA from December 2008 

to 21 January 2010, 180  the Ministerial Directions from 30 September 2009 to 17 September 

2010,181 the extension granted to the Korean Consortium by the Ontario Government on 3 August 

2011182 and the Korean Consortium’s purchase of lower-ranked FIT projects from early 2010 to 

13 September 2011.183 

200. The Respondent asserts that the second group of impugned measures relate to the administration 

of the FIT Program and were implemented from 27 November 2009 to 12 June 2013.184 The 

Respondent avers that these include: Skyway 127’s application to the FIT Program on 

                                                      
 
174 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 81-85. 
175 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 86-96. 
176  See above ¶ 190. 
177  Rejoinder, ¶ 31; Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 81-85; Reply, ¶¶ 42. 
178 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 82-85. 
179 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 82. 
180 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 82; Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, p. 108 (R-2); 

Government of Ontario, Ministry of Energy, Archived Backgrounder, “Ontario Delivers $7 Billion Green 
Investment”, 21 January 2010 (R-41); Samsung C&T Press Release, “Samsung C&T, Korea Electric Power 
Company to Build World’s Largest Wind, Solar Panel Cluster in Ontario”, 21 January 2010 (C-132). 

181 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 82; Directive from Minister of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid to Colin 
Andersen, CEO, Ontario Power Authority, 1 April 2010 (C-139); Direction from Brad Duguid, Minister of 
Energy, to Colin Andersen, Ontario Power Authority, 17 September 2010 (R-43). 

182 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 82; Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, p. 108 (R-2). 
183 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 82; Renewables Now, “Pattern Energy, Samsung Renewable buy 180-MW Canadian 

wind project”, 13 September 2011 (R-79). 
184 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 83. 
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27 November 2009, the Minister’s Direction to the OPA of 3 June 2011 on allocating capacity 

from the Bruce to Milton Line,185 the treatment afforded to NextEra and IPC in 2011, the FIT 

Contracts awarded on 4 July 2011,186 and the Minister’s Direction to the OPA on 12 June 2013 

no longer to procure any additional MW under the FIT Program for large FIT projects.187 

201. The third group of challenged measures, the Respondent states, pertains to the handling of 

documents by Ontario and took place from August 2011 to February 2013.188 These include the 

alleged destruction of documents by staff of the former Minister of Energy and Premier of 

Ontario.189 

202. As to the Claimant’s argument that the Respondent’s response to allegations made in the Mesa 

Power pleadings, and its application of confidential designations in the Mesa Power proceedings 

delayed and denied the Claimant’s access to justice, the Respondent asserts that such alleged 

conduct does not constitute measures under the NAFTA and, therefore, are not a cause of action 

in their own right.190  

203. In light of the foregoing, the Respondent rejects the Claimant’s argument that the date on which 

it purportedly acquired knowledge of the alleged breach is 15 August 2015.191 

 The Claimant Was Not an “investor of a Party” When the Alleged Breach 

Occurred 

204. In connection with the date on which the Claimant qualified as an “investor of a Party”, the 

Respondent submits that the Claimant has failed to discharge its burden of establishing that it 

owned or controlled its purported investment when the alleged breaches occurred.192 In this 

respect, the Respondent rejects the Claimant’s assertions that (a) it was the “successor[] in 

interest” to the shares held by Mr. John Tennant either as the designated beneficiary of an oral 

                                                      
 
185 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 83; Directive from Minister of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid to Colin 

Andersen, CEO, Ontario Power Authority, 3 June 2011 (C-176); OPA, FIT Rules Version 1.5, 3 June 2011 
(C-129). 

186 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 83; Bruce-Milton Contract List, 4 July 2011 (C-25). 
187 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 83; Direction from Minister of Energy, Bob Chiarelli to Colin Anderson, OPA, 

12 June 2013, p. 3 (C-152). 
188 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 84. 
189 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 84; Ontario, Official Report of Debates (Hansard), Standing Committee on Justice 

Policy, 40th Parl., 2nd Sess., No. JP-10, 9 April 2013, p. 22 (R-50); Information and Privacy Commissioner 
of Ontario, Deleting Accountability: Records Management Practices of Political Staff, A Special 
Investigation Report, 5 June 2013, pp. 4, 13, 23, and 25 (R-3). 

190  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 740:13-741:16. 
191  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 25:15-22, 26:24-27:12. 
192 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 86-96. 
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trust in April 2011 or by way of an assignment of NAFTA claims; and (b) it controlled its 

investment accordance with NAFTA case law.193 Instead, the Respondent maintains that the 

Claimant became an “investor of a Party” at the earliest on 15 January 2015, when the Claimant 

acquired 45.2% equity interest in Skyway 127,194 as supported by Skyway 127’s shareholder’s 

ledger.195  

(1) The Claimant failed to establish that it owned its investment when the 

alleged breach occurred 

205. According to the Respondent, the Claimant’s “alternative theories” that it owned intangible 

property rights in the form of beneficial rights in up to 22.6% of the Skyway 127 shares by way 

of an oral trust and/or by way of a transfer of NAFTA claims are “incorrect, unsupported, and do 

not establish the Tribunal’s jurisdiction”.196 

206. With respect to the Claimant’s theory of an oral trust, the Respondent argues that the available 

evidence does not meet the “clear and convincing evidence” standard – a high evidentiary 

threshold – to prove its existence under California law and that the Claimant, as a result, failed to 

prove that it was a protected investor under NAFTA before the alleged breach occurred on 4 July 

2011.197 Specifically, given the absence of any contemporaneous documentary evidence to prove 

that Mr. John Tennant created the alleged trust, put the Skyway 127 shares in it, or designated 

Tennant Travel as the beneficiary, the Respondent contends that “[t]he available evidence is not 

strong enough to conclude that every reasonable person would agree that the alleged oral trust 

existed, as California law requires”, as concluded by Ms. Lodise.198 

207. First, the Respondent contends that the documents that the Claimant has submitted in support of 

its alleged beneficial ownership of Skyway 127 do not constitute reliable, contemporaneous 

documentary evidence necessary to prove that it acquired the investment through an oral trust.199 

These documents, in particular, comprise: the respective witness statements of Messrs. John 

                                                      
 
193  Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 6-7. 
194 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 90; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 42. See also Counter-Memorial, ¶ 87; Shareholder’s Ledger 

Skyway 127, 15 January 2015 (C-115). 
195 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 90; Shareholder’s Ledger Skyway 127, 15 January 2015 (C-115). 
196  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 8. 
197  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 88; Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 30-31, 43; California Probate Code, Division 9 – Trust 

Law [15000-19530], Enacted by Stats. 1990, Ch. 79 [Excerpt], § 15207 (R-90); Hearing on Jurisdiction 
Transcript, Day 5, 729:1-19. 

198 Rejoinder, ¶ 56; Lodise Report ¶ 50 (RER-1). See also Rejoinder, ¶¶ 42-43; Lodise Report ¶¶ 32, 36-37 
(RER-1). 

199 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 39-41; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 31. 
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Tennant, Derek Tennant and John Pennie and a memorandum from Mr. John Tennant to the 

Claimant’s management board dated 8 February 2016.200  

208. Addressing the witness statements, the Respondent argues that they should be given “no 

weight”.201 This is because, the Respondent explains, Messrs. John Tennant and Derek Tennant, 

as members of the Claimant’s management board, and Mr. Pennie, as a senior executive for the 

Claimant, all have a personal interest in this arbitration.202 The Respondent asserts that this is 

further reinforced by the fact that Mr. Derek Tennant is also the President of Skyway 127.203 In 

addition, the Respondent argues that Mr. Derek Tennant’s and Mr. Pennie’s statements on what 

Mr. John Tennant told them are merely “hearsay”.204 Thus, the Respondent contends that absent 

any reliable, contemporaneous documentary evidence to verify independently these witnesses’ 

assertions, their witness statements are insufficient to prove the Claimant’s alleged ownership 

rights, as observed by the tribunal in MAKAE Europe v. Saudi Arabia.205  

209. Further, the Respondent argues that both written and oral witness testimonies consist of 

inconsistencies, revised statements, and variable recollections and therefore do not offer a reliable 

basis to establish the Claimant’s acquisition of the investment before the alleged breach 

occurred.206 In particular, the Respondent notes that, without documentary evidence, the Tribunal 

has no way of resolving the inconsistencies in the testimonies on whether Tennant Travel was in 

fact a designated beneficiary of the trust on 26 April 2011,207 and on the four different purposes 

of the alleged trust, which arose during the Hearing on Jurisdiction.208 

                                                      
 
200 Rejoinder, ¶ 39; Memorandum from John Tennant to Tennant Energy regarding Trust transfer and 

successor in interest, 8 February 2016 (C-268). 
201  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 89; Rejoinder, ¶ 40. 
202 Rejoinder, ¶ 40; Counter-Memorial, ¶ 89; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 34; Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 

3 (CWS-2); Witness Statement of Derek Tennant, ¶ 2 (CWS-3); Pennie Statement, ¶ 68 (CWS-1). 
203 Rejoinder, ¶ 40; Witness Statement of Derek Tennant, ¶ 2 (CWS-3). 
204 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 89; Rejoinder, ¶ 40; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 34. 
205 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 89; Rejoinder, ¶ 40; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 33:21-35:1; MAKAE 

Europe SARL v. Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, ICSID Case No. ARB/17/42, Award, 30 August 2021 (RLA-
205). See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 36:9-38:2. 

206  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 38. 
207  Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 35-36; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 2, 254:18-21; Hearing on 

Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 382:18-25-383:1-18, 407:20-23, 409:2-12, 454:11-15; Hearing on 
Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 617:17-618:5; Pennie Statement, ¶ 48 (CWS-1).  

208  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 37. According to the Respondent, the witnesses testified that the trust was created for 
four different purposes: (a) to avoid a community property dispute; (b) to prevent the dilution of voting 
control; (c) to avoid taxes; and (d) to maintain continuity of control over the shares. See Hearing on 
Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 2, 249:21-25; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 382:18-25-383:1-18, 
384:3-6, 469:2-5. 
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210. In this respect, the Respondent asserts that Mr. John Tennant’s narrative regarding the creation of 

the alleged trust is unconvincing and unreliable. 209  Drawing the Tribunal’s attention to the 

following issues relating to Mr. John Tennant’s witness testimony, the Respondent notes that: 

(a) Mr. Tennant first acquired shares in Skyway 127 because such shares served as a collateral 

for a loan to Mr. Derek Tennant for $200,000. 210  Given the value of the loan, it is 

incongruous that Mr. John Tennant documented all matters concerning the loan and yet did 

nothing to document the alleged transfer of the shares into the alleged trust.211 

(b) Mr. Tennant’s allegation that the Claimant served as a holding company for his shares in 

Skyway 127 is at odds with the lack of any documentary evidence on the record showing 

his ownership over the Claimant when the alleged breach occurred.212 In any event, the 

Respondent points out that Mr. Tennant could not explain the reason for creating a trust 

when he had already told Mr. John Pennie to transfer ownership of shares to the holding 

company that he would designate in the future.213 

(c) Mr. John Tennant’s assertion that he never owned shares in Skyway 127 for his personal 

benefit is not supported by any explanation as to why he allegedly relinquished his 

beneficial ownership in these shares.214 The Respondent avers that this assertion “means, 

in effect, that he received nothing in return for his $200,000 loan to Derek Tennant”.215 

(d) Mr. John Tennant’s allegation that, at Mr. Derek Tennant’s request, he intended to hold the 

Skyway 127 shares in a holding company so they could avoid any community property 

dispute is implausible.216 Relying on the Lodise Report, the Respondent contends that if 

the trust was created to prevent Mr. John Tennant’s spouse to access such shares, preserve 

continuity of legal ownership over shares and prevent dilution of voting control, the trust 

would be invalid under California law for violating public policy.217 In any event, the 

                                                      
 
209 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 48-53. 
210 Rejoinder, ¶ 48.  
211 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 48-49; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 33; John Tennant Bank Statements with copies of cashed checks 

to Derek Tennant, September 2007 (C-264); Promissory Note between I.Q. Properties and John Tennant, 
19 October 2007 (C-265); Acknowledgement of Promissory Note between I.Q. Properties and John 
Tennant, 20 October 2007 (C-266); Demand Notice to I.Q. Properties from John Tennant on Promissory 
Note, 19 October 2011 (C-267). 

212 Rejoinder, ¶ 50; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 41; Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 18 (CWS-2). See also 
Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 362. 

213  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 41; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 378:22-379:3.  
214 Rejoinder, ¶ 51; Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 35 (CWS-2). 
215 Rejoinder, ¶ 51. 
216 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 52-53. 
217 Rejoinder, ¶ 52; Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 37; Lodise Report, ¶ 40 (RER-1). 
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Respondent contends that the use of the alleged trust as an “asset protection device” without 

ensuring documentation certifying the trust is untenable.218 

211. The Respondent highlights that Messrs. John Tennant and Derek Tennant admitted during the 

Hearing on Jurisdiction that they had no contemporaneous documentation on certain key events 

to corroborate the existence or terms of the alleged oral trust.219 Considering that all of the events 

from April 2011 – the point in time which the Claimant asserts it became a protected investor – 

are based merely on oral assertions, the absence of any contemporaneous documentation on the 

alleged trust, for the Respondent, strongly indicates that Mr. John Tennant never created the trust 

and that the Claimant never acquired the Skyway 127 shares at that time.220 

212. In the Respondent’s view, Mr. John Tennant’s 8 February 2016 memorandum – the sole exhibit 

the Claimant filed in attempt to prove the existence of the trust – likewise does not constitute 

reliable evidence because it was created over a year after the trust was purportedly terminated, 

after the alleged breach occurred, and around the same time the Claimant’s counsel was “taking 

steps” to prepare the claims in this arbitration (i.e., on 16 March 2015).221 According to the 

Respondent, this document “is exactly the type of non-contemporaneous material prepared in 

contemplation of arbitration that tribunals have found unreliable.”222  

213. Second, the Respondent submits that the evidence submitted by the Claimant in support of its 

alleged beneficial ownership of Skyway 127 fails to meet the applicable standard of proof under 

California law.223 Quoting the Lodise Report, the Respondent maintains that pursuant to Section 

15207 of the California Probate Code “[t]he oral declaration of the settlor, standing alone, is not 

sufficient evidence of the creation of a trust of personal property”.224 Thus, the Respondent argues 

                                                      
 
218 Rejoinder, ¶ 53; Lodise Report, ¶ 40-42 (RER-1). 
219  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 32; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 365:2-366:10, 372:7-19, 377:4-24, 

378:22-379:7, 379:8-15, 414:17-415:10, 441:3-7, 446:3-22. 
220  Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 32-33. 
221 Rejoinder, ¶ 41; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 40; Memorandum from John Tennant to Tennant Energy regarding 

Trust transfer and successor in interest, 8 February 2016 (C-268). 
222  Rejoinder, ¶ 41; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 40; Vito G. Gallo v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2008-

03, Award, 15 September 2011, ¶¶ 174, 216-219, 286-290 (RLA-4); Ampal-American Israel Corporation, 
EGI-Fund (08-10) Investors LLC, EGI-Series Investments LLC, BSS-EMG Investors LLC, and David 
Fischer v. Arab Republic of Egypt, ICSID Case No. ARB/12/11, Decision on Jurisdiction, 1 February 2016, 
¶¶ 223-226 (RLA-175). 

223 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 42-45. 
224 Rejoinder, ¶ 42; California Probate Code, Division 9 – Trust Law [15000-19530], Enacted by Stats. 1990, 

Ch. 79 [Excerpt], § 15207 (R-90).  
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that the alleged declarations of Mr. John Tennant, on their own, “cannot prove the existence of 

the alleged trust under California law.”225  

214. The Respondent further argues that Justice Grignon’s opinion does not assist the Claimant’s 

position regarding the validity of the trust under California law. 226  This is because, the 

Respondent contends, Justice Grignon’s view is based on the untenable and disputed assumption 

that the statements made by Messrs. John Tennant, Derek Tennant and John Pennie are true.227  

215. Third, the Respondent contends that documentary evidence on the record discredits the 

Claimant’s asserted beneficial ownership of Mr. John Tennant’s shares in Skyway 127.228 In 

particular, the Respondent avers that Skyway 127’s shareholder’s ledgers of 9 June 2011, 20 June 

2011 and 30 December 2011 contain no reference to the Claimant.229 The Respondent also notes 

that there was no written consent or direction to transfer the shares to the Claimant on 26 April 

2011.230 In fact, the Respondent points out that Mr. John Tennant could not have transferred 

beneficial ownership of shares to Tennant Travel on 26 April 2011, given that he did not acquire 

the Skyway 127 shares until 20 June 2011.231 Leaving aside the lack of any explanation as to why 

this may be the case, the Respondent argues that it is in any event unconvincing that any 

information on the trust allegedly created by Mr. John Tennant was not recorded in Skyway 127’s 

shareholder ledgers at the time Mr. John Tennant created the trust or thereafter.232  

216. With respect to the Claimant’s second theory on assignment, the Respondent submits that the 

Tribunal has jurisdiction only if it finds that “Canada consent[ed] to arbitrate with Tennant 

Energy, not with [Mr.] John Tennant”.233 Therefore, the Tribunal’s jurisdiction, the Respondent 

argues, cannot be established simply because Mr. John Tennant owned the Skyway 127 shares 

when the alleged breach occurred and transferred them to the Claimant.234 

                                                      
 
225 Rejoinder, ¶ 43. 
226 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 54-56; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 39.  
227 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 54-56; Grignon Report, ¶ 12 (CER-2). See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 

525:23-527:25. 
228 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 46-53. 
229 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 90; Rejoinder, ¶ 46; Shareholder’s Ledger Skyway 127, 9 June 2011 (C-116); 

Shareholder’s Ledger Skyway 127, 20 June 2011 (C-117); Shareholder’s Ledger Skyway 127, 
30 December 2011 (C-114). 

230  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 42. See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, p. 439:3-19. 
231  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 42; Shareholder’s Ledger Skyway 127, 20 June 2011 (C-117). See Hearing on 

Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 2, 243:9-11, 246:7-18. 
232 Rejoinder, ¶ 47. 
233  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 20; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 716:2-5. 
234  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 20. 
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217. According to the Respondent, given that Mr. John Tennant and Tennant Energy have distinct 

legal personalities, this is also not a case where claims are transferred due to a continuation of the 

same legal personality.235 In this respect, the Respondent disagrees with Justice Grignon that the 

applicable law to determine whether NAFTA claims may be assigned by Mr. John Tennant is 

California law, not international law.236  

218. In any event, the Respondent argues that the Claimant has failed to substantiate what specifically 

was being assigned by Mr. John Tennant: Mr. John Tennant confirmed that he could not assign 

the Skyway 127 shares with the February 2016 memorandum because he no longer held those 

shares as of January 2015.237 

(2) The Claimant failed to establish that it controlled its investment when 

the alleged breach occurred 

219. The Respondent further argues that the Claimant failed to discharge its burden of proving that it 

controlled the alleged investment at the time the alleged breached took place.238 

220. As a preliminary matter, the Respondent contends that the Claimant has put forward arguments 

regarding its control over Skyway 127, when in fact its alleged investment is not this company 

but rather “intangible property rights in the form of beneficial rights” of up to 22.6% of Skyway 

127 shares.239 It follows, the Respondent asserts, that the Claimant “has not articulated how it 

controlled this investment, beyond its unsubstantiated claim that it beneficially owned the shares” 

through an “unproven” trust.240  

221. In any event, the Respondent submits that the Claimant did not control Skyway 127 when the 

alleged breach occurred as it “did not hold the majority of votes needed to elect a majority of the 

Skyway 127 board”.241 Therefore, the Respondent contends, the Claimant did not comply with 

the requirements to hold control over Skyway 127 under Ontario law.242  

                                                      
 
235  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 26. 
236  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 27; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 505:17-25, 523:24-524:3, 553:18-22. 
237  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 716:10-17. 
238 Rejoinder, ¶¶ 58-62. 
239 Rejoinder, ¶ 58. 
240 Rejoinder, ¶ 58; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 44. 
241 Rejoinder, ¶ 59. See also Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 93-94. 
242 Rejoinder, ¶ 59; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 48; Ontario Business Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. B. 16, § 1(5) 

(R-97). See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 720:7-16. 
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222. As to the Claimant’s attempt to attribute to itself control over Skyway 127 when the alleged 

breach occurred through an alleged “voting bloc” comprising Mr. John Tennant, Mr. John Pennie, 

and Ms. Marilyn Field, the Respondent contends that it should be rejected.243 According to the 

Respondent, the votes of the alleged members of this “voting bloc”, being votes of entities with a 

legal personality separate to the Claimant, are not attributable to the Claimant.244 In this respect, 

the Respondent refers to the testimonies of Messrs. John Tennant and Derek Tennant that Tennant 

Travel did not otherwise hold the rights to direct the actions of Skyway 127.245 Moreover, the 

Respondent notes that the alleged “voting bloc” only held 45.2% of the shares of Skyway 127, 

and therefore could not confer control of Skyway 127 under Ontario law.246 In any event, the 

Respondent argues that the Claimant fails to submit any evidence (a) of this “voting bloc”, (b) that 

this change in the control over the company was notified to the OPA, as required under the FIT 

Rules, (c) that GE Energy, which held 50% of the Skyway 127 shares at the time of the alleged 

breach, did not exercise its voting rights, or (d) of the United States nationality of the three “active 

shareholders”, which would be required to establish foreign control by the alleged “voting 

bloc”.247 

223. As to Mr. Pennie’s assertion that Mr. John Tennant controlled the day-to-day decisions of Skyway 

127, the Respondent maintains that it does not assist the Claimant’s case.248 In its view, it is 

impossible to reconcile this assertion with the fact that Mr. John Tennant never held a position on 

Skyway 127’s board of directors and management, and, in any event, it does not establish the 

Claimant’s control over Skyway 127 at the relevant time.249 This is because, according to the 

Respondent, the Claimant retains separate legal personality from its owners and it is therefore 

impermissible to conflate the two for purposes of establishing control.250  

224. Addressing the Claimant’s argument that the Tribunal could still find jurisdiction because 

Mr. John Tennant owned both the Skyway 127 shares and 90% of the Claimant when the alleged 

breach occurred, the Respondent argues that the decision in S.D. Myers v. Canada is not helpful 

                                                      
 
243 Rejoinder, ¶ 60. 
244 Rejoinder, ¶ 60. 
245  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 49; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 465:13-466:1. 
246 Rejoinder, ¶ 61; Ontario Business Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. B.16 [Excerpt], s. 1(5) (R-97). 
247 Rejoinder, ¶ 61; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 49. 
248  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 95. In any event, the Respondent asserts that day-to-day operational management of 

an enterprise does not, on its own, establish control of the enterprise. See Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 47; Philip 
Morris Asia Limited v. Commonwealth of Australia, PCA Case No. 2012-12, Award on Jurisdiction and 
Admissibility, 17 December 2015, ¶ 497 (RLA-141).  

249  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 95. 
250  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 95. 
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in this regard.251 This is because, according to the Respondent, the S.D. Myers tribunal offered no 

reasoning or interpretative guidance under NAFTA Article 1116(1) or international law as to how 

a claimant’s corporate veil can be pierced to find jurisdiction based on whether its owners were 

protected investors at the time of the alleged breach.252  

225. The Respondent emphasizes that nothing in the terms of the Treaty reflects the NAFTA Parties’ 

intention to authorize tribunals to “suspend separate personality [of corporations] to find 

jurisdiction”.253 According to the Respondent, the term “indirectly”, in referring to ownership or 

control in the definition of “investment of an investor of a Party”, only allows a tribunal to look 

down the corporate chain to determine if the claimant owned or controlled the investment via 

intermediaries it owned or controlled.254 For the Respondent, this does not mean that a claimant’s 

veil can be pierced by looking up the corporate chain to determine if the claimant’s owners owned 

or controlled the investment at the requisite times.255 Consequently, the Respondent takes the 

view that the Federal Court, in finding that the claimant qualified as an investor, also “improperly 

pierced the veil of the claimant”.256  

226. In fact, the Respondent contends that the Claimant has submitted “none of the evidence 

considered relevant by the tribunal or reviewing Federal Court in S.D. Myers v. Canada to show[] 

a claimant’s control over an investment enterprise.”257 This includes evidence that Tennant Travel 

advanced the money necessary for the operation of Skyway 127, or provided Skyway 127 with 

loans, technical assistance, personnel, or other forms of support, when the alleged breach 

occurred.258 The Respondent further highlights that no reliable evidence has been filed to support 

                                                      
 
251  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 10; S.D. Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 

13 November 2000, ¶ 229 (CLA-111).  
252  Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 12-13. 
253  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 13. 
254  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 14. 
255  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 14. See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 713:2-13, 713:20-25, 714:8-

715:6. 
256  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 15; Canada (Attorney General) v. S.D. Myers Inc., 2004 FC 38, ¶¶ 64, 67 (R-80). 
257  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 96; Canada (Attorney General) v. S.D. Myers Inc., 2004 FC 38, ¶ 64 (R-80); S.D. 

Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 13 November 2000, ¶ 226 (CLA-111). 
See also Rejoinder, fn. 133; International Thunderbird Gaming Corporation v. United Mexican States, 
UNCITRAL, Award, 26 January 2006, ¶¶ 106-107 (CLA-136); Perenco Ecuador Limited v. Republic of 
Ecuador, ICSID Case No. ARB/08/6, Decision on Remaining Issues of Jurisdiction and on Liability, 
12 September 2014, ¶ 526 (RLA-182); Aguas del Tunari, S.A., v. Republic of Bolivia, ICSID Case No. 
ARB/02/3, Decision on Respondent’s Objections to Jurisdiction, 21 October 2005, ¶ 264 (RLA-183); B-
Mex, LLC and Others v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/16/3, Partial Award, 19 July 
2019, ¶ 220 (RLA-121); United Utilities (Tallinn) B.V. and Aktsiaselts Tallinna Vesi v. Republic of Estonia, 
ICSID Case No. ARB/14/24, Award, 21 June 2019, ¶ 369 (RLA-184); Vacuum Salt Products Limited v. 
Republic of Ghana, ICSID Case No. ARB/92/1, Award, 16 February 1994, ¶ 53 (RLA-185). 

258  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 96. 
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Mr. John Tennant’s 90% ownership of the Claimant from 2011 to 2015 or the majority ownership 

of Skyway 127 by the Tennant family when the alleged breach occurred.259 

227. In any event, the Respondent disagrees with the S.D. Myers tribunal’s reasoning that a 

jurisdictional impediment should not prevent a tribunal from hearing an otherwise meritorious 

claim because, in the Respondent’s view, the “potential strength of a claim on its merits cannot 

establish a NAFTA Party’s consent to arbitration”.260 

2. The Claimant’s Position  

(a) Interpretation of Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA 

228. In interpreting Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA, the Claimant agrees with the Respondent that 

reference must first be made to Article 1139, which defines “investor of a Party”.261 Noting that 

this definition is “broad”,262 the Claimant asserts that it encompasses “an enterprise of [a] Party, 

that seeks to make, is making or has made an investment.”263 Article 1139, in turn, and by 

reference to Article 201 of the NAFTA, defines an “enterprise of a Party” as “an enterprise 

constituted or organized under the law of a Party, and a branch located in the territory of a Party 

and carrying out business activities there”,264 and an “enterprise” as “any entity constituted or 

organized under applicable law, whether or not for profit, and whether privately-owned or 

governmentally-owned, including any corporation, trust, partnership, sole proprietorship, joint 

venture or other association”.265 

229. Further to the above, the Claimant advances two interpretative considerations with respect to 

Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA, only the second of which the Respondent appears to contest. First, 

the Claimant submits that beneficial interests in a company constitute intangible property rights 

protected as “investments” under Article 1139(g) of the NAFTA266 and that accordingly, a trust 

created in accordance with the laws of one of the NAFTA Parties qualifies as an “Enterprise of a 

Party” under Article 1139 of the NAFTA.267 

                                                      
 
259  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 16. 
260  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 11. 
261 Reply, ¶ 91. 
262 Reply, ¶ 118. 
263 Reply, ¶ 91. 
264 Reply, ¶ 92. 
265 Reply, ¶¶ 89-90. 
266 Reply, ¶ 117. 
267 Reply, ¶ 93. 
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230. In support of this position, the Claimant states that the definition of “investment” in Article 1139 

covers in its paragraph (g) “property, tangible or intangible acquired in the expectation or used 

for the purpose of economic benefit”. 268 “[I]ntangible property”, in the Claimant’s view, is a 

“very broad term”, which includes beneficial rights held by a trust as well as intangible property 

interests acquired in the expectation of economic benefit.269  

231. The Claimant further submits that general international law recognizes the right of a beneficial 

owner to submit claims to international arbitration, in some instances even to the exclusion of the 

holders of a legal title.270 The Claimant maintains that this proposition has been acknowledged by 

the tribunals in Mason Capital v. Korea and Blue Bank v. Venezuela as well as in the ad hoc 

annulment committee in Occidental v. Ecuador.271  

232. Contrary to the Respondent’s contention, the Claimant argues that the assignment of rights to a 

claim is a form of investment that is transferrable under Article 1109 of the Treaty.272 This is 

because intangible property that is protected under Article 1139 encompasses the assignment of 

rights.273 The Claimant adds that the NAFTA’s objective to “provide adequate and effective 

protection and enforcement of intellectual property” as set out in Article 102(d) is also relevant, 

given that the transfer rights (within the intangible property rights) are “in the same genus” as 

intellectual property rights.274 Conversely, the Claimant posits that there is nothing in the text of 

the Treaty that prohibits and restricts transfers of claims.275 In this respect, the Claimant clarifies 

that, unlike the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement, which expressly prohibits subsequent 

claims arising from a subrogation, the NAFTA takes no steps to limit subrogation rights.276 

                                                      
 
268 Reply, ¶ 116. 
269 Reply, ¶ 116-117. 
270 Reply, ¶¶ 97-103. 
271 Reply, ¶¶ 98-102; Mason Capital L.P. and Mason Management LLC v. Republic of Korea, PCA Case No. 

2018-55, Decision on Respondent’s Preliminary Objections, 22 December 2019, ¶¶ 168-169 (CLA-311); 
Blue Bank International & Trust (Barbados) Ltd. v. Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, ICSID Case No. 
ARB/12/20, Award, 26 April 2017, ¶172 (CLA-308); Occidental Petroleum Corporation and Occidental 
Exploration and Production Company v. Republic of Ecuador (II), ICSID Case No. ARB/06/11, Decision 
on Annulment of the Award, 2 November 2015, ¶¶ 259, 262-264 (CLA-312). 

272  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 88; Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 9-10. 
273  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 89; Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 11. 
274  Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 25-27. 
275  Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 21-23, 42. 
276  Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 36-41, 43; United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement, Chapter 14 – 

Investment, Art. 14.15 (CLA-294). According to the Claimant, the Respondent also misconstrues 
subrogation by asserting that it is an exception to the general rule that a claim cannot be assigned. See 
Response to Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 46-49. 
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233. In response to the Respondent’s argument that allowing the transfer of a claim would render the 

waiver provision in Article 1121 of the Treaty meaningless, the Claimant contends that the 

remedy to address the issue is “simple”, namely, a NAFTA tribunal could order the filing of a 

waiver by any additional claimant before it, or the respondent State could ask the local court to 

stay the proceedings under the relevant local arbitration laws.277 

234. The Claimant submits that “[n]o NAFTA case ever has denied jurisdiction regarding a 

transfer”.278 Specifically, the Claimant relies on Loewen Group v. United States in which the 

tribunal, according to the Claimant, expressly confirmed the legitimacy of transfer of NAFTA 

claims under Article 1109 as long as there is no change in the claimant’s nationality.279 Other 

international tribunals and authorities, the Claimant asserts, have recognized and accepted the 

transfer of claims and the successors in interest pursuing those claims.280 

235. Second, contrary to the Respondent’s contention, the Claimant argues that the legally relevant 

time for assessing whether the Claimant qualified as an “investor of a Party” is when it “became 

aware or could have been aware of the internationally wrongful act”.281 This is because, according 

to the Claimant, “[a] breach under the NAFTA does not occur until there is breach and knowledge 

of that breach”.282 

(b) Whether the Claimant Complied with the Requirements of Article 1116(1) 

236. At the outset, the Claimant notes that the Respondent does not object to the Claimant’s standing 

with respect to claims arising as of 15 January 2015, the date on which the Claimant obtained 

                                                      
 
277  Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 66-69. 
278  Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 51. 
279  Reply, ¶ 104; Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 93-94; Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 14-20; The Loewen Group, 

Inc. and Raymond L. Loewen v. United States of America, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/98/3, Decision on 
Hearing on Respondent’s Objection to Competence and Jurisdiction, 5 January 2001, ¶ 23 (CLA-285). 

280  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 90-91, 95; Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 52-55; Daimler Financial Services 
Ag v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/05/1, Award, 22 August 2012 (CLA-309); Gustave Caire 
(France) v. United Mexican States, 13 June 1929 (CLA-322); B. E. Chattin (U.S.A.) v. United Mexican 
States, US-Mexico Claims Commission, 23 July 1927 (CLA-323); Harry Roberts (U.S.A.) v. United 
Mexican States, US-Mexico Claims Commission, 2 November 1926 (CLA-324); Marguerite de Joly de 
Sabla (United States) v. Panama, 29 June 1933 (CLA-325); Hanno Wehland, “The Transfer of Investments 
and Rights of Investors under International Investment Agreements – Some Unresolved Issues” (2014) 
30(3) Arbitration International 565 (RLA-137); Nelson Goh, “The Assignment of Investment Treaty 
Claims: Mapping the Principles” (2019) 10(1) Journal of International Dispute Settlement 23 (RLA-138).  

281  Reply, ¶ 171. 
282 Reply, ¶ 271. See also ibid, ¶ 177. 
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legal ownership of 45.2% of the shares of Skyway 127.283 Therefore, the Claimant submits that 

“the Tribunal has unchallenged jurisdictional capacity with respect to those claims.”284 

237. The Claimant maintains that it has standing to submit claims regarding the period from 26 April 

2011 to 15 January 2015 pursuant to Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA as it beneficially owned the 

Skyway 127 shares under an oral trust validly created under California law.285 Even if there was 

no oral trust created, the Claimant argues that it is still a protected investor because Mr. John 

Tennant’s transfer of Skyway 127 shares to Tennant Energy encompassed a transfer of both 

tangible and intangible rights, including the right to bring claims under the NAFTA.286  

 The Claimant Became an “investor of a Party” on 26 April 2011 

238. The Claimant submits that it qualifies as an “investor of a Party” under Article 1116(1) of the 

NAFTA given that it is (a) “an enterprise of [a] Party”; that (b) “made an investment” on 26 April 

2011 in Canada. 

239. Addressing the first element, the Claimant submits that it is a limited liability company constituted 

under California law, and consequently, a United States national as defined by the NAFTA.287 

Likewise, the trust created by Mr. John Tennant through which the Claimant received beneficiary 

ownership of shares in Skyway 127 was, according to the Claimant, also constituted under the 

laws of the United States.288 Thus, the Claimant alleges that both itself and the trust created by 

Mr. John Tennant qualify as “enterprises of a Party” under Article 1139 of the NAFTA.289  

240. Addressing the second element, the Claimant maintains that it made, and has had, an investment 

in Canada since 26 April 2011, when it was designated as the beneficial owner of Mr. John 

Tennant’s 11.3% interest in Skyway 127 shares through an oral trust. 290  This investment, 

Claimant explains, increased on 31 December 2011 when Mr. John Tennant’s shareholding in 

Skyway 127 increased from 11.3% to 22.6%.291 At that time, the Claimant asserts, Mr. John 

Tennant informed Mr. John Pennie, a member of the Claimant’s management, and Mr. Derek 

Tennant, President of Skyway 127, “that these new shares should be held the same way as the old 

                                                      
 
283 Reply, ¶ 138. 
284 Reply, ¶ 431. 
285 Reply, ¶ 2; Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 51. 
286  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 53. 
287 Reply, ¶ 108. 
288 Reply, ¶ 109. 
289 Reply, ¶ 109. 
290 Reply, ¶¶ 84, 88; Grignon Report, ¶ 33 (CER-2). 
291 Reply, ¶ 153; Shareholder’s Ledger Skyway 127, 30 December 2011 (C-114). 
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shares”.292 The Claimant alleges that on 15 January 2015, “the Trust shares were formally moved 

to Tennant Travel” and that, on the same date, the Claimant “received additional Skyway 127 

shares bringing Tennant Travel’s legal ownership stake to 45.2%.”293 

241. The Claimant submits that it has filed sufficient evidence to demonstrate its rights as the beneficial 

owner of the Skyway 127 shares held by Mr. John Tennant from 26 April 2011 to 15 January 

2015.294 In particular, the Claimant contends that its rights are evidenced by (a) the witness 

testimonies of Messrs. John Pennie, Derek Tennant and John Tennant; (b) a memorandum sent 

by Mr. John Tennant to the Claimant’s management dated 8 February 2016; and (b) the Grignon 

Report.295 

242. The Claimant first points to the testimony of Mr. Pennie who “can offer the best evidence about 

the treatment of the [Skyway 127] shares by [the Claimant]” because he is a member of the 

Claimant’s board of directors and its corporate representative.296 In his witness statement, the 

Claimant notes, Mr. Pennie “confirmed that” Tennant Energy received the shares in trust from 

Mr. John Tennant, who held the shares as a bare trustee.297 Likewise, Mr. Derek Tennant, the 

President of Skyway 127, asserted in his witness statement that he was aware that the shares 

obtained by Mr. John Tennant on 19 April 2011 were held for a company incorporated in the 

United States to be designated in future in trust.298 As for the testimony of Mr. John Tennant, the 

Claimant submits that he corroborated that on 26 April 2011 he informed Messrs. Derek Tennant 

and John Pennie that the Skyway 127 shares he acquired on 19 April 2011 in trust should be for 

the benefit of the Claimant.299 He further testifies, the Claimant notes, that on 8 February 2016 he 

sent a memorandum to the Claimant in which he made specific reference to the Skyway 127 

shares as being held in trust in favour of Tennant Energy.300 

243. The Claimant contends that the above-mentioned witness statements are material and should be 

admitted in accordance with Article 4(2) of the 2010 International Bar Association Rules on the 

Taking of Evidence in International Arbitration, which are applicable to the present proceedings 

                                                      
 
292 Reply, ¶ 154; Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 26 (CWS-2). 
293 Reply, ¶ 157; Skyway 127 Energy Inc Shareholder’s Ledger, 15 January 2015 (C-115). 
294 Reply, ¶ 127. 
295 Reply, ¶¶ 128-135. 
296 Reply, ¶ 127. 
297 Reply, ¶ 128; Pennie Statement, ¶¶ 48, 66 (CWS-1). 
298 Reply, ¶ 131; Witness Statement of Derek Tennant, ¶¶ 24-26 (CWS-3). 
299 Reply, ¶¶ 84; Grignon Report, ¶ 33 (CER-2); Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 74. See Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, 

Day 3, 377:6-13, 412:12-17. 
300 Reply, ¶ 133; Memorandum from Mr. John Tennant to Tennant Energy, 8 February 2016 (C-268). 
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pursuant to paragraph 8 of Procedural Order No. 1 and Article 25(6) of the UNCITRAL Rules.301 

This provision makes clear, in the Claimant’s view, that “there is no prohibition on the Tribunal 

receiving evidence from persons who are corporate officers.”302  

244. Further, and contrary to the Respondent’s contention, the Claimant maintains that this witness 

testimony is not “hearsay” because it was given by individuals directly involved in the relevant 

transaction.303 In any event, regardless of whether this evidence is hearsay, the Claimant argues 

that under Article 25(6) of the UNCITRAL Rules, this evidence “must be admitted and given 

serious weight given its materiality and relevance.”304 

245. Turning to the opinion of Justice Grignon, the Claimant relies thereon to assert that, as a matter 

of Californian law, the witness statements and supporting documents on the record demonstrate 

that “John [Tennant] created an oral trust on April 19, 2011, and as of April 26, 2011, he held the 

Skyway 127 shares as trustee in trust for Tennant Travel, subsequently renamed Tennant 

Energy”.305  

246. As explained by Justice Grignon, the Claimant submits that an oral trust was created under 

California law when (a) the trustee Mr. John Tennant resided in the State of California between 

2007 and 2015; (b) Mr. John Tennant declared on 19 April 2011 that he would be holding the 

Skyway 127 shares in a trust for a holding company; (c) he identified the holding company and 

the beneficiary of the trust as Tennant Travel on 26 April 2011; and (d) the purpose of the trust 

was to hold shares for the benefit of a company to prevent dilution of voting control.306 According 

to the Claimant, it is not necessary under California law to name a specific beneficiary as long as 

there is an identifiable class of beneficiaries – in this case, a holding company that Mr. John 

Tennant would designate in the future.307 In addition, the Claimant considers irrelevant the fact 

that the shares themselves were not shown as transferred on the corporate records until later 

because it is not disputed that either the company shares or simply the right to those shares can 

constitute trust property under California law.308 

                                                      
 
301 Reply, ¶¶ 73, 75; International Bar Association, IBA Rules on the Taking of Evidence in International 

Arbitration, 29 May 2010, Article 4(2) (RLA-87). 
302  Reply, ¶ 73; International Bar Association, IBA Rules on the Taking of Evidence in International 

Arbitration, 29 May 2010, Article 4(2) (RLA-87). 
303 Reply, ¶ 74. 
304  Reply, ¶ 75. 
305 Reply, ¶ 83; Grignon Report, ¶ 28 (CER-2). 
306  Reply, ¶ 82-85; Grignon Report, ¶¶ 21-22, 28 (CER-2); Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 58-60, 63-64. See also Hearing 

on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 802:19-24. 
307  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 62; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 803:2-23. 
308  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 61; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 644:12-20. 
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247. The Claimant likewise contends that Mr. John Tennant’s 8 February 2016 memorandum to the 

Tennant Energy Management Board confirms the creation of the trust, consistent with his witness 

testimony.309 In response to the Respondent’s criticism of the veracity of the memorandum, the 

Claimant points out that the memorandum in fact is consistent with the Skyway 127’s share 

registry, which shows the transfer of shares to Mr. John Tennant’s name in 2011, and then to 

Tennant Travel in January 2015.310 

248. In light of the foregoing, the Claimant submits that it has proved that Mr. John Tennant held 

Skyway 127 shares for the benefit of Tennant Travel from 19 April 2011 under the clear and 

convincing standard as required by California law.311 Contrary to the Respondent’s contention, 

the Claimant asserts that the clear and convincing standard requires only high probability; 

completely consistent evidence is not required.312 As to the Respondent’s argument on the lack 

of contemporaneous documents, the Claimant argues that, as opined by Ms. Lodise, “there does 

not have to be contemporaneous writing to proven an oral trust” under California law.313 

249. According to the Claimant, the witness testimony at the Hearing on Jurisdiction was consistent 

with the testimony in the witness statements. There is also no conflicting testimony that actually 

denies the declaration of the trust by Mr. John Tennant. 314  Indeed, the Claimant highlights 

Ms. Lodise’s concession that the testimony of Messrs. Derek Tennant and John Pennie could be 

considered corroboration of the existence of the trust under California law. 315  As such, the 

Claimant takes the view that there is sufficient evidence from witness testimony and surrounding 

evidence to satisfy the clear and convincing standard as applied in California.316 It therefore 

argues that Tennant Travel, as the holding company, held an intangible property interest in the 

Skyway 127 shares as an equitable interest as of 26 April 2011.317  

250. Alternatively, even assuming arguendo that no oral trust was created, the Claimant submits that 

it is the successor in interest to the Skyway 127 shares held by Mr. Tennant, including all rights 

                                                      
 
309  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 67; Memorandum from John Tennant to Tennant Energy regarding Trust transfer and 

successor in interest, 8 February 2016 (C-268). 
310  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 67; Shareholder’s Ledger Skyway 127, 20 June 2011 (C-117); Shareholder’s Ledger 

Skyway 127, 15 January 2015 (C-115). 
311  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 71.  
312  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 72-73; Butte Fire Cases, 24 Cal. App. 5th 1150 (2018) (CLA-335); Fahrney v. Wilson, 

180 Cal. App. 2d 694, 695 (1960) (CLA-301). 
313  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 57. 
314  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 65. 
315  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 65; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 657:13-18. 
316  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 75. 
317  Reply, ¶ 85; Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 69-70; Grignon Report, ¶ 35 (CER-2); Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, 

Day 4, 535:19-25, 626:9-24. See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 626:13-15, 626:22-24. 
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affixed to the shares, by obtaining legal title to the shares through a transfer that occurred in 

15 January 2015.318 This transfer of shares, the Claimant continues, “automatically became the 

assignment and legally transferred the intangible rights” originally held by Mr. John Tennant, 

including any chose of action that he would have as a shareholder.319 Moreover, the Claimant 

notes that the transfer occurred more than two years before 1 June 2017 (i.e., the date of the 

making of its claim) and earlier than the date of the discovery by Mr. John Pennie in August 2015 

with respect to the Respondent’s breaches of its NAFTA obligations.320 

251. Additionally, as opined by Justice Grignon, the Claimant maintains that it was not necessary to 

assign separately any “choses in action”, including the rights under the NAFTA that Mr. John 

Tennant had at the time of the assignment, along with the shares, because “whatever rights he had 

as a shareholder, whether it’s as trustee or as a shareholder” were “automatically” conveyed with 

the shares as a matter of California law.321 The Claimant stresses that the Respondent has filed no 

contrasting expert testimony in this regard.322  

252. Having put forward its arguments regarding the existence and validity of the shares it beneficially 

owned through Mr. John Tennant, the Claimant submits that such rights constitute intangible 

property acquired in the expectation of economic benefit under Article 1139(g) of the NAFTA.323 

Thus, the Claimant maintains that the rights it held in respect of Skyway 127 from 26 April 2011 

to 15 January 2015 fall within the sphere of protected investments under the NAFTA.324 

253. Although, in its view, the determination of its ownership over Skyway 127 is sufficient to 

conclude that it has standing under Article 1116, the Claimant avers that it also exercised control 

over its investment.325 The Claimant asserts that Mr. John Tennant, following his decision to hold 

his shares in trust in favour of the Claimant, “reached an agreement with other shareholders that 

he would get the last word in the voting bloc.”326  

254. The Claimant specifies that it had effective voting control of Skyway 127 as of 31 December 

2011, when Mr. John Tennant increased his shareholding in the company from 11.3% to 22.6% 

                                                      
 
318  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 76-78, 96-97; Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 77-80, 83. 
319  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 819:5-7, 839:12-17. 
320  Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 80. 
321  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 53, 83; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 816:17-20. See also Response to the 

Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 72. 
322  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 78. See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 611:22-25.  
323  Reply, ¶¶ 116-117. 
324  Reply, ¶¶ 116-117. 
325 Reply, ¶¶ 141-169. 
326 Reply, ¶ 149; Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 25 (CWS-2). 
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and informed Messrs. John Pennie and Derek Tennant that “the trust would continue to vote the 

shares with Derek and John Pennie to control the company”. 327 According to the Claimant, 

although GE Energy held 50% of the shares of Skyway 127, it never exercised its voting rights.328 

It follows, the Claimant asserts, that “the control went to those who wished to vote, and to those 

who showed up to vote”.329 In support of this position, the Claimant further relies on Mr. Pennie’s 

witness testimony, who states that Mr. “John Tennant as Trustee controlled Skyway 127”.330 

255. The Claimant considers the definition of “control” under Ontario law irrelevant for the purposes 

of interpreting the NAFTA because, in its view, the terms of the Treaty should be interpreted in 

accordance with applicable rules of international law, as required by Article 1131(1) of the Treaty, 

in particular, when the text of the Treaty does not impose any local law requirements in defining 

the terms.331 The Claimant notes that the Federal Court of Canada in the S.D. Myers case reached 

the same conclusion.332 Therefore, it is the Claimant’s view that the ordinary term “control” 

requires “the ability to get one’s own way” under the circumstances, but does not depend upon 

50.1% shareholding.333 

256. With respect to the issue of “piercing the corporate veil”, the Claimant asserts that the S.D. Myers 

case is highly relevant in understanding an investor’s “control” of an investment made by a family 

corporation.334 Specifically, the Claimant highlights that the S.D. Myers tribunal took broad steps 

to preserve an otherwise meritorious claim affected by a problematic corporate structure, after 

considering the objectives of the Treaty to protect all forms of economic activity that resulted in 

the holding of investments and the sufficiency of circumstances regarding the investment.335 The 

correctness of these jurisdictional findings by the S.D. Myers tribunal, the Claimant continues, 

was confirmed by the Federal Court in its judicial review.336 

                                                      
 
327 Reply, ¶ 154. 
328 Reply, ¶ 166. 
329 Reply, ¶ 166. 
330 Reply, ¶ 145; Pennie Statement, ¶ 48 (CWS-1). 
331  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 127-134; Response to the Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 65.  
332  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶135-136; Canada (Attorney General) v. S.D. Myers Inc., 2004 FC 38, ¶¶ 68-69 (R-80). 
333  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 115-116. 
334  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 99, 122. 
335  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 102-111; S.D. Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 

13 November 2000, ¶ 229 (CLA-111); S.D. Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Second 
Partial Award, 21 October 2002, ¶¶ 119-121 (CLA-193); S.D. Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, 
UNCITRAL, Separate Opinion by Dr. Bryan Schwartz, 12 November 2000, ¶¶ 38-39 (CLA-336). 

336  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 123, 125; Canada (Attorney General) v. S.D. Myers Inc., 2004 FC 38, ¶ 68 (R-80).  
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257. Accordingly, rejecting the Respondent’s contention that the facts in this case are dissimilar to 

those in the S.D. Myers case, the Claimant posits that the “broad and purposive approach” taken 

by the S.D. Myers tribunal should be applied in this arbitration for the following reasons:337 

(a) The Claimant’s claims deal with entities owned and controlled by members of the Tennant 

family.338  

(b) While Mr. John Tennant did not own the majority of shares, he had the “last word over 

decisions”.339  

(c) Members of the Tennant family worked in concert regarding the Skyway 127 Project.340 

(d) The purpose of the “family business” was similar to that of the Myers family, namely to 

benefit the local investment for the family. In this respect, the basic raison d’être of Skyway 

127, the Claimant notes, was to promote and serve the interests of Tennant Energy.341 

(e) Tennant Energy and Skyway 127 were affiliated companies with common control, just as 

S.D. Myers Inc. was affiliated with Myers Canada.342 

 The Alleged Breaches Occurred in August 2015 

258. As explained above, 343  the Claimant’s position is that the alleged breaches at stake in this 

arbitration took place in August 2015, when it first became aware or could have been aware of 

the Respondent’s internationally wrongful acts.344 The Claimant further asserts that because its 

claims challenge composite acts that involve the concealment of wrongful acts, the alleged breach 

should be deemed to have occurred “when the victim discovered the wrong”.345 

259. As will be detailed below (see section VI.C.2(b) below), the Claimant contends that it was only 

after August 2015, when the post-hearing written submissions and other materials related to the 

hearing in Mesa Power were made available to the public, that it became possible to acquire 

                                                      
 
337  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 112, 122. 
338  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 114. 
339  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 115-117. 
340  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 118. 
341  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 119, 121. 
342  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 120.  
343  See ¶ 235 above. 
344 Reply, ¶ 171. 
345 Reply, ¶ 271.  
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knowledge of the core facts underlying its claims.346 In support of its claim that it did not know 

of the alleged breaches before August 2015, the Claimant cites to the witness statement of 

Mr. John Pennie.347 

260. Notwithstanding this, the Claimant submits that even if the Tribunal concluded that the breaches 

occurred when the Claimant was placed on a FIT priority waiting list (i.e., on 4 July 2011) or 

when the FIT Program was terminated (i.e., on 12 June 2013) the Tribunal would still have 

jurisdiction because these events occurred after the Claimant became an “investor of a Party” on 

26 April 2011.348 

261. The Claimant therefore concludes that it owned and controlled its investment in Skyway 127 

regardless of when the Tribunal determines the alleged breaches to have taken place, and, as a 

result, it has standing to bring the claims at issue in this arbitration under Article 1116(1) of the 

NAFTA.349 

3. The Non-Disputing Parties’ Submissions 

(a) Submissions of Mexico and the United States 

262. The non-disputing Parties agree that a claimant must prove that it was an “investor of a Party” 

when the alleged breach occurred to establish jurisdiction under Article 1116(1).350 

263. According to Mexico, no obligation is owed to a claimant in the absence of a threshold connection 

between a claimant bringing the claim and the challenged measure under Section A of Chapter 

Eleven.351 As such, Mexico agrees with the Respondent that Articles 1101(1) and 1116(1) set a 

temporal limitation on a NAFTA tribunal’s jurisdiction, requiring the existence of an investor of 

a Party at the time of the alleged breach.352 

264. Similarly, the United States points out that the terms “the investor” and “that breach”, in 

Article 1116(1) require that the investor bringing the claim be the same investor who suffered 

loss or damage as a result of the alleged breach.353 To the contrary, nothing in Chapter Eleven, 

                                                      
 
346 Reply, ¶¶ 173-175. 
347 Reply, ¶ 172; Pennie Statement, ¶ 50 (CWS-1). 
348 Reply, ¶ 137. 
349 Reply, ¶¶ 134, 176. 
350  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 11; Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 6. 
351  Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 7. 
352  Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 6.  
353  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 10.  
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the United States asserts, authorizes an investor to bring a claim for an alleged breach relating to 

a different investor.354  

265. According to the United States, the waiver provision in Article 1121(1)(b) offers context for 

interpreting Article 1116(1).355 The waiver provision, the United States explains, ensures that a 

NAFTA respondent need not litigate concurrent and overlapping proceedings in multiple forums 

relating to the same alleged breach. 356 The United States warns that if Article 1116(a) was 

interpreted as to allow an investor, who is different from the investor who had made the 

investment at the time of the alleged breach, to bring a claim, respondents might be subject to 

domestic and international proceedings with respect to the same alleged breach, rendering the 

waiver provision meaningless.357  

(b) The Respondent’s Reply to the Submissions of the Non-Disputing Parties 

266. According to the Respondent, Mexico “correctly notes that the requisite connection between a 

claimant and a challenged measure under Section A cannot be met until the claimant became a 

protected investor”. 358  Therefore, the Respondent reiterates that an investor can establish 

jurisdiction for a claim under Article 1116(1) only if it was an investor of a Party who suffered 

the loss or damage as a result of the alleged breach.359 As observed by the United States, the 

Respondent asserts that a different interpretation of Article 1116(1) would render the waiver 

provision in Article 1121(1)(b) meaningless and “incentivize claim shopping”.360 

267. In addition to the NAFTA Parties’ agreement on the interpretation of Article 1116(1), to which, 

according to the Respondent, the Tribunal should give considerable weight, the Respondent 

highlights that NAFTA tribunals have consistently required a claimant to prove that it was a 

protected investor with a protected investment when the alleged breach occurred to establish a 

tribunal’s jurisdiction.361 According to the Respondent, the Claimant “appears to accept this rule, 

                                                      
 
354  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 11. 
355  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 12. 
356  United States’ Second Submission, ¶¶ 13-14. 
357  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 15. 
358  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 13. 
359  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶¶ 13-14. 
360  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 15. The Respondent notes that Mexico has advanced the 

same position in other NAFTA proceedings. See Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 15, 
fn. 29. 

361  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 16. 
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as it has not challenged Canada’s interpretation of Article 1116(1) concerning jurisdiction ratione 

temporis in its Counter-Memorial on Jurisdiction or Reply on Jurisdiction”.362 

(c) The Claimant’s Reply to the Submissions of the Non-Disputing Parties 

268. The Claimant disagrees with the non-disputing Parties that an investor bringing a claim must be 

the same party as the party who suffered the alleged breach.363 According to the Claimant, this 

“highly restrictive approach” advanced by the non-disputing Parties would leave “meritorious 

successors in interest to victims without access to impartial and fair dispute settlement”.364 In this 

respect, the Claimant notes that the concept of the successor in interest pursuing treaty claims is 

well established under international law.365 

269. For the Claimant, the United States’ observations on the application of the context to Article 1116 

are overly narrow.366 Instead, the Claimant argues that the context for the “broad” definitions of 

an “enterprise” in Article 201 and “investment” in Article 1139 must be read in light of the full 

NAFTA Treaty and not just the specific chapters contained therein.367 Therefore, the Claimant 

submits that this “broad context is relevant when considering the associated requirements for an 

investor and an investment, such as the element of control” and that past NAFTA cases are helpful 

in understanding the term “owns or controls” in Article 1139.368  

270. According to the Claimant, “[t]he date of the NAFTA breach was not earlier than August 15, 

2015” and the Respondent does not dispute that by 15 August 2015, Tennant Energy owned shares 

in Skyway 127.369 As such, in the Claimant’s view, there could be no possible issue raised 

concerning its investment.370 

                                                      
 
362  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 16. 
363  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 16. 
364  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 16. 
365  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 17; Isaiah v. Bank Mellat, 2 IRAN-U.S. C.T.R., 30 March 

1983, pp. 232, 249-252 (CLA-321); The Loewen Group, Inc. and Raymond L. Loewen v. United States of 
America, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/98/3, Decision on Hearing on Respondent’s Objection to Competence 
and Jurisdiction, 5 January 2001 (CLA-285); Enron Corporation and Ponderosa Assets, L.P. v. Argentine 
Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/01/3, Decision on Jurisdiction, 14 January 2004 (CLA-333). 

366  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, fn. 6. 
367  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶¶ 18-19. 
368  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 19. 
369  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 20. 
370 Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 20. 
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C. THE SECOND OBJECTION  

271. Even if the Tribunal finds that the Claimant qualifies as an “investor of a Party”, the Respondent 

maintains that the Tribunal has no jurisdiction ratione temporis because the Claimant failed to 

submit its claim within the three-year limitation period established by Article 1116(2) of the 

NAFTA. Article 1116(2) provides: 

“An investor may not make a claim if more than three years have elapsed from the date on 
which the investor first acquired, or should have first acquired, knowledge of the alleged 
breach and knowledge that the investor has incurred loss or damage.” 

272. It is undisputed that the present dispute was submitted to arbitration on 1 June 2017, making 

1 June 2014 the critical date for purposes of determining the Claimant’s compliance with 

Article 1116(2) (the “Critical Date”).  

273. The Respondent submits that the Claimant knew, or should have known, about the alleged 

breaches and that it had incurred loss or damage prior to the Critical Date of 1 June 2014 because 

“ample information regarding the alleged breach was publicly available prior to the [Critical 

Date]” and “[a]ny reasonably prudent investor in the Ontario renewable energy market – as the 

Claimant holds itself out to be” would or should have been aware of that information.371 As a 

result, the Respondent argues, the Tribunal has no ratione temporis jurisdiction because 

Claimant’s claims are time-barred. 

274. By contrast, the Claimant submits that it did not and could not have known either of the alleged 

breaches or of the derived loss or damage before 15 August 2015, the date on which the Mesa 

Power post-hearing submissions became publicly available. Therefore, the Claimant submits that 

its claims were submitted to this Tribunal in a timely manner. 

1. The Respondent’s Position  

(a) Interpretation of Article 1116(2) of the NAFTA 

275. The Respondent advances four interpretative considerations in respect of Article 1116(2) of the 

NAFTA, which it claims are “well-settled”.372  

276. First, the Respondent maintains that the three-year period in Article 1116(2) is a strict limitation 

period that forms one of the fundamental bases of its consent to arbitration, and therefore must be 

                                                      
 
371  Rejoinder, ¶¶ 6-7. 
372 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 98-114; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 57. 
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complied with in order to establish this Tribunal’s jurisdiction.373 According to the Respondent, 

it has been recognized that provisions setting time limits for commencing disputes, such as Article 

1116(2), have the purpose of providing legal predictability and certainty, and preventing States 

from being forced to present a defence against claims “for which evidence may no longer be 

readily available or which require witnesses to recollect events long past”. 374  As such, the 

Respondent points out, failure to comply with the three-year limitation period has resulted in the 

dismissal of several claims submitted under the NAFTA, Chapter Eleven375 as well as claims 

brought on the basis of treaties that contain equivalent provisions.376 

277. Second, the Respondent submits that the limitation period in Article 1116(2) begins running from 

the date on which the claimant “first acquired, or should have first acquired, knowledge of the 

alleged breach and knowledge that [it] has incurred loss or damage.”377 The Respondent contends 

that, consistent with its ordinary meaning, the term “first” means “earliest in occurrence, 

existence.”378 Thus, the Respondent asserts, the inclusion of the term “first” to modify the phrase 

“acquired knowledge” was “a deliberate drafting choice” intended to mark the beginning of the 

relevant time frame “and not the middle or end of a continuous event or period”. 379  This 

                                                      
 
373 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 98-101. 
374 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 99; Spence International Investments, LLC, Berkowitz, et al. v. Republic of Costa 

Rica, ICSID Case No. UNCT/13/2, Interim Award (Corrected), 30 May 2017, ¶ 208 (RLA-136). 
375 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 100-101; Grand River Enterprises Six Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, Kenneth Hill 

and Arthur Montour, Jr. v. United States of America, UNCITRAL, Decision on Objections to Jurisdiction, 
20 July 2006, ¶¶ 103-104 (RLA-70); Apotex Inc. v. United States of America, ICSID Case No. UNCT/10/2, 
Award on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 14 June 2013, ¶¶ 314-335 (RLA-80); William Ralph Clayton, 
William Richard Clayton, Douglas Clayton, Daniel Clayton and Bilcon of Delaware Inc. v. Government of 
Canada, PCA Case No. 2009-04, Award on Jurisdiction and Liability, 17 March 2015 (RLA-3). 

376 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 100-101; Corona Materials, LLC v. Dominican Republic, ICSID Case No. 
ARB(AF)/14/3, Award on the Respondent’s Expedited Preliminary Objections in Accordance with Article 
10.20.5 of the DR-CAFTA, 31 May 2016, ¶¶ 192, 199 (RLA-82); Spence International Investments, LLC, 
Berkowitz, et al. v. Republic of Costa Rica, ICSID Case No. UNCT/13/2, Interim Award (Corrected), 
30 May 2017, ¶¶ 297-298 (RLA-136). 

377 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 102 (emphasis in original). 
378 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 103 quoting Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, 5th ed., (New York: Oxford 

University Press, 2002), p. 965 (RLA-154). 
379 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 104. 
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interpretation, the Respondent states, has been consistently upheld by NAFTA tribunals,380 each 

of the Contracting Parties to the NAFTA381 and tribunals interpreting the similar provisions.382  

278. In this respect, and contrary to what the Claimant argues, the Respondent maintains that there is 

no basis to reset, suspend or prolong the time-limit imposed by Article 1116(2) in the face of 

claims alleging continuous acts or alleging continuous breaches.383 Therefore, the Claimant’s 

subsequent learning of certain new facts relating to the same claims, in the Respondents view, 

does not affect the Tribunal’s jurisdiction unless they form the basis of a new cause of action.384 

According to the Respondent, investment treaty tribunals385 and the NAFTA Parties386 support 

the position that “[o]nce a claimant has acquired actual or constructive knowledge of the alleged 

breach, subsequent disclosure of related factual details does not change the date when the claimant 

                                                      
 
380 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 105; William Ralph Clayton, William Richard Clayton, Douglas Clayton, Daniel 

Clayton and Bilcon of Delaware Inc. v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2009-04, Award on 
Jurisdiction and Liability, 17 March 2015, ¶ 281 (RLA-3); Apotex Inc. v. United States of America, ICSID 
Case No. UNCT/10/2, Award on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 14 June 2013, ¶ 315 (RLA-80); Grand 
River Enterprises Six Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, Kenneth Hill and Arthur Montour, Jr. v. United States 
of America, UNCITRAL, Decision on Objections to Jurisdiction, 20 July 2006, ¶ 53 (RLA-70).  

381 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 105; Merrill & Ring Forestry, L.P. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, 
Submission of the United States of America, 14 July 2008, ¶ 5 (RLA-156): Detroit International Bridge 
Company v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-25, Submission of Mexico Pursuant Article 1128 
of NAFTA, 14 February 2014, ¶ 22 (RLA-157); Detroit International Bridge Company v. Government of 
Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-25, Reply of the Government of Canada to the NAFTA Article 1128 
Submissions of the Governments of the United States of America and the United Mexican States, 3 March 
2014, ¶ 33 (RLA-158). 

382 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 105; Spence International Investments, LLC, Berkowitz, et al. v. Republic of Costa 
Rica, ICSID Case No. UNCT/13/2, Interim Award (Corrected), 30 May 2017, ¶ 208 (RLA-136); Corona 
Materials, LLC v. Dominican Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/14/3, Award on the Respondent’s 
Expedited Preliminary Objections in Accordance with Article 10.20.5 of the CAFTA-DR, 31 May 2016, 
¶ 200 (RLA-82). 

383 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 107; Rejoinder, ¶¶ 79, 81. 
384  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 59:15-18. 
385 Rejoinder, ¶ 81; William Ralph Clayton, William Richard Clayton, Douglas Clayton, Daniel Clayton and 

Bilcon of Delaware Inc. v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2009-04, Award on Jurisdiction and 
Liability, 17 March 2015, ¶¶ 251-254 (RLA-3); Grand River Enterprises Six Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, 
Kenneth Hill and Arthur Montour, Jr. v. United States of America, UNCITRAL, Decision on Objections to 
Jurisdiction, 20 July 2006, ¶ 81 (RLA-70); Spence International Investments, LLC, Berkowitz, et al. v. 
Republic of Costa Rica, ICSID Case No. UNCT/13/2, Interim Award (Corrected), 30 May 2017, ¶ 208 
(RLA-136); Carlos Rios and Francisco Javier Rios v. Republic of Chile, ICSID Case No. ARB/17/16, 
Award, 11 January 2021, ¶ 209 (RLA-173). 

386 Rejoinder, ¶ 81; Merrill & Ring Forestry, L.P. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Submission of the 
United States of America, 14 July 2008, ¶¶ 8-10 (RLA-156); Merrill & Ring Forestry, L.P. v. Government 
of Canada, UNCITRAL, Submission of the Government of Mexico, 2 April 2009 (RLA-189); William 
Ralph Clayton, William Richard Clayton, Douglas Clayton, Daniel Clayton and Bilcon of Delaware, Inc. 
v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2009-04, Submission of the United States of America, 19 April 
2013, ¶ 12 (RLA-190); Detroit International Bridge Company v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 
2012-25, Submission of the Unites States of America, 14 February 2014, ¶ 3 (RLA-191); Detroit 
International Bridge Company v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-25, Reply of the 
Government of Canada to the NAFTA Article 1128 Submissions of the Governments of the United States 
of America and the United Mexican States, 3 March 2014, ¶ 29 (RLA-158). 
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first acquired or should have first acquired such knowledge”.387 Any interpretation to the contrary, 

the Respondent contends, would “render the limitations provisions ineffective in any situation 

involving a series of similar and related actions by a respondent state, since a claimant would be 

free to base its claim on the most recent transgression, even if it had knowledge of earlier breaches 

and injuries.”388  

279. Third, the Respondent asserts that either actual or constructive knowledge of the alleged breach 

and loss or damage is sufficient to start the limitation period in Article 1116(2).389 According to 

the Respondent, the “notion of actual knowledge accounts for what an investor subjectively 

knew”, while that “of constructive knowledge accounts for what an investor objectively ought to 

have known.”390 Relying on the Decision on Jurisdiction in Grand River v. United States, the 

Respondent further submits that the notion of constructive knowledge requires investors to 

exercise a measure of “reasonable care” and “diligence” under the standard of “a reasonably 

prudent investor”.391 The Respondent also refers to the Spence International v. Costa Rica Interim 

Award, in which the tribunal determined that the “should have first acquired knowledge test” is 

an “objective standard” that requires a tribunal to assess “what a prudent claimant should have 

known or must reasonably be deemed to have known.”392 Accordingly, the Respondent submits, 

the limitation period “cannot be extended, for example, through willful blindness on the part of 

an investor, a failure on the part of the investor to acknowledge that a measure is causing it loss 

or damage, or a lack of carefulness on the part of the investor to discover any loss or damage that 

it may have incurred.”393 

280. In this respect, the Respondent contends that constructive knowledge of an alleged breach and 

loss from publicly available information starts the limitation period which, in the Respondent’s 

view, existed in this case as further explained below in Section VI.C.1(b).394  

                                                      
 
387 Rejoinder, ¶ 79. 
388 Rejoinder, ¶ 80, quoting Grand River Enterprises Six Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, Kenneth Hill and Arthur 

Montour, Jr. v. United States of America, UNCITRAL, Decision on Objections to Jurisdiction, 20 July 
2006, ¶ 81 (RLA-70). 

389 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 108-111; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 58. 
390  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 109. 
391 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 110-111; Rejoinder, ¶ 74; Grand River Enterprises Six Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, 

Kenneth Hill and Arthur Montour, Jr. v. United States of America, UNCITRAL, Decision on Objections to 
Jurisdiction, 20 July 2006, ¶ 59 (RLA-70). 

392 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 109; Rejoinder, ¶ 74 quoting Spence International Investments, LLC, Berkowitz, et 
al. v. Republic of Costa Rica, ICSID Case No. UNCT/13/2, Interim Award (Corrected), 30 May 2017, ¶ 209 
(RLA-136). 

393  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 111; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 59.  
394  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 61. 
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281. Fourth, the Respondent alleges that simple knowledge that loss or damage has been caused, even 

if its extent or quantification is still unclear, is sufficient to trigger the limitation period in 

Article 1116(2). 395  This assertion is supported by each of the NAFTA Parties, 396  tribunals 

constituted under the NAFTA397 and other arbitral tribunals.398  

(b) Whether the Claimant’s Claims Comply with the Time Limit under 
Article 1116(2) of the NAFTA  

282. The Respondent submits that the Claimant first acquired or should have first acquired knowledge 

of the alleged breaches and loss or damage prior to the Critical Date of 1 June 2014, i.e., three 

years before the Claimant filed its Notice of Arbitration.399 

283. As a preliminary matter, the Respondent contends that the claims at issue in this arbitration do 

not involve a continuing breach, and thus the Claimant’s arguments in this respect are irrelevant 

for assessing the Second Objection.400 Instead, the alleged breach, according to the Respondent, 

is “a single one-time act that had continuing events for the Claimant”.401 The Respondent also 

asserts that the Claimant has not explained how the challenged measures form a composite 

breach. 402 Rather, the Respondent contends that this case concerns a “single alleged breach 

leading to a single source of alleged losses that were incurred on one date – July 4, 2011 – the 

date the Claimant did not receive a FIT Contract”.403  

284. As its primary position, the Respondent submits that, prior to the Critical Date, there was ample 

publicly available information regarding this alleged breach, and the three groups of impugned 

                                                      
 
395 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 112; Rejoinder, ¶ 105. 
396 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 113; Resolute Forest Products Inc. v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2016-

13, Submission of Mexico Pursuant NAFTA Article 1128, 14 June 2017, ¶ 6 (RLA-160); Grand River 
Enterprises Six Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, Kenneth Hill and Arthur Montour, Jr. v. United States of 
America, UNCITRAL, Objection to Jurisdiction of Respondent United States of America, 5 December 
2005, p. 36 (RLA-126). 

397 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 113; Grand River Enterprises Six Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, Kenneth Hill and 
Arthur Montour, Jr. v. United States of America, UNCITRAL, Decision on Objections to Jurisdiction, 
20 July 2006 (RLA-70); William Ralph Clayton, William Richard Clayton, Douglas Clayton, Daniel 
Clayton and Bilcon of Delaware Inc. v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2009-04, Award on 
Jurisdiction and Liability, 17 March 2015, ¶ 275 (RLA-3). 

398 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 114; Rejoinder, ¶ 105; Rusoro Mining Limited v. Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, 
ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/12/5, Award, 22 August 2016, ¶ 217 (RLA-159); Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. 
(Japan) v. Republic of India, PCA Case No. 2017-37, Decision on Jurisdiction, 29 April 2019, ¶ 325 (RLA-
155). 

399 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 117-155; Rejoinder, ¶ 64. 
400 Rejoinder, ¶ 81. 
401  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 750:19-20. 
402  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 58:4-11. 
403 Rejoinder, ¶ 81. See also Hearing on Jurisdiction, Day 1, 24:21-25:13. 
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measures that the Claimant alleges led to this breach, namely, measures concerning the GEIA, 

the administration of the FIT Program, and the handling of documents by Ontario officials from 

2011 to 2013.404 This is true, according to the Respondent, even without taking into account the 

evidence arising out of the public pleadings in the Mesa Power arbitration. 405  Thus, 

notwithstanding its wilful blindness to this information, the Claimant, as the reasonably prudent 

investor in the Ontario renewable energy market that it holds itself out to be, nevertheless knew 

or should have known about it, thereby triggering the limitation period.406 

285. In particular, the Respondent argues that the relevant documents in respect of each group of 

challenged measures were accessible before 1 June 2014, and that this demonstrates that “all the 

alleged ‘new information’ relied upon by the Claimant to argue it submitted its claim to arbitration 

within the limitation period was either already public prior to the [Critical Date] or fails to toll the 

limitation period, such that the entirety of the claim falls outside the Tribunal’s jurisdiction.”407 

The Respondent elaborates on each group of challenged measures as follows. 

 Measures Concerning the GEIA 

286. According to the Respondent, all the relevant aspects of the GEIA for the purposes of the 

Claimant’s claim were publicly known, and available in the documents filed in the Mesa Power 

arbitration, press reports and government publications, prior to the Critical Date.408 

287. First, the Respondent posits that the negotiation and signature of the GEIA were “widely reported 

in the press in 2009 and 2010”.409 Such reports, the Respondent asserts, demonstrate that “[f]rom 

the outset, industry observers were concerned about the impact of the GEIA on the renewables 

sector in Ontario.”410  

288. Second, the Respondent refers to a number of publicly available documents issued by public 

bodies that provided information on the GEIA, as well as its terms and/or effects on the FIT 

                                                      
 
404 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 123; Rejoinder, ¶ 68. 
405  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 62. 
406  Rejoinder, ¶¶ 6-7; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 62. 
407 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 124. 
408 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 126-135. 
409 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 126-127; The Star, “Ontario eyes green job bonanza”, 26 September 2009 (C-171); 

The Globe and Mail, “Samsung looking to build Lake Erie wind farm”, 27 September 2009 (R-84); 
Renewable Energy World, “Samsung Invests $7B in Ontario Wind & Solar”, 22 January 2010 (R-85); The 
Globe and Mail, “‘Unfair’ advantage cited in Samsung deal”, 25 January 2010 (R-86). 

410 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 126-127; The Globe and Mail, “‘Unfair’ advantage cited in Samsung deal”, 
25 January 2010, pp. 2-3 (R-86). 
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Program. 411  The Respondent underscores that “[i]t was public knowledge that the Korean 

Consortium’s projects faced ‘challenges’ and that the FIT Program was delayed because of the 

Korean Consortium’s need to finalize connection points.”412 The Respondent specifically refers 

to the: 

(a) Direction from the Ontario Minister of Energy to the OPA of 1 April 2010, which described 

the GEIA and instructed the OPA to negotiate power purchase agreements with the Korean 

Consortium in accordance with the terms of the GEIA.413 

(b) 2011 Annual Report of the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, published on 

5 December 2011, which discussed inter alia details of the renegotiation of the GEIA in 

2011 that arose in view of the Korean Consortium’s request for an extension to finalize the 

first phases of its project. This report further noted the delays by the Korean Consortium 

also impacted the schedule of the FIT Program.414  

(c) Discussions in the Legislative Assembly of Ontario in 2012.415 

(d) Ontario’s updated Long-Term Energy Plan, made public in November 2013.416 

289. The Respondent underscores that the Mesa Power tribunal acknowledged that, since 2009, it was 

public knowledge that the GEIA “would give [the Korean Consortium] priority access to 

Ontario[’s] grid space”.417  

290. Third, the Respondent submits that the Mesa Power pleadings that were publicly available on the 

Global Affairs Canada website prior to the Critical Date further support the conclusion that the 

Claimant should have first acquired knowledge of the alleged breach prior to the Critical Date, 

because Mesa Power made the same allegations as the Claimant with respect to the GEIA.418 

                                                      
 
411 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 128-130. 
412 Rejoinder, ¶ 95; Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report [Excerpt], 5 December 

2011, p. 108 (R-2). 
413 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 129; Directive from Minister of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid, to Colin 

Andersen, CEO, Ontario Power Authority, 1 April 2010 (C-139). 
414 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 128, 130, fn. 318; Rejoinder, ¶ 95; Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 

Annual Report [Excerpt], 5 December 2011, p. 108 (R-2). 
415 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 128; Ontario, Official Report of Debates (Hansard), 40th Parl., 1st Sess., No. 47, 3 

May 2012, p. 2052 (R-87). 
416 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 128; Government of Ontario, “Achieving Balance: Ontario’s Long Term Energy 

Plan”, December 2013, p. 15 (R-88). 
417 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 130; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, 

Award, 24 March 2016, ¶ 607 (RLA-1). 
418 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 118-120; McCall Statement, ¶¶ 3, 5 (RWS-1); Global Affairs Canada, Mesa Group 

LLC v. Government of Canada, Webpage Screenshot, as of 8 May 2013 and 11 September 2013, pp. 1-2 
(R-30). See also Rejoinder, ¶ 96. 
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These pleadings include, for example, Mesa Power’s Notice of Intent and Notice of Arbitration, 

which were available as of 8 May 2013;419 and Mesa Power’s Answer on Canada’s Preliminary 

Objections to Jurisdiction, which was available as of 11 September 2013. 420  Moreover, the 

Respondent notes that the Mesa Power arbitration “was discussed in both general interest and 

industry media” prior to the Critical Date and, as such, there “is no basis on which the Claimant 

can reasonably maintain that it could not have known about the [relevant aspects of the GEIA] 

until the […] Post-Hearing Submission in Mesa was made public.”421 

291. While the Claimant attempts to differentiate its claim from the ones brought by Mesa Power in 

2011,422 the Respondent maintains that a simple side-by-side comparison of the early written 

submissions in Mesa Power and the Claimant’s submissions confirms the overlap between both 

claims.423 Specifically, the Respondent asserts that, like Mesa Power did prior to 1 June 2014, the 

Claimant alleges in respect of the GEIA that: 

(a) Although the “[t]he existence of the [GEIA] was public, […] its terms and conditions were 

kept secret,” including the fact that the Korean Consortium was granted “significantly 

better access to renewable energy transmission and generation than to other energy 

providers” in Ontario;424 

(b) Pursuant to Direction of the Ministry of Energy to the OPA of 30 September 2009, “the 

Korean Consortium received a guaranteed right of first refusal on transmission access” in 

three transmission zones in Ontario;425 

                                                      
 
419 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 118; McCall Statement, ¶ 3 (RWS-1); Global Affairs Canada, Mesa Group LLC v. 

Government of Canada, Webpage Screenshot, as of 8 May 2013 and 11 September 2013, p. 1 (R-30). 
420 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 119; McCall Statement, ¶ 5 (RWS-1); Global Affairs Canada, Mesa Group LLC v. 

Government of Canada, Webpage Screenshot, as of 8 May 2013 and 11 September 2013, p. 2 (R-30). 
421  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 135; The Globe and Mail, “Oil tycoon takes on Ontario Green Energy Act over wind 

farm”, 14 July 2011 (R-59); Appleton & Associates website excerpt, “Mesa Power Group Files Legal 
Action Against Government for NAFTA Infractions”, 14 July 2011 (R-60); Recharge News, “Pickens 
issues NAFTA challenge to Canada over wind rules”, 18 July 2011 (R-61); Columbia Law School, Climate 
Law Blog, “Texas Renewable Energy Developer Initiates NAFTA Claim Against Canada”, 22 July 2011 
(R-62); The Star, “Texas firm to challenge to Ontario’s wind power regulations”, 14 July 2011 (R-63); PR 
Wire, “Mesa Power Group Files Legal Action Against Canadian Government for NAFTA Infractions”, 
14 July 2011 (R-64); Reuters, “Boone Pickens challenges Canada on green power law”, 14 July 2011 (R-65); 
IISD, Investment Treaty News, “Trends in Investor Claims Over Feed-in Tariffs for Renewable Energy”, 
19 July 2012 (R-66); Ontario Wind Resistance, “McGuinty Liberals charged with abuse of power, undue 
‘political interference’ in awarding wind contracts”, 17 July 2011 (R-67). See also Rejoinder, ¶ 96. 

422 Rejoinder, ¶ 67. 
423 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 133. 
424 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 133, quoting Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 

2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 4 October 2011 (R-5); Memorial, ¶ 202. 
425 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 133, quoting Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 

2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 4 October 2011 (R-5); Memorial, ¶ 211. 
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(c) But for the transmission capacity that the OPA reserved to the Korean Consortium, it was 

highly likely that it would have been awarded a FIT contract;426 

(d) On 3 August 2011, the Ontario Minister of energy “gave a one-year extension to the 

Consortium”;427 

(e) It was not offered a FIT contract “because of the 750 MW limit on awards in the Bruce 

Region, even though there was still available transmission capacity at each of their 

respective interconnects”;428 and 

(f) The preferential treatment granted through the GEIA and OPA’s public release of the 

December 2010 rankings allowed the Korean Consortium to identify low-ranking projects 

and to engage in “predatory” behaviour by purchasing and advancing those projects.429 

292. The Respondent argues that in view of the overlap in the claims brought by the Claimant and 

Mesa’s claims, “[i]t is simply not credible for the Claimant to argue that its claim differs from the 

one brought almost ten years ago by Mesa.”430 Therefore, the Respondent contends that “[i]f there 

was enough public information about the alleged breach in 2011 for Mesa to file its claim, then 

there was certainly enough for the Claimant to do the same.”431 

293. Finally, the Respondent submits that the Claimant’s allegation that the Korean Consortium and 

Pattern Energy were engaged in a “predatory scheme” is based on facts that the Claimant concedes 

it knew before December 2010.432 The Respondent avers that in its Memorial, the Claimant 

acknowledges that on 10 December 2010, Pattern Renewable entered into an agreement to acquire 

the Skyway 127\ project.433 The Respondent adds that Mr. Pennie’s Statement confirms that 

“individuals involved in the Skyway 127 Project were well aware of the GEIA and actions of the 

Korean Consortium prior to the [Critical Date]”.434 

                                                      
 
426 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 133, referring to Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 

2012-17, Investor’s Answer on Canada’s Preliminary Objections on Jurisdiction, 19 February 2013, ¶ 86 
(R-13); Memorial, ¶ 227. 

427 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 133, quoting Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 
2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 4 October 2011 (R-5); Memorial, ¶ 246. 

428 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 133, quoting Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 
2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 4 October 2011 (R-5); Notice of Arbitration, ¶ 60. 

429 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 133, referring to Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 
2012-17, Investor’s Answer on Canada’s Preliminary Objections on Jurisdiction, 19 February 2013, ¶ 71, 
72(c)-(d) (R-13); Memorial, ¶ 221. 

430 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 134. 
431 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 134. 
432 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 131; Rejoinder, ¶ 96. 
433 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 131, referring to Memorial, ¶ 130. 
434 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 132; Pennie Statement, ¶ 19 (CWS-1). 
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 Measures Concerning the Administration of the FIT Program 

294. The Respondent submits that the Claimant should have first acquired knowledge of the measures 

it complains of in respect of the administration on the FIT Program, namely that “Ontario unfairly 

manipulated the award of access to the electricity grid”, prior to the Critical Date.435  

295. First, the Respondent points out that “[a]ll of the changes mandated by the June 3, 2011 Direction 

were public.”436 Thus, the Claimant cannot now complain of these changes, including the ability 

to change connection points between regions within the five-day window, the consideration of 

projects that required paid upgrades to connection points, the award of FIT contracts in the Bruce 

transmission area for up to only 750 MW, and the West of London transmission area for up to 

only 300 MW, and the method of determining priority for those FIT contract awards.437 

296. Second, as to “allegations of unfairness and improper political considerations in the 

administration of the FIT Program from 2011 to 2013”, the Respondent similarly maintains that 

the Claimant should have known about these measures prior to the Critical Date because Mesa 

Power made the same allegations in its Notice of Arbitration filed in 2011.438 Comparing the Mesa 

Power pleadings and the Claimant’s submissions, the Respondent contends that the overlap of the 

allegations “is incontestable”:439 

(a) On 3 June 2011, the OPA issued “without any prior notice” “a new set of rules for awarding 

FIT Program contracts” based on the 3 June 2011 Direction. As a result of such new rules, 

several wind projects in the FIT Program lost available transmission capacity in their 

designated locations. The June 2011 rules also allowed projects in the West of London 

region which “had a higher provincial-wide priority ranking” to “build long transmission 

lines to interconnect in the Bruce Region and thereby jump ahead in the priority 

ranking”.440 

                                                      
 
435 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 137-140.  
436  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 138. 
437  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 138, referring to Directive from Minister of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid 

to Colin Andersen, CEO, Ontario Power Authority, 3 June 2011 (C-176); IESO Public News Release, 
“Allocating Capacity and Offering FIT Contracts for Bruce to Milton Enabled Projects,” 3 June 2011 
(C-143). 

438 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 139. 
439 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 142. 
440 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 141, referring to Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 

2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 4 October 2011, ¶¶ 28-29, 30-32, 34 (R-5); Notice of Arbitration, ¶ 59, 61, 
238-239, 508; Memorial, ¶ 238. 
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(b) It was “not offered a FIT Program Contract, because of the 750 MW limit on awards in the 

Bruce Region, even though there was still available transmission capacity”.441 

(c) The Respondent used its authority to implement arbitrary and non-transparent regulatory 

changes that “resulted in a direct and immediate benefit to the better-treated companies, 

and were taken in the context of an Ontario provincial general election”.442 

(d) The Respondent gave NextEra preferential access to meetings with high-level government 

officials and advance access to information concerning regulatory changes.443 

297. Not only were Mesa Power’s pleadings with these same allegations publicly available on the GAC 

website prior to the Critical Date, but the Respondent also notes that the allegations were covered 

by the media, and the Claimant in fact agrees that it was aware of the arbitration when it was 

filed.444 Considering that the Claimant also had a “sense of unfairness”, such notice, in the 

Respondent’s view, should have triggered the Claimant to investigate further.445 However, the 

Respondent observes that “the Claimant has not offered any valid reason as to why it waited until 

2017 to challenge the same measures that Mesa was able to challenge in 2011, using the same 

documents and evidence that Mesa used to argue its claim almost a decade ago.”446  

298. Third, the Respondent argues that the three-year limitation period cannot be extended on the basis 

of any of the five “additional facts” that Messrs. John and Derek Tennant allege they learned of 

only after the Mesa Power hearing.447 With respect to the last three additional facts, namely (a) 

special meetings between senior Ontario government officials and senior wind power corporate 

officials; (b) the Ontario Ministry of Energy’s decisions not to follow the FIT Program’s terms; 

and (c) to not allocate all the available power transmission to successful FIT Program applications, 

the Respondent maintains that these were all publicly known prior to the Critical Date, through 

media reports, government publications, and the submissions in the Mesa Power and Windstream 

Energy arbitrations.448 

                                                      
 
441 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 141, quoting Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 

2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 4 October 2011, ¶ 33 (R-5); Memorial, ¶ 235. 
442 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 141, quoting Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 

2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 4 October 2011, ¶ 50 (R-5); Notice of Arbitration, ¶ 62. 
443 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 141, referring to Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 

2012-17, Investor’s Answer on Canada’s Preliminary Objections on Jurisdiction, 19 February 2013, ¶¶ 85, 
143(b) (R-13); Memorial, ¶¶ 746, 748; Rejoinder, ¶ 97. 

444  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 140. See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 21:10-15. 
445  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 768:5-770:23. 
446 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 142. 
447  Rejoinder, ¶¶ 83-84. 
448  Rejoinder, ¶ 91. 
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299. With respect to the first two facts, namely the so-called “Breakfast Club” conspiracy of 

government officials and the alleged preferential treatment that IPC received under the FIT 

Program, the Respondent maintains that even if they only became known to the Claimant after 

the Critical Date, the Claimant’s claims are still time-barred under Article 1116(2).449 This is 

because, the Respondent contends, the “essence of the Claimant’s complaint is that Ontario 

favoured certain FIT Program applicants over others for improper political reasons”.450 Thus, the 

Respondent argues that identifying further alleged “political favourites” and other “secret 

meetings” simply provides additional information relating to the same underlying breach, and is 

insufficient constitute an entirely new self-standing cause of action that would restart the 

limitation period under Article 1116(2).451  

300. This position, the Respondent contends, is proven by the fact that although Mesa Power did not 

have these additional facts when it filed its claim in 2011, it relied heavily on them in its post-

hearing submissions, after they were revealed through witness cross-examination and document 

production, to buttress its Article 1105 claim – the same claim on which the Claimant alleges 

these facts are based.452 In this respect, the Respondent argues that the Claimant cannot use 

“unfounded allegations by Mesa Power” dismissed by the Mesa Power tribunal as matters of 

objective fact to form the basis to start the limitation period afresh.453 

301. Further, the Respondent points out that the Claimant has failed to articulate “anything distinct 

about its allegations with respect to [IPC] that distinguish them from its allegations with respect 

to NextEra” despite its argument that the situation with respect to IPC was “different” and 

“significantly worse” from the events relating to NextEra. 454  In the Respondent’s view, the 

Claimant’s argument with respect to IPC is the “exact same claim” on which the Claimant’s 

alleged breach of Article 1105 rests, the “exact claim” that the Claimant’s damages experts 

quantify, and the “exact one” Mesa Power filed in 2011.455 As such, the Respondent underlines 

that the Claimant could have filed the same claim in 2011 that it filed in 2017 regarding the alleged 

undue political interference that prevented the Claimant from receiving a FIT program on 4 July 

2011.456 

                                                      
 
449  Rejoinder, ¶ 85. 
450 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 145. 
451 Rejoinder, ¶ 98; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 86:3-89:20, 90:11-14.  
452  Rejoinder, ¶ 90. 
453  Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 69-71. 
454  Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 65-66, quoting Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 891:16-19.  
455  Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 67-68.  
456  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 67. See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 746:10-14. 
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302. In any event, the Respondent reiterates that the information with respect to alleged favouritism 

was publicly available prior to the Critical Date in the context of the Mesa Power written 

submissions.457 Thus, the time in which further alleged “political favourites” or details regarding 

specific meetings became known is irrelevant for triggering the time-limit established in Article 

1116(2).458 

 Measures Concerning the Handling of Documents 

303. As an initial matter, the Respondent observes that the Claimant has not alleged in its submissions 

any new information that supposedly became public after 1 June 2014 in respect of its claim that 

the Respondent improperly destroyed or suppressed necessary and material evidence of their 

internationally unlawful actions, such that it would make its claim timely.459  

304. Notwithstanding this, the Respondent submits that ample information concerning the handling of 

documents by the Ontario officials was made public before the Critical Date.460  

305. First, according to the Respondent, information regarding the alleged spoliation of documents that 

was publicly available before the Critical Date included (a) the Official Report of the Debates in 

the Estimates Committee and the Justice Policy Committee of the Legislative Assembly in 2012 

and 2013, when they conducted their work concerning the cancellation of the two gas plants;461 

(b) the report of the Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario dated 5 June 2013 on its 

investigation into the destruction of e-mails relating to the relocation and cancellation of the gas 

                                                      
 
457 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 144; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 64; Meet Mike, mikecrawley.ca, 2012, (C-166); Bruce 

Transmission Project Rankings, 21 December 2010 (C-104); Letter from George Smitherman (Minister of 
Energy) to Colin Anderson (OPA), Direction to OPA, 30 September 2009 (C-186); Directive from Minister 
of Energy, the Honourable Brad Duguid to Colin Anderson, CEO, Ontario Power Authority, 3 June 2011 
(C-176); Bruce-Milton Contract List, 4 July 2011 (C-25). See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 
2, 278:7-280:1; Skyway 127 Project History – Attachments Only, 1 September 2011 (C-27). 

458 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 144; Rejoinder, ¶ 98. 
459 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 122; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 72. 
460 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 148; Rejoinder, ¶¶ 100, 102. 
461  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 148; Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, Deleting Accountability: 

Records Management Practices of Political Staff, A Special Investigation Report, 5 June 2013, cover page 
(R-3); Information & Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, ADDENDUM to Deleting Accountability: Records 
Management Practices of Political Staff, A Special Investigation Report, 20 August 2013, p. 3 (R-4). 
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plants, and its addendum dated 20 August 2013;462 and (c) relevant news articles that were 

published in June and September 2013.463  

306. Second, the Respondent contends that the fact that the claimants in the Mesa Power and 

Windstream Energy arbitrations submitted their respective claims before the Critical Date proves 

“that a reasonably prudent investor would have had knowledge of the alleged breach before June 

1, 2014”.464 In Mesa Power, the Respondent notes, the claimant filed the news articles concerning 

the spoliation issue with its memorial of 20 November 2013.465 The Respondent also stresses that 

over 8,000 documents were produced by the Respondent upon which the witnesses were cross-

examined at the Mesa Power hearing with respect to IPC and the “Breakfast Club”. 466  In 

Windstream Energy, the claimant similarly relied upon the Official Report of Debates that took 

place in the two committees, the IPC Report, and the press articles, all of which were publicly 

available prior to the Critical Date and filed with the claimant’s memorial of 19 August 2014.467 

307. Third, the Respondent argues that the Claimant has failed to demonstrate that the information that 

became available after the Mesa Power hearing constitutes a self-standing cause of action separate 

from its allegations regarding the spoliation of documents.468 Even if the documents publicly 

available prior to the Critical Date did not contain specific details discussed by the Claimant, the 

Respondent alleges that “there was still enough publicly available information for the Claimant 

to file its claim years before it finally did.”469  

308. According to the Respondent, statements made by two witnesses in the Mesa Power arbitration 

following certain inquiries of the Claimant also cannot constitute evidence of suppression because 

“[t]he fact that those witnesses indicated there was no issue with how the FIT Program was being 

                                                      
 
462  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 148; Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, Deleting Accountability: 

Records Management Practices of Political Staff, A Special Investigation Report, 5 June 2013, cover page 
(R-3); Information & Privacy Commissioner of Ontario, ADDENDUM to Deleting Accountability: Records 
Management Practices of Political Staff, A Special Investigation Report, 20 August 2013, p. 3 (R-4). 

463 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 150; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, 
Memorial of the Investor, 20 November 2013 [Excerpt], ¶ 11 and fns. 11-12 (R-6). 

464 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 150-152; Rejoinder, ¶ 99; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA 
Case No. 2012-17, Notice of Arbitration, 4 October 2011 (R-5); Windstream Energy LLC v. Government 
of Canada, PCA Case No. 2013-22, Amended Notice of Arbitration, 5 November 2013, originally filed on 
28 January 2013 (R-54). 

465 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 150; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, 
Memorial of the Investor, 20 November 2013 [Excerpt], ¶ 11 and fns. 11-12 (R-6). 

466  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 74. 
467  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 44; Windstream Energy LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2013-22, 

Memorial of the Claimant, 19 August 2014, ¶¶ 366-381 (R-55).  
468 Rejoinder, ¶ 101.  
469 Rejoinder, ¶ 102.  
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run was a true statement […] in line with their written testimony in that arbitration and the 

eventual decision of the Mesa Power tribunal”.470 

309. Fourth, the Respondent asserts that the only documents from the Premier’s Office that purportedly 

show Ontario’s practice of destroying or hiding documents pertained to an unrelated investigation 

concerning gas plants.471 Therefore, to the extent that the Claimant relies on the “code names” to 

allege the Respondent’s improper conduct, the Respondent considers them irrelevant to the FIT 

Program, onshore wind, or Skyway 127’s Project.472  

310. Finally, with respect to the Claimant’s allegations concerning the lack of transparency of the terms 

of the GEIA, the Respondent reiterates that the Mesa Power tribunal found that there was 

sufficient information pertaining to the GEIA in the public domain in November 2009. 473 

Notwithstanding this, the Respondent argues that the Claimant has failed to submit any evidence 

of spoliation with respect to the GEIA.474 

311. The Respondent concludes that, considering the vast public record regarding the three groups of 

challenged measures, and the fact that the Claimant “presents its executives as experienced 

investors and developers in the renewable energy sector in Ontario”, the Claimant was far from a 

“passive observer” of the market and could not reasonably or credibly have been unaware of the 

alleged improprieties regarding these measures.475 Indeed, the Respondent points out that the 

Claimant’s fact witnesses all knew of the existence of the Mesa Power and Windstream Energy 

proceedings, and yet implausibly assumed that they were irrelevant despite the numerous 

similarities the Claimant shared with Mesa Power and Windstream Energy.476 Notwithstanding 

this, the Respondent maintains that “the Claimant could not evade the limitation period by being 

wilfully blind and not obtaining the knowledge any reasonably prudent investor would have 

acquired”,477 and that, at the very least, a reasonably prudent investor should have conducted some 

inquiries into the allegations at the time.478  

                                                      
 
470  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 75; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 2, 282:2-284:7, 309:14-16. 
471  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 73. 
472  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 73. 
473 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 153; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, 

Award, 24 March 2016, ¶ 595 (RLA-1). 
474 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 153. 
475  Rejoinder, ¶ 75. 
476  Rejoinder, ¶ 76. 
477 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 135; Rejoinder, ¶ 75. 
478 Counter-Memorial, ¶ 135. 
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312. Even if suppression of information could be proven, the Respondent argues that the Claimant has 

failed to demonstrate that the specific information that was suppressed gives rise to a self-standing 

caution of action such that the Claimant’s claim is timely under Article 1116(2).479 In this respect, 

the Respondent maintains that the alleged preferential treatment to IPC or the existence of the 

“Breakfast Club” are not separate and distinct from the allegations that the Claimant could have 

made with respect to NextEra prior to the Critical Date.480 

313. In addition to its arguments regarding the date on which the Claimant acquired or should have 

acquired knowledge of the alleged breaches, the Respondent submits that the Claimant also knew, 

or should have known, of alleged loss or damage arising out of such breaches prior to the Critical 

Date.481 In particular, the Respondent notes the Claimant’s acknowledgement that it knew, or 

should have known, of the alleged loss or damage when it failed to receive a FIT Contract on 

4 July 2011 and certainly no later than 12 June 2013, when the OPA stopped procuring renewable 

energy from large-scale FIT projects.482 

2. The Claimant’s Position  

(a) Interpretation of Article 1116(2) of the NAFTA 

314. The Claimant submits that the three-year period established in Article 1116(2) of the NAFTA is 

initiated when there is actual or constructive knowledge of both (a) a breach; and (b) of loss or 

damage that has been incurred as a result.483 The Claimant underscores that these are cumulative 

conditions.484  

315. With respect of the first condition, the Claimant asserts that “[a] breach under the NAFTA does 

not occur until there is breach and knowledge of that breach”.485 The Claimant alleges that the 

determination of the date on which a claimant acquired knowledge of a breach needs to consider 

the operation of continuing acts.486 According to the Claimant, a breach by a continuing action 

entails that the host State “commits a separate breach of international law every day” of which 

                                                      
 
479  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 76. 
480  Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 77-78. 
481 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 155-158. 
482 Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 155-158; Rejoinder, ¶ 106; Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 79; Hearing on Jurisdiction 

Transcript, Day 1, 182:2-4.  
483 Memorial, ¶ 683; Reply, ¶¶ 34-35, 194. 
484 Memorial, ¶ 683; Reply, ¶¶ 34-35, 194. 
485 Reply, ¶ 271. 
486 Reply, ¶ 217. 
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the investor becomes aware every day.487 Therefore, the Claimant argues that this type of breaches 

“cannot be time-barred while the state continues to breach its obligation.”488 This approach, in the 

Claimant’s view, is consistent with the fact that “within the NAFTA context, and outside it, 

international tribunals broadly have approached time limits in a manner to ensure the effectiveness 

of international tribunals to address internationally wrongful behavior.”489 

316. The Claimant refers to the Feldman v. Mexico and UPS v. Canada arbitrations as instances in 

which NAFTA tribunals have “refused to apply Article 1116(2) to bar claims challenging acts 

that were continuing.” 490  In this regard, the Claimant recalls the UPS v. Canada tribunal’s 

determination that “continuing courses of conduct constitute continuing breaches of legal 

obligations and renew the limitation period accordingly.”491 The Claimant also relies on scholarly 

writing, commentaries prepared by the International Law Commission, and decisions of the 

European Court of Human Rights recognising that continuous acts could constitute a breach of 

international obligations.492  

317. Regarding the second condition, the Claimant maintains that a reasonable belief that damages are 

probable would be insufficient to trigger the commencement of the three-year period in 

Article 1116(2) because the damages would not yet have been “incurred” or suffered.493 In this 

respect, the Claimant cites the Pope & Talbot v. Canada tribunal which held that “[t]he critical 

requirement is that the loss has occurred and was known or should have been known by the 

Investor, not that it was or should have been known that loss could or would occur”.494  

318. Lastly, the Claimant reiterates that the Tribunal must assess the Second Objection on the basis of 

the Claimant’s good faith understanding of its own claim and the law and facts as pleaded in its 

                                                      
 
487 Reply, ¶ 218. 
488 Reply, ¶ 218. 
489  Reply, ¶ 237. 
490 Reply, ¶¶ 218-222; Marvin Roy Feldman Karpa v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/99/1, 

Award, 16 December 2002, ¶ 203 (RLA-81); United Parcel Service of America Inc. v. Government of 
Canada, Award on the Merits, 24 May 2007, ¶ 28 (CLA-282). 

491 Reply, ¶ 220; United Parcel Service of America Inc. v. Government of Canada, Award on the Merits, 
24 May 2007, ¶ 28 (CLA-282). 

492  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 38-40, 43-44; James Crawford, The International Law Commission’s Articles on State 
Responsibility (Cambridge University Press, 2002), p. 60(5) (CLA-199); International Law Commission, 
Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with Commentaries, 2001, 
pp. 250-261 (CLA-185). 

493 Reply, ¶ 195. 
494 Reply, ¶ 196; Pope & Talbot Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Award in Relation to Preliminary 

Motion by Government of Canada to Strike Paragraphs 34 and 103 of the Statement of Claim from the 
Record, 24 February 2000, ¶ 12 (RLA-36). 
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Notice of Arbitration.495 Accordingly, absent evidence of bad faith, the Claimant maintains that 

the Tribunal should defer to the Claimant’s judgment about when its claim arose.496 

(b) Whether the Claimant’s Claims Comply with the Time Limit under Article 
1116(2) of the NAFTA  

319. The Claimant submits that the Respondent has failed to carry its burden of proof in establishing 

its affirmative defence that the Claimant’s claims are time-barred under Article 1116(2) because 

it knew or should have known of the alleged breaches before the Critical Date. To the contrary, 

based on the evidence the Claimant has proffered, it knew and could only have known of facts 

that give rise to each of its four claims as identified in paragraph 13 of its Memorial after 

15 August 2015,497 when the Mesa Power post-hearing written submissions and the videos of the 

hearing in that arbitration became available to the public.498 Accordingly, for the Claimant, the 

only relevant date for the purpose of the limitation period under Article 1116(2) is the date when 

it gained actual knowledge of the breach.499 

320. In support of its position, the Claimant first makes several overarching arguments. First, the 

Claimant submits that the date of the alleged breach for purposes of Article 1116(2) is either 

30 April 2015 or 15 August 2015.500 This is because the date of breach “must consider when an 

investor actually knew, or reasonably ought to have known, of the specific breach at issue”, and 

it was on these two dates that key documents from the Mesa Power arbitration were made 

available to the public.501 For the same reasons, the Claimant rejects the Respondent’s position 

that the date of the alleged breach for purposes of Article 1116(2) is either 4 July 2011, when 

Skyway 127 was not awarded a FIT Contract and instead placed on a FIT priority waiting list, or 

12 June 2013, when the FIT Program was terminated.502 According to the Claimant, neither date 

is relevant because even after 4 July 2011, Skyway 127 remained in the running for a contract, 

and 12 June 2013 “occurs well before the time when [the Claimant] had actual or constructive 

knowledge of the internationally wrongful actions taken by Ontario.”503 In the Claimant’s view, 

the Respondent’s “temporal allegations completely ignore the August 15, 2015 date [the 

                                                      
 
495 Reply, ¶ 53. 
496 Reply, ¶ 55. 
497 Reply, ¶¶ 339, 348-410. 
498 Reply, ¶¶ 288-293; Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 15. 
499  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 16-17. 
500  Reply, ¶¶ 268, 276. 
501  Reply, ¶ 44; Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 18. 
502  Reply, ¶¶ 266-267. 
503  Reply, ¶ 267. 
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Claimant] pled and the facts upon which [the Claimant] relies”, and has instead “artificially 

substitute[d] a series of earlier dates in place” thereof.504 

321. The Claimant submits that, absent evidence of bad faith or unreasonableness, the Tribunal “should 

defer to the [Claimant’s] judgment about when its claim arose when assessing whether it complied 

with” Article 1116(2).505 Citing the award in Glamis Gold v. United States, the Claimant asserts 

that since “the basis of the claim is to be determined with reference to the submissions of [the] 

[c]laimant”,506 it “is entitled to argue its claim based on those measures that it finds material and 

relevant”.507 In the present case, the Claimant submits that it has in good faith “articulated specific 

claims that largely rest on information arising from the public revelation of the October 2014 

Mesa Power NAFTA Hearing”,508 and “has been reasonable in arriving at the conclusion that it 

filed its claim within three years of learning of the facts and acts of Canada’s wrongful conduct 

before bringing its Notice of Arbitration.”509 Conversely, the Claimant argues that the Respondent 

has improperly recast the Claimant’s claim as one that mirrors that brought by the claimant in the 

Mesa Power arbitration, and in doing so, completely ignored the facts and the claim as pleaded 

by the Claimant.510  

322. Furthermore, the Claimant asserts that the facts that form the basis of its claims could not have 

been known prior to date in which the materials relating to the Mesa Power hearing became public 

as these were kept secret and suppressed by the Respondent.511 On the basis of its assertion that 

under international law that no one can benefit from their own wrongdoing,512 the Claimant 

submits that the Respondent cannot benefit from the measures it took to disguise and hide its 

wrongfulness from the public.513 

323. Based on the above premises, the Claimant submits that the information that was publicly 

available prior to 1 June 2014, including the numerous public documents used in the Mesa Power 

                                                      
 
504  Reply, ¶ 286. 
505  Reply, ¶ 55. 
506 Reply, ¶ 315; Glamis Gold, Ltd. v. United States of America, UNCITRAL, Award, 8 June 2009, ¶ 349 

(CLA-315). 
507  Reply, ¶ 31. 
508  Reply, ¶¶ 31, 53. See also Memorial, ¶¶ 711-713. 
509  Reply, ¶ 56. 
510  Reply, ¶¶ 19, 30, 309. See also Memorial, ¶¶ 711-713. 
511 Reply, ¶ 337. 
512 Reply, ¶¶ 241-243; Bin Cheng, General Principles of Law as Applied by International Courts and Tribunals 

(Cambridge University Press, 1953), p. 149 (CLA-108); Case Concerning the Factory at Chorzów 
(Germany v. Poland), PCIJ Series A, No. 9, 1927, p. 31 (CLA-318); Frances Irene Roberts case, Reports 
of International Awards, Vol. IX, 1903-1904, p. 207 (CLA-319). 

513 Reply, ¶¶ 240-244. 
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arbitration, did not disclose the information that could allow any of the claims to arise.514 Contrary 

to the claims in Mesa Power, which were grounded on a “generalized suspicion” of political 

favouritism, the Claimant asserts that the claims at stake in the instant case are based upon the 

admission of a government official of the existence of a “specific conspiracy of the most senior 

officials”.515 Accordingly, its claims arise out of information that was only made public after the 

Critical Date, and in particular, the out of the following four “new” facts. 

324. First, the Claimant submits that the post-hearing submissions in the Mesa Power arbitration, 

which were published on 15 August 2015, “made it public knowledge for the first time that 

‘Ontario granted special transmission privileges to the members of the Korean Consortium despite 

the fact that the Korean Consortium was non-compliant with the binding terms of the GEIA 

[…]’”.516 The Claimant posits that the mentioned written submissions disclosed, inter alia, that a 

government official admitted that the Korean Consortium was having trouble meeting the 

deadlines provided for in the GEIA for the first phases of its project.517   

325. The Claimant asserts that the formerly described facts serve as the sole basis for its claim in 

connection with the Korean Consortium, 518 and that therefore, contrary to the Respondent’s 

suggestion, the existence and terms of the GEIA are not the matter at issue in this arbitration.519 

Moreover, the Claimant contends that the Respondent has failed to produce any evidence to 

support the proposition that the facts that give rise to its claim were in the public domain prior to 

the Critical Date.520 In this respect, the Claimant also disputes the Respondent’s assertion that the 

2011 Ontario’s Auditor General Report contained information regarding the extension granted to 

the Korean Consortium for the completion of the first phases of its project.521 To the contrary, the 

Claimant asserts that the report makes no reference to the extension of the referred deadline.522 

326. Second, the Claimant maintains that it could only have acquired knowledge of the special 

protection provided by the Respondent to IPC when the Mesa Power post-hearing written 

                                                      
 
514 Reply, ¶¶ 293-294, 326-329. See also Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 117:17-118:22.  
515 Reply, ¶ 342. 
516 Memorial, ¶ 744; Notice of Arbitration, ¶¶ 99-101. See also Reply, ¶ 349; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. 

Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Hearing Transcript Day 3, 28 October 2014, 39:22-40:23 
(C-121). 

517 Reply, ¶ 354; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Hearing 
Transcript Day 3, 28 October 2014, 97:19-98:2 (C-121). 

518 Reply, ¶ 350. 
519 Reply, ¶ 350. 
520 Reply, ¶ 351. 
521 Reply, ¶ 354; Counter-Memorial, ¶ 130. 
522 Reply, ¶ 354; Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2011 Annual Report, pp. 108, 116 (R-2). 
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submissions were published. 523  In particular, the Claimant submits, the Mesa Power’s 

submissions recorded admissions made by representatives of Ontario during the Mesa Power 

hearing that (a) a “Breakfast Club” of senior government officials held secret meetings to, inter 

alia, take steps to protect the business prospects of applicants to the FIT program which had 

connections with the Ontario government; 524 (b) that the “Breakfast Club” gave preferential 

treatment to IPC to ensure that they were protected from the Korean Consortium set aside and 

allowed for connection changes so that IPC would still receive FIT Contracts;525 and (c) that IPC 

was “[a] key political supporter of the Ontario governing Liberal Party” and the President of IPC 

was the past president of the governing Ontario Liberal Party.526 

327. While the Claimant admits that Mr. Pennie was aware of the allegations made by Mesa Power 

through press reports around 14 July 2011,527 the Claimant stresses that even a professional 

investigative journalist, who reviewed all the available public information regarding “the politics 

of Ontario’s energy policy in relation to renewable and clean energy”, could not locate any 

evidence on the existence of the “Breakfast Club” conspiracy before the submissions were 

published.528 Therefore, contrary to the Respondent’s assertions, the Claimant maintains that none 

of the documents that the Respondent has enumerated as being available prior to the Critical Date 

reveals the above facts.529 

328. Further, the Claimant notes that when Mr. John Pennie made repeated contacts to obtain 

information from the OPA officials after the Mesa Power allegations became public, the officials 

confirmed only “untrue” statements that the FIT Program rules were fairly and consistently 

followed and denied their wrongful conduct continuously.530  

329. Third, the Claimant submits that the Mesa Power hearing videos, which were published on 

15 August 2015, made public for the first time an Ontario government official’s admission that 

the Respondent granted the Vice President of NextEra access to a meeting with the 

                                                      
 
523 Memorial, ¶¶ 742-743; Reply, ¶¶ 60, 358; Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 27; Mesa Power Group LLC v. Government 

of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 16 (C-17). See also Memorial, ¶¶ 750-753. 
524 Reply, ¶ 359(a); Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 121:3-14. 
525 Reply, ¶ 361; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Investor’s Post-

Hearing Brief, 18 December 2014, ¶ 158 (C-17). 
526 Reply, ¶¶ 361-362; Notice of Arbitration, ¶ 81; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA 

Case No. 2012-17, Hearing Transcript Day 6, 31 October 2014, 54:19-23, 284:11-16 (C-125). 
527  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 19. 
528  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 28; Witness Statement of Peter Wolchak, filed in Mesa Power Group, LLC v. 

Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, 28 April 2014, ¶ 3 (C-203). 
529  Reply, ¶ 359. 
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531 According to the Claimant, this meeting “lead to NextEra’s six projects receiving FIT 

Contracts”.532 

330. The Claimant asserts that none of the public sources referred to by the Respondent mention the 

meeting of the with the Vice President of NextEra, which is the basis of its 

claim related to the treatment afforded to NextEra.533 While the Claimant acknowledges that the 

Mesa Power written submissions publicly available prior to the Critical Date discussed the close 

relationship between NextEra and mid and low-level government officials, these did not refer to 

the high-level interactions between NextEra and the Ontario Government.534 In this regard, the 

Claimant underlines that the meetings held between the NextEra and government officials 

between January and April 2011 referred to in the sources identified by the Respondent were “not 

[] secret meeting[s] with a high-level official” and did not “suggest to a FIT Proponent that 

nefarious or improper conduct was underway”.535 

331. Fourth, the Claimant alleges that it only acquired knowledge of how the spoliation of documents 

by Ontario officials affected its interest when the Mesa Power hearing videos were introduced 

into the public domain.536 The Claimant contends that its claim concerning the spoliation of 

documents is based on the fact that this conduct took place at a time when senior government 

officials were affording preferential treatment to certain FIT applicants.537  

332. In particular, the Claimant alleges that, as disclosed in the Trillium Wind case, “code names” were 

used by Ontario officials to delay or block production of documents relating to the energy policy 

decisions in Ontario.538 The Claimant admits that it “do[es] not know the code name for onshore 

projects under the FIT Program”, but takes the view, based on the fact that the person criminally 

convicted for the destruction of documents was a member of the “Breakfast Club”, that there was 

                                                      
 
531 Reply, ¶¶ 367-368, 371; Mesa Power Group, LLC v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2012-17, Day 

3, Part 2 Hearing Video, 28 October 2014, 1:25:35, 1:27:21 (C-204). See also Memorial, ¶¶ 748-749. 
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533 Reply, ¶¶ 378-384; Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 22, 30. 
534 Reply, ¶ 367. 
535 Reply, ¶¶ 390-397. 
536 Memorial, ¶¶ 754-755; Reply, ¶¶ 401-403. 
537 Reply, ¶ 406. 
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Amended Statement of Claim, 18 June 2015 (CLA-278). 
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a “direct link” between the “Breakfast Club” and the “systematic and endemic efforts secretly 

taken by the Ontario government” to avoid the disclosure of information.539  

333. The Claimant rejects the Respondent’s argument that the confidentiality designations of the Mesa 

Power hearing videos did not amount a measure under the Treaty because, in the Claimant’s view, 

the designations, notwithstanding the notice from Mesa Power that they were not confidential and 

the fact that the videos were made available for years to the public, were part of the Respondent’s 

“practice” of actively suppressing information.540 

334. Further to the above, the Claimant submits that, based on the witness statement of Messrs. John 

Tennant, Derek Tennant and John Pennie, the Claimant did not have actual knowledge of the 

alleged breaches prior to August 2015, i.e., until after the release of information arising from the 

Mesa Power hearing, resulting to a tolling of the limitation period.541  

335. In light of the foregoing, the Claimant argues that its claims are not time-barred because the 

evidence demonstrates that the Respondent’s continuous act of “delaying, denying and 

distracting” occurred in a three-year zone. 542  Such non-instantaneous systematic acts of 

concealing information and abuse of process, according to the Claimant, constitute continuous 

and composite breaches of the Respondent’s international obligations. 543  Consequently, the 

Claimant contends that a self-standing cause of action crystallized when it first acquired 

knowledge of the Respondent’s unfair conduct in 2015.544  

3. The Non-Disputing Parties’ Submissions 

(a) Submissions of the United States and Mexico 

336. The non-disputing Parties agree that Article 1116(2) imposes a ratione temporis jurisdictional 

limitation on the authority of a tribunal to act on the merits of a dispute.545 The non-disputing 

Parties further highlight that NAFTA tribunals have recognized the three-year limitation period 

                                                      
 
539  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 141; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 128:17-129:19. 
540  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 865:2-866:13. 
541 Reply, ¶¶ 412-420; ; Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 35, 48-49; Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶¶ 37-40 (CWS-2); 

Witness Statement of Derek Tennant, ¶¶ 47-51 (CWS-3); Pennie Statement, ¶¶ 70, 94, 96-97, 99-101 
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542  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 879:5-7. 
543  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 1, 146:25-147:2, 148:10-20.  
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to be a “clear and rigid” requirement that is not subject to any “suspension, prolongation or other 

qualification”.546 

337. The non-disputing Parties agree that the limitation period under Article 1116(2) begins to run on 

the particular “date” when an investor “first acquires knowledge of an alleged breach and loss”.547 

Such knowledge, the United States notes, “cannot first be acquired at multiple points in time or 

on a recurring basis”.548 As such, once the investor knows or should have known, of the alleged 

breach and loss or damage, subsequent transgressions by a Party arising from a continuing course 

of conduct do not renew the limitation period, as consistently confirmed by NAFTA tribunals.549 

The United States adds that allowing an investor to “evade” the limitation period by basing its 

claim on the ground of continued violation would render the limitation period ineffective and 

undermine a NAFTA Party’s consent to arbitration.550  

338. The non-disputing Parties agree that the knowledge requirement under Article 1116(2) may be 

satisfied either by actual knowledge (“first acquired”) or constructive knowledge (“should have 

first acquired”).551 In this respect, the non-disputing Parties endorse the finding of the Grand 

River tribunal that “[c]onstructive knowledge’ of a fact is imputed to person if by exercise of 

reasonable care of diligence, the person would have known of that fact”.552 Accordingly, the 

United States notes that the test for constructive knowledge is an objective standard, that of a 

“reasonably prudent investor”.553  

                                                      
 
546  Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 9; Grand River Enterprise Six Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, Kenneth Hill 
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549  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 4; Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 10; Grand River Enterprise Six 

Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, Kenneth Hill and Arthur Montour v. United States of America, Decision on 
Objections to Jurisdiction, 20 July 2006, ¶ 81 (RLA-70); Mobil Investments Canada Inc. and Murphy Oil 
Corporation v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. ARB/15/6, Decision on Jurisdiction and 
Admissibility, 13 July 2018, ¶ 146 (RLA-131). 

550  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 5. 
551  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 7; Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 11. 
552  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 7; Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 11; Grand River Enterprise Six 

Nations Ltd. v. United States of America, Decision on Objections to Jurisdiction, 20 July 2006, ¶ 59 
(RLA-70). 

553  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 7; Grand River Enterprise Six Nations, Ltd., Jerry Montour, Kenneth 
Hill and Arthur Montour v. United States of America, Decision on Objections to Jurisdiction, 20 July 2006, 
¶ 66 (RLA-70); Aaron C. Berkowitz, Brett E. Berkowitz and Trevor B. Berkowitz (formerly Spence 

PUBLIC VERSION



PCA Case Nº 2018-54 
Final Award 

Page 98 of 137 
 
 

 

339. With respect to the knowledge of “incurred loss or damage”, the non-disputing Parties agree that 

an investor need not have full knowledge of the loss or damage incurred in order to start the 

limitation period under Article 1116(2).554 The United States further explains that the investor 

may “incur” loss or damage even if the financial impact of that loss or damage is not immediate.555 

(b) The Respondent’s Reply to the Submissions of the Non-Disputing Parties 

340. According to the Respondent, the NAFTA Parties’ agreement on the interpretation of 

Article 1116(2) is “both consistent and longstanding”.556 

341. First, the NAFTA Parties agree that Article 1116(2) imposes a “clear and rigid” limitation period 

that is not subject to any suspension, prolongation, or other qualification.557 Noting that past 

NAFTA tribunals have followed this strict interpretation of the limitation period in Article 

1116(2), the Respondent submits that there is no reason for the Tribunal to depart from this well-

established rule.558 

342. Second, the NAFTA Parties agree that the limitation period in Article 1116(2) begins to run on 

the date when an investor first acquires knowledge of the alleged breach and the alleged loss.559 

In addition, the “longstanding view of the NAFTA Parties” is that the first acquisition of 

knowledge can occur only once and that subsequent State conduct relating to the same alleged 

breach does not renew or reset the limitation period.560 Echoing the submissions of both Mexico 

and the United States, the Respondent posits that allowing a claimant to circumvent the three-

year statute of limitations on the grounds of continued breach would run contrary to a NAFTA 

Party’s consent to arbitration.561 

                                                      
 

International Investments and others) v. Republic of Costa Rica, ICSID Case No. UNCT13/2, Interim 
Award (Corrected), 30 May 2017, ¶ 209 (RLA-136). 

554  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 6; Mexico’s Second Submission, ¶ 12. 
555  United States’ Second Submission, ¶ 6. 
556  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 17. 
557  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 18. 
558  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 18 
559  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 19. 
560  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 19.  
561  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 19. 
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343. Third, the NAFTA Parties agree that the test for constructive knowledge (“should have acquired”) 

is an objective one, assessed against the standard of what a reasonably prudent investor should 

have known, as formulated in Grand River v. United States.562 

344. Finally, the NAFTA Parties agree with the finding in Mondev v. United States that a claimant 

need not have full knowledge of the allegedly “incurred loss or damage” in order to start the 

limitation period under Article 1116(2).563 

(c) The Claimant’s Reply to the Submissions of the Non-Disputing Parties 

345. For the Claimant, the test for constructive knowledge formulated in Grand River v. United States 

is too narrow and is not consistent with the objectives and context of the NAFTA.564 Noting that 

its claims first arose in 2015 with the release of information from the Mesa Power hearing in 

October 2014, the Claimant considers that “it would be inequitable to allow Canada to 

wrongful[ly] hide the knowledge of its wrongfulness and at the same time suggest that the time 

clock was running”.565  

346. Relying on Resolute Forest Products v. Canada, the Claimant submits that Tennant Energy could 

not have known of the wrongful actions of the Respondent due to the Respondent’s “subterfuge 

in hiding this information from the public” and that the Respondent’s practices to ensure that no 

information was available to the public could not allow the time clock to run.566 Given that the 

Respondent has not challenged the jurisdiction for actions that arose after Tennant Energy had its 

shares formally registered in 2015, the Claimant argues that the Tribunal has jurisdiction to hear 

to its claims.567 

VII. THE TRIBUNAL’S ANALYSIS 

347. As set out above, the Respondent’s two Preliminary Objections are: 

                                                      
 
562  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 20, referring to Grand River Enterprises Six Nations, 

Ltd., Jerry Montour, Kenneth Hill and Arthur Montour v. United States of America, UNCITRAL, Decision 
on Objections to Jurisdiction, 20 July 2006, ¶ 59 (RLA-70). 

563  Respondent’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶ 21, referring to Mondev International Ltd. v. United 
States America, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/99/2, Award, 11 October 2002, ¶ 87 (RLA-83). 

564  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, fn. 1. 
565  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶¶ 7, 13. See also Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 180-181. 
566  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶¶ 14-15, 21, referring to Resolute Forest Products v. 

Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2016-13, Decision on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 30 January 
2018, ¶ 154 (RLA-79).  

567  Claimant’s Second Article 1128 Submission, ¶¶ 21-22. 
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(a) First Objection: the Tribunal has no jurisdiction ratione temporis under Article 1116(1) 

because the Claimant was not an “investor of a Party” when the alleged breach occurred. 

(b) Second Objection: the Tribunal has no jurisdiction ratione temporis because the Claimant 

failed to submit its claim within the three-year limitation period established by Article 

1116(2) of the NAFTA. 

348. The Tribunal turns first, below, to the objection that the Claimant was not an “investor of a Party” 

when the breach occurred. In setting out its analysis on both objections, the Tribunal has 

considered all relevant factual and legal arguments presented in the disputing Parties’ written 

submissions and oral presentations. The fact that any argument, allegation or any specific 

evidence is not mentioned does not mean that the Tribunal has not considered it. 

A. THE FIRST OBJECTION  

1. Preliminary Considerations 

349. The Tribunal agrees with the Respondent, and with the United States and Mexico in their Article 

1128 submissions, that compliance with Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA constitutes a jurisdictional 

requirement in respect of which the Claimant bears the burden of proof.  

350. Article 1122(1) of the NAFTA states that “[e]ach Party consents to the submission of a claim to 

arbitration in accordance with the procedures set out in this Agreement”. Unless a claim is 

submitted in accordance with the procedures under NAFTA, there is no consent. The Tribunal 

agrees with the Respondent that consent is a question of jurisdiction.568 

351. Article 1116(1) states that an investor of a Party “may submit to arbitration” a claim that another 

Party has breached an obligation under Section A, Chapter Eleven of the NAFTA and that the 

investor has incurred loss or damage by reason of, or arising out of, that breach. In the Tribunal’s 

view, the clear inference of Article 1122(1) read with Article 1116(1) is that NAFTA Parties do 

not consent to arbitrate a claim which does not satisfy the conditions under Article 1116(1). 

352. The Tribunal notes that NAFTA tribunals have consistently held that compliance with Article 

1116(1) is required to establish a NAFTA Party’s consent to arbitration and in turn a tribunal’s 

                                                      
 
568  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 55; William Ralph Clayton, William Richard Clayton, Douglas Clayton, Daniel 

Clayton and Bilcon of Delaware, Inc. v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2009-04, Award on 
Jurisdiction and Liability, 17 March 2015, ¶ 229 (RLA-3); Methanex Corporation v. United States of 
America, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 7 August 2002, ¶ 120 (RLA-2). 
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jurisdiction, and that it is for the claimant to establish that it satisfies the requirements under 

Article 1116(1).569 The Tribunal sees no good reason to depart from such jurisprudence. The cases 

cited by the Claimant, including Pope & Talbot v. Canada, do not state that an objection under 

Article 1116(1) constitutes an “affirmative defence”, nor that the respondent bears the burden of 

proving that the claim does not satisfy the conditions under Article 1116(1).  

353. The Claimant relies on Article 24(1) of the UNCITRAL Rules, which states that “[e]ach party 

shall have the burden of proving the facts relied on to support his claim or defence”. In the 

Tribunal’s view, this is simply a restatement of the general principle that a party who relies on a 

fact to support his claim bears the evidentiary burden of proving it. The Tribunal agrees with the 

Respondent that this principle does not override the Claimant’s legal burden of establishing the 

Tribunal’s jurisdiction.570 In Resolute Forest Products v. Canada, the tribunal found that Article 

24(1) of the UNCITRAL Rules imposes on the claimant the burden of proving the facts necessary 

to establish that a claim has been brought in accordance with Section B of the NAFTA Chapter 

Eleven.571 The Tribunal agrees.  

354. Having found that it is the Claimant’s legal burden to establish that it satisfies the requirements 

under Article 1116(1), the Tribunal considers it necessary to clarify the standard of proof that the 

Claimant must satisfy at the jurisdictional phase. In the Tribunal’s view, the standard of proof is 

twofold: (a) where an alleged fact is relevant to the merits, the Claimant needs only to establish 

that fact on a prima facie basis; and (b) where an alleged fact is necessary to establish the 

Tribunal’s jurisdiction, the Claimant must prove it. This distinction was explained by the tribunal 

in Phoenix Action, Ltd v. Czech Republic:572  

“60. In the Tribunal’s view, it cannot take all the facts as alleged by the Claimant as 
granted facts, as it should do according to the Claimant, but must look into the role 
these facts play either at the jurisdictional level or at the merits level, as asserted by 
the Respondent.  

61. If the alleged facts are facts that, if proven, would constitute a violation of the 
relevant BIT, they have indeed to be accepted as such at the jurisdictional stage, until 

                                                      
 
569  Counter-Memorial, ¶ 56; Rejoinder, ¶ 18; Methanex Corporation v. United States of America, UNCITRAL, 

Partial Award, 7 August 2002, ¶ 120 (RLA-2); Vito G. Gallo v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 
55798, Award, 15 September 2011, ¶¶ 277, 325-326 (RLA-4); Resolute Forest Products Inc. v. 
Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2016-13, Decision on Jurisdiction and Admissibility, 30 January 
2018, ¶¶ 82-83 (RLA-79); B-Mex, LLC and others v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. 
ARB(AF)/16/3, Partial Award, 19 July 2019, ¶ 145 (RLA-121). 

570  Rejoinder, ¶ 19. 
571  Resolute Forest Products Inc. v. Government of Canada, PCA Case No. 2016-13, Decision on Jurisdiction 

and Admissibility, 30 January 2018, ¶ 84 (RLA-79). 
572  Phoenix Action, Ltd. v. Czech Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/06/5, Award, 15 April 2009, ¶¶ 60-63 

(RLA-5). 
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their existence is ascertained or not at the merits level. On the contrary, if jurisdiction 
rests on the existence of certain facts, they have to be proven at the jurisdictional 
stage. For example, in the present case, all findings of the Tribunal to the effect that 
there exists a protected investment must be proven, unless the question could not be 
ascertained at that stage, in which case it should be joined to the merits. 

62. This double approach is routinely followed by arbitral tribunals. The alleged facts 
complained of have to be accepted pro tem at the jurisdictional phase. Recently, the 
tribunal in Saipem v. Bangladesh: 

“The Tribunal’s task is to determine the meaning and scope of the provisions 
upon which [the claimant] relies to assert jurisdiction and to assess whether 
the facts alleged by [the claimant] fall within those provisions or would be 
capable, if proven, of constituting breaches of the treaty obligations involved. 
In performing this task, the Tribunal will apply a prima facie standard, both 
to the determination of the meaning and scope of the relevant BIT provisions 
and to the assessment whether the facts alleged may constitute breaches of 
these provisions. In doing so, the Tribunal will assess whether [the claimant’s] 
case is reasonably arguable on its face. If the result is affirmative, jurisdiction 
will be established but the existence of breaches will remain to be litigated on 
the merits.” 

It is quite clear that the tribunal refers here to facts capable of being analyzed as a 
breach of the BIT, and not to facts whose existence is necessary to support 
jurisdiction. 

63. If, on the contrary, the alleged facts are facts on which the jurisdiction of the tribunal 
rests, it seems evident that the tribunal has to decide on those facts, if contested 
between the parties, and cannot accept the facts as alleged by the claimant. The 
tribunal must take into account the facts and their interpretation as alleged by the 
claimant, as well as the facts and their interpretation as alleged by the respondent, 
and take a decision on their existence and proper interpretation. To take a simple 
example, if under a BIT entered into by Italy, a tribunal only has jurisdiction if the 
claimant is an Italian investor and if, at the jurisdictional level, a claimant asserts that 
he is Italian, and the respondent alleges that he is not, the tribunal cannot simply 
accept the facts as asserted by the claimant and confirm its jurisdiction, but it has to 
make a decision in order to verify whether or not it has jurisdiction ratione personae 
over the investor, based on his Italian nationality.” 

355. The Tribunal agrees with this analysis. For the purposes of the First Objection, the Tribunal must 

therefore be satisfied that the Claimant has established, on a prima facie basis, that its claim on 

the merits falls within the scope of Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA. In addition, where the Claimant 

asserts facts which are necessary to establish the Tribunal’s jurisdiction, including that there exists 

a protected investment and that the Claimant is a protected investor, the Tribunal must make a 

finding on whether these facts have been proven by the Claimant. 
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2. The Pre-conditions for Jurisdiction under Article 1116(1)  

356. The corollary of the Tribunal’s finding that Article 1116(1) constitutes a jurisdictional 

requirement is that, unless all conditions under Article 1116(1) are satisfied to the requisite 

standard of proof, the Tribunal has no jurisdiction to hear the present claim. Article 1116(1) of 

the NAFTA states:  

“Article 1116: Claim by an Investor of a Party on Its Own Behalf 

1. An investor of a Party may submit to arbitration under this Section a claim that another 
Party has breached an obligation under: 

(a) Section A or Article 1503(2) (State Enterprises), or 

(b) Article 1502(3)(a) (Monopolies and State Enterprises) where the monopoly has 
acted in a manner inconsistent with the Party's obligations under Section A, 

and that the investor has incurred loss or damage by reason of, or arising out of, that 
breach.” 

357. On a plain reading of Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA, the following requirements must be satisfied 

to the requisite standard of proof for the Tribunal to have jurisdiction:  

(a) First, the claimant must be “[a]n investor of a Party”. For the reasons explained above, the 

facts which establish the Claimant’s status as an “investor of a Party” within the meaning 

of the NAFTA must be proven by the Claimant. 

(b) Second, the claimant must allege a breach of a NAFTA obligation. Where the claimant 

alleges a breach of an obligation under Section A, Chapter Eleven of the NAFTA, Article 

1101 (“Scope and Coverage”) must be satisfied. Article 1101(1) establishes both the scope 

and coverage of the substantive protections accorded to investors and investments as well 

as the scope of the rights to submit disputes to arbitration. Pursuant to Article 1101, the 

claim must target measures adopted or maintained by a Party “relating to” investors of 

another Party and investments of investors of another Party in the territory of the Party. In 

this regard, the Tribunal’s role is to assess whether the claim, as stated by the Claimant in 

its Notice of Arbitration and Memorial, prima facie satisfies the requirements of Article 

1101 and therefore falls within the scope and coverage of the NAFTA. The Tribunal must 

not attempt at this stage to determine the merits of the claim.573 

                                                      
 
573  Amco Asia Corporation and Others v. Republic of Indonesia, ICSID Case No. ARB/81/1, Decision on 

Jurisdiction, 25 September 1983, ¶ 38 (CLA-283). 
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(c) Third, the claimant must have incurred loss or damage by reason of, or arising out of, the 

alleged breach. Since Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA refers to “the” investor having 

incurred loss or damage, the same “investor of a Party” who brings the claim must itself 

have suffered loss or damage arising from the breach.574 The Claimant must establish, on 

a prima facie basis, that it had itself suffered loss or damage by reason of, or arising out of, 

the alleged breach. The Claimant need not prove the extent of such loss or damage suffered, 

given that these facts necessarily relate to the Claimant’s case on the merits.575  

(d) Fourth, the claimant must be bringing the claim on its own behalf, and not on behalf of 

another party. Article 1116 of the NAFTA is entitled “Claim by an Investor of a Party on 

Its Own Behalf”, which is contrasted with Article 1117, entitled “Claim by an Investor of 

a Party on Behalf of an Enterprise”.  

358. The Tribunal notes that Article 1116 of the NAFTA does not expressly state that the claimant-

investor must be the same investor who owned or controlled the investment at the time of the 

alleged breach, or that the allegedly wrongful measures must have directly affected the claimant-

investor.  

3. Whether the Claimant is an “investor of a Party” 

359. Article 1139 of the NAFTA defines an “investor of a Party” as follows:  

“investor of a Party means a Party or state enterprise thereof, or a national or an enterprise 
of such Party, that seeks to make, is making or has made an investment;” 

360. Article 1139 further defines an “investment of an investor of a Party” as follows:  

“investment of an investor of a Party means an investment owned or controlled directly 
or indirectly by an investor of such Party;” 

361. “Investment” is defined broadly under Article 1139 to include many different types of 

investments, including an enterprise and shares in an enterprise.  

                                                      
 
574  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 

31 January 2022, ¶ 200 (RLA-207). 
575  Pope & Talbot Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Award on Preliminary Motion to Dismiss the 

Claim Because it Falls Outside the Scope and Coverage of NAFTA Chapter Eleven, 26 January 2000, ¶ 25 
(CLA-284): “In its Statement of Claim the Investor claims that the breaches described above relate to the 
Investor or the Investment, and that in each case it or the Investment has sustained loss or damage by reason 
of those breaches. For the purposes of the present Motion, the Tribunal must take those assertions of fact 
as true.” 
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362. Tennant Energy is a United States’ corporation. Presently, Tennant Energy owns shares in 

Skyway 127,576 an Ontario corporation. This makes Tennant Energy an investor as defined by 

paragraph (b) of the definition of “investment” under Article 1139 of the NAFTA.  

363. The Respondent does not challenge the Claimant’s current status as an investor. Instead, the 

Respondent objects to jurisdiction on the basis that the Claimant was not an investor when the 

alleged NAFTA breach occurred. The Respondent submits that all of the measures alleged by the 

Claimant to breach Article 1105 occurred before the Claimant became an “investor of a Party” on 

15 January 2015.577 This objection requires an analysis of when the Claimant first became an 

“investor of a Party” and when the alleged breaches occurred, which the Tribunal considers in 

turn below. 

4. When the Claimant Became an “investor of a Party”  

364. It is evident from the definition of “investment of an investor of a Party” under Article 1139 that 

the Claimant does not need to both own and control an investment in order to qualify as an 

“investor of a Party”. The Claimant needs only to show that it either owned or controlled the 

investment.  

365. There is no dispute that the Claimant obtained legal ownership of 45.2% of the shares of Skyway 

127 on 15 January 2015. The Claimant alleges that it was an investor of a Party even prior to 15 

January 2015 because:  

(a) the Claimant owned Skyway 127 shares beneficially under an oral trust created in April 

2011;578 and/or 

(b) the Claimant controlled Skyway 127 since 31 December 2011.579 

366. The Tribunal considers each allegation below. 

                                                      
 
576  Memorial, ¶ 773(d); Pennie Statement, ¶ 66(d) (CWS-1). 
577  Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 62-63. 
578  Reply, ¶¶ 2(a)-(b), 119.  
579  Reply, ¶ 154. 
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5. Ownership 

(a) The Alleged Existence of an Oral Trust 

367. As mentioned above, the Claimant asserts that Mr. John Tennant acquired 11.3% of Skyway 127 

shares on 19 April 2011 to be held in trust, and designated Tennant Travel as the beneficiary 

owner of the shares on 26 April 2011.580 On 31 December 2011, Mr. John Tennant acquired a 

further 11.3% of Skyway 127 shares (bringing his total shareholding to 22.6%), which he likewise 

designated Tennant Travel as the beneficial owner of.581 Accordingly, the Claimant submits that 

it was an American investor with an investment in Skyway 127 from 26 April 2011.582 

368. There is no dispute that Californian law is the applicable law for determining the existence of an 

alleged trust created by Mr. John Tennant over the Skyway 127 shares in favour of the Claimant. 

The Parties also do not dispute that a trust can be created orally, and that the legal requirements 

for creating a trust are the existence of trust property, a purpose that is not illegal or against public 

policy, a beneficiary that is ascertainable with reasonable certainty or that is sufficiently 

described, and an intention to create a trust. 583  The Respondent’s main contention with the 

Claimant’s case on oral trust is the lack of evidence.584 

369. The standard for determining whether or not an oral trust exists under California law is clear and 

convincing evidence.585 The Parties’ respective experts agree that this standard requires a high 

probability on the evidence, and that it lies between the standard of a preponderance of evidence 

and the standard of beyond all reasonable doubt.586 In addition, the Tribunal considers that the 

cases of Butte Fire Cases, Higgins v Higgins, and Nevarrez v. San Marino Skilled Nursing & 

Wellness Ctr., LLC interpret the same standard of a high probability on the evidence, 

notwithstanding that they describe the standard in different terms. The Tribunal’s view is fortified 

by the fact that the Judicial Council of California’s Civil Jury Instructions, which cites Butte Fire 

Cases as authority, states that the requirement of clear and convincing evidence “means the party 

must persuade you that it is highly probable that the fact is true”.587 

                                                      
 
580  Reply, ¶¶ 69, 84. 
581  Reply, ¶¶ 153-154. 
582  Reply, ¶ 88. 
583  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 30. 
584  See ¶ 205 above; Lodise Report, ¶ 46 (RER-1). 
585  California Probate Code, § 15207(a) (R-90); Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 645:22-646:23, 

659:10-116. 
586  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 658:16-2, 660:11-14; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 

669:20-670:24. 
587  Judicial Council of California, Civil Jury Instructions, Series 100-2500 (C-270). 
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370. Having reviewed the evidence and considered the submissions made by the disputing Parties, the 

Tribunal is not persuaded that Mr. John Tennant created an oral trust and held the Skyway 127 

shares in trust for Tennant Travel.  

371. First, the Tribunal considers it significant that there is no contemporaneous documentary evidence 

to corroborate the existence or terms of the alleged oral trust. The Tribunal notes that the 437,500 

Skyway 127 shares (i.e., the alleged trust property) were pledged as security for a loan by 

Mr. John Tennant of $200,000 to his brother’s company. According to Mr. Tennant, this was a 

fairly significant personal loan.588 The loan was documented by: (a) a written promissory note 

between Mr. John Tennant as lender, IQ Properties as borrower and Mr. Derek Tennant 

guarantor;589 and (b) Skyway 127’s written acknowledgment of the promissory note issued to 

Mr. John Tennant and IQ Properties, and signed by Mr. John Pennie.590 When IQ Properties 

defaulted on the loan, Mr. John Tennant issued a written notice to demand that the Skyway 127 

shares be transferred to him in the event of a failure to pay by 19 April 2011.591 As at 19 April 

2011, when IQ Properties still did not pay, the total debt owed to Mr. John Tennant including 

interest would have been around $270,000. 592  Therefore, the 437,500 Skyway 127 shares 

represented the value of approximately $270,000. 

372. In the Tribunal’s view, given Messrs. John Tennant, Derek Tennant and John Pennie’s careful 

documentation of the loan and its default, it is incongruous that the same individuals would not 

take any steps to document the alleged trust, or register Tennant Travel’s alleged beneficial 

ownership of the shares in Skyway 127’s records. The first time that Skyway 127’s ledger makes 

reference to Tennant Travel’s interest in the shares is on 15 January 2015593 (i.e., nearly four years 

after the trust was allegedly created). The Tribunal considers that Messrs. John Tennant, Derek 

Tennant, and John Pennie are reasonably sophisticated businessmen who would have appreciated 

that it would be prudent to record the alleged trust in writing if they had intended to create such a 

trust. The Tribunal is not persuaded that Mr. John Tennant would have simply assumed that the 

                                                      
 
588  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 347:4-6. 
589  Promissory Note to Mr. John H. Tennant, 19 October 2007 (C-265). 
590  Letter of Acknowledgement between Mr. John H. Tennant and I Q Properties Inc., 20 October 2007 (C-

266). 
591  Demand Notice to T Q Properties Inc. & Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc., 19 October 2010 (C-267). 
592  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 351:14-18. 
593  Shareholders & Transfers Register: Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc., 15 January 2015 (C-115). 
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Skyway 127 ledgers reflected Tennant Travel’s beneficial ownership,594 without taking steps to 

verify the same with Mr. Pennie.595 

373. The Tribunal is additionally troubled by the fact that, despite the alleged creation of the trust on 

19 April 2011, the Shareholders & Transfers Register for Skyway 127 on 9 June 2011, 20 June 

2011 and 30 December 2011 make no reference to Tennant Travel’s beneficial ownership in 

Skyway 127’s shares.596 When the Register was updated on 20 June 2011 and 30 December 211, 

it was updated to reflect Mr. John Tennant’s 11.3% and 22.6% shareholding respectively, but 

made no mention of a trust.  

374. If, as the Claimant asserts, the purpose of the alleged trust was to prevent the dilution of voting 

control in Skyway 127,597 it is reasonable to expect that steps would be taken to ensure that the 

trust was reflected in Skyway 127’s records. No documentation of the trust exists, and the 

Claimant has not been able to provide any satisfactory explanation for the absence of 

documentation.  

375. The Tribunal notes that a contemporaneous writing is not necessary to prove an oral trust under 

California law.598 However, in the Tribunal’s view, the absence of any contemporaneous writing 

by reasonably sophisticated businessmen, who have on other occasions documented their dealings 

in writing, weighs considerably in favour of a finding that no oral trust in fact existed. 

376. Second, the Tribunal finds that Mr. John Tennant’s memorandum of 18 February 2016 to Tennant 

Energy, which is the only documentary evidence adduced by the Claimant in support of the 

alleged trust, does not constitute contemporaneous or reliable evidence of the alleged trust.599 

Mr. Tennant issued this memorandum nearly 5 years after the alleged trust was created, and after 

he had discussed the Respondent’s alleged breach of NAFTA with the Claimant’s counsel in mid-

June 2015.600 Whilst Mr. Tennant had stated in the memorandum that he at all times held the 

Skyway 127 shares as “bare trustee”, Mr. Tennant testified during the Hearing on Jurisdiction 

that the term “bare trustee” was “someone else’s term”, and that he did not know what it meant.601  

                                                      
 
594  Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 28 (CWS-2); Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 358:21-24.  
595  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 359:1-4. 
596  Shareholders & Transfers Register: Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc., 9 June 2011 (C-116); Shareholders & 

Transfers Register: Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc., 20 June 2011 (C-117); Shareholders & Transfers 
Register: Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc., 30 December 2011 (C-114).  

597  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 795:3-22, 796:6-24, 797:12-23. 
598  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 4, 641:1-21. 
599  Memorandum to the Management Board, Tennant Energy, LLC, 8 February 2016 (C-268). 
600  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 386:18-24. 
601  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 408:2-13. 
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377. Third, the Tribunal also finds that the evidence of Mr. John Tennant, Mr. Derek Tennant, and 

Mr. Pennie does not constitute clear, convincing, or reliable evidence of the alleged oral trust.  

378. The Tribunal notes that there are critical inconsistencies in the witness testimonies as to when 

Tennant Travel was designated as the alleged beneficiary of the Skyway 127 shares. Mr. John 

Tennant’s evidence that he had designated Tennant Travel as beneficiary on 26 April 2011602 

contradicts Mr. John Pennie and Mr. Derek Tennant’s testimony at the Hearing that Mr. Tennant 

still had not designated a company to hold his Skyway 127 shares by 30 December 2011.603 

Mr. Derek Tennant’s testimony at the Hearing on Jurisdiction also contradicted his statement that 

Mr. John Tennant informed him by telephone on 26 April 2011 that he was holding the shares in 

trust for Tennant Travel.604  

379. More fundamentally, the Tribunal is not persuaded that Mr. John Tennant had an intention to 

create a trust at the material time. In the Tribunal’s view, at its best, the evidence shows that Mr. 

John Tennant intended for his Skyway 127 shares to be ultimately transferred to a holding 

company.605 It is not clear to the Tribunal that until legal title to the shares were transferred, 

Mr. Tennant also intended to hold the shares as trustee for the holding company. The purpose of 

creating this alleged trust was not clearly and consistently articulated by the witnesses. As the 

Respondent pointed out, 606 four different potential purposes were advanced by the Claimant 

during the Hearing: (a) avoiding a community property dispute;607 (b) preventing the dilution of 

voting control;608 (c) avoiding taxes;609 and (d) continuity of control over shares.610 Additionally, 

the Tribunal finds it difficult to see how Mr. Tennant’s purported creation of a trust over his 

Skyway 127 shares in favour of a holding company which he allegedly owned 90% of the shares 

in611 serves the alleged purpose of preventing the dilution of voting control.  

                                                      
 
602  Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 19 (CWS-2); Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 372:12-15, 

373:17-25. 
603  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 2, 247:16-24; Pennie Statement, ¶ 48 (CWS-1); Hearing on 

Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 454:11-15. 
604  Witness Statement of Derek Tennant, ¶ 24 (CWS-3). 
605  Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 20 (CWS-2); Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 380:4-5, 

406:3-7. 
606  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 37. 
607  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 382:18-383:18. 
608  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 384:3-6. 
609  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 2, 249:21-250:6.  
610  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 468:25-469:5. 
611  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 365:5-10. 
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380. For the foregoing reasons, the Tribunal is not persuaded that Mr. John Tennant held his shares in 

Skyway 127 in trust for Tennant Travel prior to 15 January 2015. Accordingly, the Tribunal finds 

that the Claimant did not own any part of the investment prior to 15 January 2015. 

(b) Control 

381. The issue of ownership aside, the Claimant argues that it in any event qualifies as an investor 

because it also exercised control over its investment.612 

382. The Claimant argues that it had effective voting control of Skyway 127 since 31 December 

2011613 because: (a) Mr. John Tennant held his 22.6% shareholding in Skyway 127 in trust for 

Tennant Travel; (b) Mr. John Tennant, Mr. John Pennie, and Ms. Marilyn Field agreed to follow 

Mr. Tennant in voting; and (c) GE Energy, which at the time held 50% of the shares in Skyway 

127, was a silent investor.614 According to the Claimant, this allowed Mr. John Tennant to make 

decisions for Skyway 127 on behalf of Tennant Travel.615  

383. The Tribunal is not satisfied that the Claimant controlled the investment within the meaning of 

NAFTA Article 1139 from 31 December 2011.  

384. Crucially, in the Tribunal’s view, the Claimant’s case of control is inseparable from and 

contingent on its case of an oral trust. Mr. John Tennant would not have been able to make 

decisions for Skyway 127 “on behalf of Tennant Travel” if his Skyway 127 shares were not held 

in trust for Tennant Travel. Mr. John Tennant would have been making those decisions on his 

own behalf. Given the Tribunal’s finding that Mr. John Tennant did not hold his shares in trust 

for Tennant Travel, it follows that Tennant Travel could not have had control over Skyway 127 

prior to owning shares on 15 January 2015. This alone is sufficient to dispose of the Claimant’s 

argument on control. 

385. In any case, the Tribunal is not persuaded that Mr. John Tennant exercised control over Skyway 

127, whether on his own behalf or on behalf of Tennant Travel.  

                                                      
 
612  Reply, ¶ 143. 
613  Reply, ¶¶ 152-154, 167.  
614  Reply, ¶¶ 152-154, 167. 
615  Reply, ¶¶ 154, 167-168. 
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386. The Tribunal accepts that “control” under NAFTA can mean either legal control or de facto 

control.616 Legal control may exist by reason of the percentage of shares held, voting rights, or 

other legal rights conveyed in instruments such as the company’s articles or shareholders’ 

agreements. 617  Legal control may also exist by reason of multiple shareholders’ collective 

shareholding and voting rights.618 The Tribunal is not persuaded that Mr. John Tennant had the 

legal capacity to control Skyway 127, whether independently or collectively with Mr. John Pennie 

and Ms. Marilyn Field. 

387. On 30 December 2011, Mr. John Tennant owned 22.6% of Skyway 127’s shares. The alleged 

voting bloc between Mr. Tennant, Mr. Pennie and Ms. Field comprised 45.2% of Skyway 127’s 

shares at December 2011, which is a minority interest. In the first place, the Tribunal notes that 

there is no documentary evidence of the alleged agreement between Mr. Tennant, Mr. Pennie and 

Ms. Field to vote their shares together, nor any documentary evidence of the three individuals 

actually voting in common.619 There is also no documentary evidence to show that GE Energy, a 

separate entity holding 50% of Skyway 127’s shares in December 2011, was a passive investor 

that did not vote its shares. 620  

388. The evidence on record does not present a clear picture of how shareholder decisions were made 

in Skyway 127, given the absence of any meeting minutes, shareholder vote records, or other 

legal instruments which may govern shareholders’ voting rights. For example, in B-Mex v. 

Mexico, legal control was assessed by reference to the companies’ bylaws.621 In Aguas del Tunari 

v. Bolivia, the tribunal considered the entities’ constitution and articles of association to determine 

legal control.622 No similar points of reference can be found in the present case.  

                                                      
 
616  B-Mex, LLC and others v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/16/3, Partial Award, 19 July 

2019, ¶¶ 210, 220 (RLA-121); International Thunderbird Gaming Corporation v United Mexican States, 
UNCITRAL, Award, 26 January 2006, ¶¶ 106, 108 (CLA-136). 

617  Aguas del Tunari, S.A. v Republic of Bolivia, ICSID Case No. ARB/02/3, Decision on Respondent’s 
Objections to Jurisdiction, 21 October 2005, ¶ 264 (RLA-183); B-Mex, LLC and others v. United Mexican 
States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/16/3, Partial Award, 19 July 2019, ¶ 223 (RLA-121). 

618  B-Mex, LLC and others v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/16/3, Partial Award, 19 July 
2019, ¶¶ 223-225 (RLA-121). 

619  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 2, 273:22-274:4; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 399:9-
13, 466:21-467:5. 

620  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 2, 236:11-21, 274:5-11; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 
400:3-6; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 467:6-11. 

621  B-Mex, LLC and others v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/16/3, Partial Award, 19 July 
2019, ¶¶ 228-230 (RLA-121). 

622  Aguas del Tunari, S.A. v Republic of Bolivia, ICSID Case No. ARB/02/3, Decision on Respondent’s 
Objections to Jurisdiction, 21 October 2005, ¶¶ 317-323 (RLA-183). 
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389. In addition, the Tribunal considers it relevant that under the Ontario Business Corporations Act, 

a corporation shall be deemed to be controlled only if one holds more than 50% of the votes that 

may be cast to elect directors of the corporation, and the votes are sufficient, if exercised, to elect 

a majority of the directors of the corporation.623 The Tribunal does not accept the Claimant’s 

submission that the Tribunal should have no regard to Ontario corporate law in determining 

whether control was in fact exercised over Skyway 127.624 In Perenco v. Ecuador, the tribunal 

had regard to Bahamian law in determining whether control was exercised over the claimant, a 

Bahamian entity. The tribunal’s observations in Perenco are instructive:625  

“518. It can be fairly asked why an international tribunal which derives its jurisdiction from 
an international treaty specifically concerned with the reciprocal promotion and protection 
of investment ought not to be concerned with the formalities of the law of the particular 
State pursuant to which a company has been incorporated when considering the ownership 
and governance of that company. […] 

519. Thus, since the Claimant is a creature of Bahamian law, the Tribunal must look to 
the operation of that law. […]  

520. Both general international law and the applicable bilateral Treaty lack the specificity 
and particularity of municipal law (e.g. French law, Ecuadorian law, or Bahamian law) in 
terms of the ordering of corporate relations and neither purports to regulate such spheres of 
corporate activity in detail.” 

390. To be clear, the Tribunal is not purporting to be constrained by the definition of control under 

Ontario law in determining the meaning of “control” under NAFTA Article 1139, which as the 

Tribunal highlights above, is wider than the concept of “legal control”. Nevertheless, as far as 

“legal control” is concerned, the fact that the alleged 45.2% voting bloc, even if proved, does not 

amount to control of an Ontario corporation under Ontario law is a relevant consideration and 

leads the Tribunal to the conclusion that Mr. John Tennant did not in fact have legal control over 

Skyway 127.  

391. Additionally, the Tribunal is troubled by the fact that two of the three members in the voting bloc, 

Mr. Pennie and Ms. Field, are Canadian citizens. Of the 45.2% alleged voting bloc, 22.6% would 

comprise Canadian ownership. Therefore, even if 45.2% was sufficient to confer legal control 

                                                      
 
623  Ontario Business Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. B. 16, s. 1(5) (R-97).  
624  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 126-130. 
625  Perenco Ecuador Limited and Empresa Estatal Petróleos del Ecuador (Petroecuador) v. Republic of 

Ecuador, ICSID Case No. ARB/08/6, Decision on Remaining Issues of Jurisdiction and on Liability, 
12 September 2014, ¶¶ 518-520 (RLA-182).  

PUBLIC VERSION



PCA Case Nº 2018-54 
Final Award 

Page 113 of 137 
 
 

 

over Skyway 127, such legal control would not be held by a U.S. investor and would not, as a 

consequence, satisfy the nationality requirement under NAFTA Chapter Eleven. 

392. The Tribunal is similarly not convinced that Mr. John Tennant had de facto control of Skyway 

127. The Tribunal accepts that de facto control will, in the words of the B-Mex tribunal, “typically, 

and logically, present a greater evidentiary challenge.”626 The Tribunal is unable to conclude that 

the Claimant has met the evidentiary challenge when the Claimant has adduced no documents to 

show any indicia of de facto control – for example, that Mr. John Tennant exercised significant 

influence over Skyway 127, had the power to effectively decide and implement key decisions of 

Skyway 127, or had any power to direct the actions of Skyway 127.  

393. In any case, the Tribunal emphasises that the critical point remains that any control exercised by 

Mr. Tennant, even if found, cannot be attributed to the Claimant without a finding of an oral trust. 

Mr. John Tennant and Mr. Derek Tennant confirmed at the Hearing on Jurisdiction that there are 

no documents to show that Tennant Travel otherwise held any rights to direct the actions of 

Skyway 127.627 

394. Insofar as the Claimant seeks to attribute any control exercised by Mr. John Tennant to Tennant 

Travel through the concept of “indirect control”, as found in the S.D. Myers case, the Tribunal is 

of the view that the S.D. Myers case does not assist the Claimant in establishing control.  

395. In S.D. Myers,628 the tribunal found that the claimant (SDMI) indirectly controlled the investment 

(Myers Canada) notwithstanding that it did not own shares in the investment at the time of the 

alleged breach. Instead, the shares of Myers Canada were owned equally by four members of the 

Myers family, who also owned shares in different proportions in SDMI.629 The tribunal found 

that Mr. Dana Myers, a member of the Myers family, was the authoritative voice of both SDMI 

and Myers Canada,630 and that there was “uncontradicted evidence” that he was the controlling 

person in respect of the entirety of the Myers family’s business interests, including SDMI and 

                                                      
 
626  B-Mex, LLC and others v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/16/3, Partial Award, 19 July 

2019, ¶ 220 (RLA-121). 
627  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 400:10-21; Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 465:13-

466:1. 
628  S.D. Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 12 November 2000 (CLA-111).  
629  S.D. Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 12 November 2000, ¶¶ 226-227 

(CLA-111).  
630  S.D. Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 12 November 2000, ¶ 227 

(CLA-111).  
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Myers Canada.631 Mr. Dana Myers was also the chief executive officer of SDMI, and held 51% 

of the shares in SDMI.632 The tribunal’s analysis on indirect control is set out below:  

“229.   Taking into account the objectives of the NAFTA, and the obligation of the 
Parties to interpret and apply its provisions in light of those objectives, the Tribunal does 
not accept that an otherwise meritorious claim should fail solely by reason of the corporate 
structure adopted by a claimant in order to organise the way in which it conducts its 
business affairs. The Tribunal’s view is reinforced by the use of the word “indirectly” in 
the second of the definitions quoted above.” 

396. In the Tribunal’s view, the S.D. Myers case is factually distinguishable. It appears that the tribunal 

in S.D. Myers placed significant weight on the fact that the claimant and the investment shared 

the same controlling mind at the relevant time, Mr. Dana Myers. Here, the Tribunal has found 

that Mr. John Tennant did not exercise legal or de facto control over Skyway 127. For the same 

reasons, Mr. Tennant cannot be said to be the “authoritative voice” or “controlling person” of 

Skyway 127. Further, the Tribunal notes the lack of any documentation to support Mr. John 

Tennant’s claim that Mr. Derek Tennant “let [him] have” 90% of the shares in Tennant Travel.633 

Mr. John Tennant was also unable to state with precision when such share transfer allegedly took 

place,634 thus leaving the Tribunal with no clear reference point in time by which to assess whether 

Mr. John Tennant was in fact the controlling person of both Tennant Travel and Skyway 127 at 

the same time. Unlike S.D. Myers, in which the investment was wholly owned by the Myers 

family, the Tennant family did not wholly or majority-own Skyway 127 in December 2011.  

397. The relationship between SDMI and Myers Canada was also unique. The tribunal found that 

Myers Canada was “established to be the Canadian face of SDMI”, was “provided with capital, 

know-how and managerial directions by SDMI”, and “carried on business as if it were a branch 

of SDMI”.635 In essence, there was evidence that SDMI and Myers Canada acted in concert. There 

is no evidence of any such relationship between the Claimant and Skyway 127 prior to the 

Claimant owning shares in Skyway 127 in January 2015. 

398. In addition, the Tribunal accepts the Respondent’s submission that the NAFTA does not disclose 

any basis to pierce the Claimant’s corporate veil and to find jurisdiction solely based on the fact 

                                                      
 
631  S.D. Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 12 November 2000, ¶ 230 

(CLA-111).  
632  S.D. Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Partial Award, 12 November 2000, ¶¶ 89, 227 

(CLA-111).  
633  Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 18 (CWS-2). 
634  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 365:2-366:10. 
635  S.D. Myers, Inc. v. Government of Canada, UNCITRAL, Second Partial Award, 21 October 2002, ¶ 109 

(CLA-193). 
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that the Claimant and Skyway 127 shared the same minority shareholder (Mr. John Tennant).636 

By virtue of the definition of “investment of an investor of a Party” under NAFTA Article 1139, 

it is the claimant that must directly or indirectly control the investment in order to found 

jurisdiction. The language of the Treaty does not permit the claimant’s owners to be the one 

directly or indirectly controlling the investment. In the Tribunal’s view, if the NAFTA Parties had 

intended to disregard the international and domestic law principle of a corporation’s separate legal 

personality, clear words would have been used to do so. The Tribunal is not aware of any other 

decision in which a claimant’s separate legal personality was disregarded to establish jurisdiction, 

save for S.D. Myers.  

399. For the foregoing reasons, the Tribunal finds that the Claimant did not directly or indirectly 

control Skyway 127 within the meaning of NAFTA Article 1139 until 30 June 2016, the point at 

which it acquired GE Energy’s 50% shareholding in Skyway 127, taking its ownership above the 

50% mark.  

(c) Conclusions on When the Claimant Became an “investor of a Party” 

400. As noted above, the burden is on the Claimant, Tennant Energy, to establish that it owned or 

controlled, directly or indirectly, Skyway 127, the investment of the investor of a Party, and the 

point in time at which such ownership or control crystallized. The scope and coverage of NAFTA 

Chapter Eleven, addressed in Article 1101(1), imposes this requirement, as do (in the 

circumstances of this case) the terms of Article 1105, on which the Claimant relies. 

401. Having rejected the Claimant’s case on oral trust and on ownership and control of Skyway 127, 

it necessarily follows from the Tribunal’s decision that the Claimant only became an “investor of 

a Party” on 15 January 2015, when it obtained legal ownership of 45.2% of the shares of Skyway 

127, or on 30 June 2016, at which point it acquired GE Energy’s 50% shareholding in Skyway 

127, taking its shareholding above the 50% mark.  

402. Prior to 15 January 2015, therefore, on any analysis, the Claimant did not hold an “investment” 

in Skyway 127 that was capable of constituting an “investment of an investor of a Party”.  

6. When the Alleged Breaches Occurred 

403. Based on the manner in which the Claimant has pleaded its case, it is not clear to the Tribunal 

when the Respondent’s alleged wrongful measures are said to have taken place. In particular, the 

                                                      
 
636  Respondent’s PHB, ¶ 13. 
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Claimant does not clearly and fully set out the specific government measures and actions that 

allegedly breached Article 1105 of the NAFTA, or the dates on which they occurred. Instead, the 

Claimant’s submissions on Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA focused on two main arguments: (a) it 

qualified as an “investor of a Party” on 26 April 2011 when it acquired beneficial ownership of 

Skyway 127 shares under an oral trust, which is before the Claimant was placed on a FIT priority 

waiting list on 4 July 2011 and before the FIT Program was terminated on 12 June 2013; and (b) 

in any event, the alleged breaches did not occur until August 2015, when the Claimant first 

became aware or could have been aware of the Respondent’s internationally wrongful acts.637  

404. As set out above, the Tribunal has dismissed the Claimant’s argument of an oral trust.  

405. The Tribunal likewise finds no merit in the Claimant’s argument that “[a] breach under the 

NAFTA does not occur until there is breach and knowledge of that breach.”638 As the Tribunal 

had stated in its Procedural Order No. 8, the question of when the alleged breach occurred is 

separate from the question of when the Claimant knew or should have known of the alleged 

breach.639 The Tribunal’s conclusion is fortified by the language of Article 1116(1) and Article 

1116(2), which draws a clear distinction between a breach and knowledge of a breach. 

Specifically, Article 1116(1) provides that an investor of a Party may submit to arbitration a claim 

“that another Party has breached an obligation […] and that the investor has incurred loss or 

damage by reason of, or arising out of, that breach” (emphasis added). Article 1116(2) in turn 

provides that “[a]n investor may not make a claim if more than three years have elapsed from the 

date on which the investor first acquired, or should have first acquired, knowledge of the alleged 

breach and knowledge that the investor has incurred loss or damage” (emphasis added). In other 

words, a breach does not necessarily occur at the time when an investor first acquired knowledge 

of the wrongful measure. A breach occurs at the time the wrongful measure took place. The 

limitation period however starts running only after knowledge of the alleged breach and loss is 

first acquired. To this end, the Tribunal agrees with the Respondent’s submission that the date of 

the alleged breach is an objective event, and cannot be changed by the subjective knowledge of a 

claimant.640 In the Tribunal’s view, the Claimant’s submission confuses the requirements under 

Article 1116(1) with the temporal restrictions for bringing a claim under Article 1116(2).  

406. To ascertain when the alleged breaches occurred, the Tribunal considers it helpful to reproduce 

below the table set out at page 37 of the Respondent’s Counter-Memorial, which purports to 

                                                      
 
637  See ¶¶ 236-261 above. 
638  Reply, ¶ 271. 
639  Procedural Order No. 8, ¶ 42. 
640  Rejoinder, ¶ 30.  
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summarize the measures alleged by the Claimant to be wrongful, and the dates on which they 

occurred.  

Challenged Measures Alleged by the Claimant Date(s) 

Challenged Measures Related to the GEIA 

Ontario negotiated the GEIA in “secret”.  December 12, 2008 to 
January 21, 2010  

Ontario did not make the terms of the GEIA public upon conclusion.  January 21, 2010 

Ontario reserved transmission capacity for the Korean Consortium, 
and provided its projects priority access to transmission capacity.  

September 30, 2009 to 
April 1, 2010  

Ontario reserved 500 MW of transmission capacity in the Bruce 
region for the Korean Consortium.  

September 17, 2010  

Ontario granted the Korean Consortium an extension to 
select connection points in the Bruce region, instead of 
cancelling the GEIA.  

August 3, 2011  

Ontario allowed the Korean Consortium and its partner Pattern 
Energy to acquire lower-ranked FIT application projects.  

2010 to September 13, 
2011  

Challenged Measures Related to the FIT Program 

Ontario revised the rules of the FIT Program (including the 
allocation of transmission capacity in the Bruce and West of London 
regions, and the Connection Point Amendment Window).  

June 3, 2011  

Ontario provided NextEra preferential access to government 
officials and advanced information on FIT Rule changes.  

2011 

Ontario favoured NextEra and IPC in awarding FIT Contracts.  July 4, 2011  

The Minister issued a Direction to the OPA to no longer procure 
any additional MW under the FIT Program for large FIT projects. 

June 12, 2013  

Challenged Measure Related to the Management of Information 

Staff of the former Minister of Energy and Premier of Ontario 
allegedly destroyed documents relating to the two cancelled gas 
plants and to Ontario’s deferral on the development of off-shore 
wind projects.  

August 2011 to 
February 2013  

407. As set out in the table, the challenged measures occurred between 2008 and 2013. The Tribunal 

notes that this has not been disputed by the Claimant. In fact, the Claimant states expressly that 
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“[t]here is no dispute that [Ontario’s wrongful measures] took place before June 1, 2014.”641 

Given that the Tribunal has held above that the Claimant became an “investor of a Party” only on 

15 January 2015 at the earliest, then at the time the allegedly wrongful measures took place 

between 2008 and 2013 (or 2014), the Tribunal finds that the Claimant was not an investor of a 

Party within the meaning of Article 1116(1).  

408. For completeness, the Tribunal does not accept the Claimant’s submission that the Respondent’s 

allegedly wrongful acts were continuous, composite, and/or complex acts.642 The characterization 

of a wrongful act as continuing or composite affects the date on which a breach of an international 

obligation occurs and how long the breach extends. As set out in the International Law 

Commission’s 2001 Articles on the Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts 

(“ILC Articles”):  

(a) The breach of an international obligation by an act of a State not having a continuing 

character (an “instantaneous act”) occurs at the moment when the act is performed.643  

(b) The breach of an international obligation by an act of a State having a continuing character 

(a “continuing act”) extends over the entire period during which the act continues and 

remains not in conformity with the international obligation.644  

(c) Where an international obligation is breached through a series of actions or omissions 

defined in aggregate as wrongful (a “composite act”), the breach extends over the entire 

period starting with the first of the actions or omissions of the series and lasts for as long 

as these actions or omissions are repeated and remain not in conformity with the 

international obligation.645  

409. Put simply, continuing and composite wrongful acts give rise to continuing breaches. The ILC 

Articles do not address “complex acts”, and the Claimant does not explain what is meant by a 

“complex act”, or whether it is an accepted classification under international law.646 In fact, the 

characterization of the Respondent’s conduct as “complex” appears to have arisen for the first 

time in the Claimant’s closing submissions at the Hearing on Jurisdiction. 

410. The Tribunal finds that the Claimant’s case on the nature of the Respondent’s allegedly wrongful 

acts is wholly unclear. Whilst the Claimant asserts that the Respondent’s conduct is 

                                                      
 
641  Reply, ¶ 42. 
642  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 41.  
643  ILC Articles, Article 14(1) (CLA-185). 
644  ILC Articles, Article 14(2) (CLA-185). 
645  ILC Articles, Article 15 (CLA-185). 
646  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 5, 873:19-876:8. 
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simultaneously continuous, composite and complex, the Claimant fails to particularize which of 

the challenged measures constitutes a continuing wrongful act, and which of the challenged 

measures taken together are cumulatively wrongful.  

411. Instead, the Claimant places significant emphasis on the Respondent’s alleged acts of deception 

to conceal its internationally wrongful acts. According to the Claimant, “the concealment by the 

government forms an essential part of the composite breach.”647 However, as highlighted at 

paragraphs 406 and 407, even the alleged destruction of documents took place before 1 June 2014.  

412. Indeed, the Claimant’s case on the date of breach hinges entirely on the date of the Claimant’s 

claimed discovery of the breach.648 This is evident from the Claimant’s submission that “[t]he 

August 15, 2015 date of a breach under NAFTA Article 1116 remains the same whether the 

breach was to be considered as a single act, a continuous act or as part of a composite act 

involving systemic state practice as the disclosure of the systemic practice also first occurred on 

August 15, 20[15]” (emphasis added).649  

413. The Tribunal is unable to accept this submission. A later discovery of an earlier wrongful act does 

not make that wrongful act “continuing” or “composite”. As the Tribunal has explained at 

paragraph 405 above, the conflation of the date of an alleged breach (an objective event) and the 

date of disclosure and therefore knowledge of the alleged breach (a subjective event) is misguided.  

414. The conclusion of the Tribunal’s analysis is that the Claimant was not an “investor of a Party” 

within the meaning of Article 1116(1) at the time the alleged breaches took place. The Claimant 

only became an investor of a Party on 15 January 2015 at the earliest, after all of the Respondent’s 

alleged breaches had taken place.  

7. The Claimant as a “Successor in Interest” 

415. The Tribunal turns to consider the Claimant’s further argument that, even if it did not own Skyway 

127 shares or control Skyway 127 prior to 15 January 2015, it would still be a protected investor 

because it is a “successor in interest” to any claims that Mr. John Tennant may have had under 

the NAFTA prior to 15 January 2015. It is not disputed that Mr. John Tennant, being a U.S. 

citizen, was an “investor of a Party” when he owned Skyway 127 shares between 20 June 2011 

                                                      
 
647  Reply, ¶ 271.  
648  See Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 40, where the Claimant alleges that “the time of the breach occurs upon discovery 

of the truth”.  
649  Memorial, ¶ 716. 
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and 15 January 2015. According to the Claimant, when Mr. John Tennant transferred his Skyway 

127 shares to Tennant Travel on 15 January 2015, all his rights to a claim under NAFTA were 

also transferred to Tennant Travel. Pursuant to the Claimant’s expert testimony, choses in action 

such as NAFTA rights are automatically conveyed with the shares under California law.650 

416. The Respondent avers that the applicable law to determine whether NAFTA claims may be 

assigned is NAFTA and international law, not California law. According to the Respondent, and 

the Article 1128 submissions from the United States and Mexico, NAFTA offers no mechanism 

to assign investment claims because Article 1116(1) requires a claimant to be an “investor of a 

Party” when the alleged breach occurred.651 The Respondent thus submits that “NAFTA claims, 

and potential causes of action under NAFTA, cannot be assigned to other investors freely on the 

open market”.652 

417. The Respondent also relies upon the Final Award in Westmoreland for the propositions that a 

claimant must be a protected investor at the time of the alleged breach, and the challenged 

measures must have a “direct and immediate effect on the claimant”. The Respondent argues that 

this is “impossible where a claimant did not own or control its investment when the challenged 

measures were adopted or maintained”.653 In turn, the Claimant submits that the Westmoreland 

Award is “not a complete and reliable treatment of this issue” as the tribunal failed to consider 

Article 1109 of the NAFTA which expressly permits transfers of investments, which was noted 

by the Loewen NAFTA tribunal.654  

418. The Tribunal makes the following observations.  

419. The Tribunal notes that the Claimant has not cited any cases in which a tribunal found that it had 

jurisdiction to hear a claim brought by the claimant as an assignee of a NAFTA claim who did 

not own or control the investment at the time of the alleged breach. The cases of Daimler v. 

Argentina, Loewen v. United States, and Enron v. Argentina cited by the Claimant do not concern 

a similar factual matrix and do not, in the Tribunal’s view, stand for the proposition that an 

assignee or subsequent owner of an investment can bring a NAFTA claim in respect of breaches 

that occurred prior to the assignment or ownership. Daimler was considered by the Westmoreland 

tribunal, and was distinguished on the basis that the claimant had owned or controlled the 

                                                      
 
650  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 76-85. 
651  Counter-Memorial, ¶¶ 64-74; Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 17-27. 
652  Respondent’s PHB, ¶¶ 19. 
653  Respondent’s Westmoreland Submission, ¶ 11. 
654  Claimant’s Westmoreland Submission, ¶¶ 94-103. 
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investment at the time of the alleged treaty breach, but no longer owned or controlled the 

investment at the time the arbitration was commenced.655 Enron did not involve the issue of an 

assigned claim, but whether a shareholder making an investment in a company that makes an 

investment in another company, and so on, could invoke a direct right of action for measures 

affecting a corporation at the end of the chain.656 The tribunal in Enron concluded that a “cut-off 

point” had to be established, and the answer lay in establishing whether the host State’s consent 

to arbitration had been extended to the investor in question.657 Daimler and Enron were also not 

NAFTA cases.  

420. In Loewen, the Loewen Group, Inc (“TLGI”, a Canadian corporation) had assigned all of its rights 

in, title to and interest in a NAFTA claim to a newly created corporation (Nafcanco) after TLGI 

was forced by bankruptcy proceedings to undergo a corporate reorganization which changed its 

nationality from Canadian to U.S.658 The Loewen tribunal declined jurisdiction on the basis that 

the requirement of continuous nationality was not satisfied. The tribunal made no ruling on 

whether, had Nafcanco qualified as a continuing national, the tribunal would have jurisdiction to 

hear the claim.  

421. The Tribunal does not agree with the Claimant’s submission that the Loewen tribunal “noted that 

NAFTA Article 1109 permissively recognized transfers of property which would include the 

NAFTA [c]laim.”659 The assignment from TLGI to Nafcanco was not challenged in Loewen.660 

More importantly, the Tribunal struggles to see the relevance of Article 1109 to the issue of 

whether a claimant qualifies as a protected investor under the NAFTA. Article 1109(1) states that 

each Party shall permit all transfers relating to an investment of an investor of another Party in 

the territory of the Party to be made freely and without delay. Article 1109(1) does not state that 

the transferee becomes a protected investor under the NAFTA by virtue of the permitted transfer. 

Nor does Article 1109(1) state that NAFTA Parties consent to arbitrate claims brought by such 

transferee.  

                                                      
 
655  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 

31 January 2022, ¶ 210 (RLA-207). 
656  Enron Corporation and Ponderosa Assets, L.P. v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/01/3, 

Decision on Jurisdiction, 14 January 2004, ¶ 50 (CLA-333). 
657  Enron Corporation and Ponderosa Assets, L.P. v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/01/3, 

Decision on Jurisdiction, 14 January 2004, ¶ 52 (CLA-333). 
658  The Loewen Group, Inc. and Raymond L. Loewen v. United States of America, ICSID Case No. 

ARB(AF)/98/3, Award, 26 June 2003, ¶ 220 (CLA-138). 
659  Claimant’s PHB, ¶ 94; Claimant’s Westmoreland Submission, ¶ 99.  
660  The Loewen Group, Inc. and Raymond L. Loewen v. United States of America, ICSID Case No. 

ARB(AF)/98/3, Award, 26 June 2003, ¶ 237 (CLA-138). 
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422. On the contrary, the Respondent cites the recent decision of Westmoreland, which effectively 

found that a NAFTA claim cannot be assigned to a separate legal entity.  

423. In Westmoreland, the tribunal considered the question of whether “a NAFTA claim can be 

transferred together with the underlying investment when the investment is transferred or whether 

it remains with the party which owned or controlled it at the time of the alleged treaty breach.”661 

The Westmoreland tribunal answered in the negative. The tribunal found that only the party which 

owned the investment at the time of the alleged treaty breach has jurisdiction ratione temporis to 

bring a claim.662 The tribunal based its finding on its construction of Articles 1101(1), 1116(1) 

and 1117(1) of the NAFTA, as follows:  

(a) Pursuant to Article 1101(1), the alleged wrongful measures must relate to investors of 

another Party and investments of investors of another Party in the territory of the Party. 

Article 1101(1)(a) and Article 1101(1)(b) must refer to the same “investor[s] of another 

Party”. According to the tribunal, this means that the claimant (i.e., Westmoreland) must 

show that the challenged measures related to the claimant itself as well as to its 

investment.663 

(b) Pursuant to the text of Articles 1116(1) and 1117(1), the investor/claimant must be claiming 

on its own behalf “such that it held the investment at the time of the alleged breach” and 

must itself have suffered loss or damage arising out of that breach.664  

(c) The tribunal’s construction of Article 1101(1), 1116(1) and 1117(1) comports with the 

object and purpose of the NAFTA to increase substantially investment opportunities in the 

territories of the Parties. According to the tribunal, in order to encourage and support this 

investment, “an investor must have taken a risk by making an investment in order to be 

assured of treaty protection”. A purchaser or assignee of an investment subsequent to any 

treaty breach does not take a risk that there may be a subsequent treaty breach.665  

                                                      
 
661  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 

31 January 2022, ¶ 209 (RLA-207). 
662  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 

31 January 2022, ¶ 209 (RLA-207).  
663  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 

31 January 2022, ¶ 199 (RLA-207). 
664  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 

31 January 2022, ¶ 200 (RLA-207) (emphasis added). 
665  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 

31 January 2022, ¶ 201 (RLA-207) (emphasis added). 
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424. The Westmoreland tribunal concluded that “the correct construction of Articles 1101(1), 1116(1) 

and 1117(1) is that the challenged measures alleged to be in breach of a Section A obligation must 

relate to the investor of the party that is filing the claim under Section B”. Further, the tribunal 

found that “relate to” means that the challenged measure must “directly address, target, implicate, 

or affect the claimant” or have a “direct and immediate effect on the claimant”.666 Accordingly, 

the tribunal ruled that in order for Westmoreland to be able to bring its claim it must show firstly 

that the challenged measures applied to it and secondly that it itself suffered loss as a result of 

those challenged measures.667 

425. In order to determine if the principles stated by the Westmoreland tribunal that connect the 

NAFTA texts are correct, the Tribunal has considered the following. 

426. First, as the Tribunal had alluded to at paragraph 358 above, neither Articles 1101, 1116, nor 1117 

expressly states that the claimant must have held the investment at the time of the alleged breach. 

Nor do they state that the wrongful measures must have directly affected the claimant. The text 

of the NAFTA does not make these connections of temporality and directness on its face, although 

it could have been drafted to do so clearly. The Tribunal is being asked to add to the text of the 

Treaty in making such a finding.  

427. The Claimant cites Loewen as embodying the proper rule that only a continuity of nationality is 

required for jurisdiction over a transferred claim.668 In other words, an investor can transfer its 

interest to another party who brings the claim as long as they are both of the same nationality. 

However, the problem with this simple rule is that it does not by itself encompass all of the 

jurisdictional elements of Article 1116, and they were not all placed in issue in the Loewen case. 

428. Article 1116(1) is clear that the claimant-investor must be claiming on its behalf and must itself 

have suffered loss or damage arising out of the alleged breach. What is less clear is whether the 

“investor of a Party” under Article 1116(1), who brings the claim and who itself suffers loss or 

damage arising out of the breach, must be the same “investor[s] of another Party” under Article 

1101(1)(a) who the wrongful measures related to. It is true that because the claim must be 

submitted by an investor, and the investor who submits the claim must have suffered a loss or 

damage by reason of a NAFTA breach, in most cases the claimant will be the investor who held 

the investment at the time of the breach. The question is whether there are any other circumstances 

                                                      
 
666  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 

31 January 2022, ¶ 212 (RLA-207) (emphasis added). 
667  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 

31 January 2022, ¶ 215 (RLA-207). 
668  Claimant’s PHB, ¶¶ 93, 94, 96; Claimant’s Westmoreland Submission, ¶¶ 98, 99, 101. 
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in which a claimant who files a NAFTA claim could also be an investor who suffered loss or 

damage as a result of the alleged breach without having held the investment at the time of the 

alleged breach.  

429. In this regard, the Tribunal cannot exclude the possibility of an investor, whilst not an investor at 

the time of the breach, assuming an indirect loss or damage by reason of or arising from the breach 

after the breach has occurred. This might take place ex hypothesi, for instance, in a situation where 

the investor undertakes significant liabilities caused by the alleged breach to another investor, and 

thus itself suffers loss or damage. There may be other unusual situations in which the same 

appreciation may also arise but the Tribunal need not decide them as they are not before us. 

430. Second, an investor who suffers a loss from an alleged breach might sell the investment after the 

alleged breach (either before or after filing a claim) while expressly seeking to retain the NAFTA 

claim and still qualify for jurisdiction under Article 1116. This would seem to be the situation in 

the cases of Daimler and EnCana Corp. v. Ecuador, 669  which the Westmoreland tribunal 

distinguished.670 In both cases, the claimants’ respective sale of the investment after the breach 

occurred was not by itself a bar to the tribunals’ jurisdiction over the investors’ BIT claims.  

431. Third, Westmoreland also noted that corporate restructuring or internal reorganization is not 

necessarily fatal to jurisdiction.671 For example, according to Westmoreland, a legal successor 

involving a continuity of interest with an investor who owned or controlled the investment at the 

time of the breach could still qualify for NAFTA jurisdiction.  

432. In this case, the Tribunal does not need to decide whether the principles stated in Westmoreland 

would properly apply in all situations. Without prejudice to the reach of the Westmoreland 

principle, and its application in any other circumstances, the Tribunal considers that it provides a 

sound basis for assessment in the particular circumstances of this case, namely, where the 

Claimant acquired a minority interest in Skyway 127 on 15 January 2015, and a majority interest 

only thereafter – dates which, in the Tribunal’s assessment, on any reading, postdate 12 June 

2013, when the FIT Program was terminated and it was clear that Skyway 127 would not receive 

a FIT Contract. In other words, the Claimant would have acquired those shares in Skyway 127 

with knowledge that Skyway 127 had failed to receive a FIT Contract. In the circumstances of 

                                                      
 
669  Daimler Financial Services AG v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/05/1, Award, 22 August 2012 

(CLA-309); EnCana Corporation v. Republic of Ecuador, UNCITRAL, LCIA Case No. UN3481, Award, 
3 February 2006. 

670  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 
31 January 2022, ¶ 210 (RLA-207). 

671  Westmoreland Mining Holdings LLC v. Government of Canada, ICSID Case No. UNCT/20/3, Final Award, 
31 January 2022, ¶ 230 (RLA-207). 
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this case, the Tribunal considers that the principle that, to be a qualifying investor under the 

NAFTA, a putative investor must hold a qualifying interest at the time of breach, applies 

reasonably and properly. The Claimant cannot now sue for losses arising from Skyway 127’s 

failure to obtain a FIT Contract when it knew that there would be no FIT Contract at the time it 

became an investor. Consequently, the Tribunal finds that it has no jurisdiction ratione temporis 

to hear any NAFTA claim which Mr. John Tennant purportedly assigned to the Claimant as a 

“successor in interest”. 

8. Whether the Claimant Suffered Loss or Damage by Reason of, or Arising out of, the 
Alleged Breaches 

433. In any event, even if it were not necessary for the purposes of Article 1116(1) for the Claimant to 

hold a qualifying interest at the time of the breach, the Claimant has not proved, on a prima facie 

basis, that it had itself incurred any incidence of loss or damage by reason of or arising from the 

Respondent’s alleged breach, which occurred prior to the Claimant becoming an investor and 

acquiring an investment. This means that a condition under Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA is not 

satisfied, and consequently, that the Tribunal lacks jurisdiction to hear the claim. 

434. The Claimant does not dispute that it must itself have incurred loss or damage arising out of the 

Respondent’s alleged breaches in order to satisfy the requirements of Article 1116(1) of the 

NAFTA.672 The Claimant submits that it suffered loss or damage to its investment in Skyway 127 

as a result of the Respondent’s alleged breach.673 The loss and damage claimed by the Claimant 

comprise:  

(a) Economic losses calculated on the basis of the differential between the “but for” cash flows 

and “actual cash flows” on the assumption that Tennant Energy obtained a FIT Contract 

for the project. “But for” cash flows are determined as the difference between cash flows 

that Tennant Energy would have expected to receive, net of any cash outflows that Tennant 

would have to incur to earn such incoming cash flows.674  

(b) Moral damages for the “reputational, psychological, and emotional harm” suffered by 

Tennant Energy and the corporate officials of Tennant Energy.675 

435. The Tribunal is not persuaded that the abovementioned categories of loss and damage were, or 

could have been, suffered by the Claimant, Tennant Energy.  

                                                      
 
672  Reply, ¶ 195; Claimant’s Westmoreland Submission, ¶ 22. 
673  Claimant’s Westmoreland Submission, ¶ 25. 
674  Deloitte Report, ¶¶ 7.2.1-7.2.3 (CER-1). 
675  Memorial, ¶¶ 892-899. 
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436. Importantly, the Claimant’s claim for economic losses and moral damages is wholly premised on 

Skyway 127’s failure to obtain a FIT Contract. The Deloitte Report calculated the economic losses 

suffered by the Claimant on the basis of the net present value of the incremental cash flow the 

Claimant would have received over the period of a 20-year FIT Contract, assuming that a FIT 

Contract had been obtained. 676  Mr. John Tennant, 677  Mr. Derek Tennant 678  and Mr. John 

Pennie679 made claims that Skyway 127 suffered loss of the FIT Contract, and that they each 

suffered anxiety and/or stress from discovering that Skyway 127 was not awarded a FIT Contract 

as a result of the Respondent’s alleged internationally wrongful measures. The Claimant further 

asserts that Tennant Energy is entitled to moral damages for the reputational, psychological, and 

emotional harm suffered by Tennant Energy “due to the internationally wrongful measures taken 

by Canada”.680 

437. The Tribunal considers it critical that the Respondent’s alleged wrongful measures occurred 

between 2008 to 2013 (or 2014), and any loss arising from Skyway 127’s failure to obtain a FIT 

Contract crystallized at the latest by 12 June 2013, when the FIT Program was terminated and it 

was clear that Skyway 127 would not receive a FIT Contract.681 This is well before the Claimant 

owned shares in Skyway 127 on 15 January 2015. To be clear, the date on which the loss occurred 

is relevant, in the Tribunal’s view, for determining whether the Claimant as the party bringing the 

NAFTA claim incurred any loss or damage within the meaning of Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA. 

However, that is not to be conflated with the date on which the Claimant first acquired knowledge 

of the loss, which is relevant for determining when the 3-year limitation period starts to run under 

Article 1116(2). 

438.  As mentioned above, the Tribunal does not foreclose the possibility of an investor who acquires 

an investment after an alleged treaty breach to have assumed the loss caused to the investment by 

the breach. However, the Tribunal is unable to find that such a case is made out on the present 

facts.  

439. First, on 15 January 2015, the Claimant acquired 45.2% of Skyway 127 shares, of which 22.6% 

were acquired from Mr. John Tennant, a U.S. citizen, and the remaining 22.6% were acquired 

from Mr. John Pennie and Ms. Marilyn Field.682  

                                                      
 
676  Deloitte Report, ¶¶ 2.1.5, 7.2.1 (CER-1). 
677  Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶¶ 43-45 (CWS-2). 
678  Witness Statement of Derek Tennant, ¶¶ 54-56 (CWS-3). 
679  Pennie Statement, ¶¶ 114-118 (CWS-1). 
680  Memorial, ¶ 894. 
681  Memorial, ¶¶ 235, 258. 
682  Shareholders & Transfers Register: Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc., 15 January 2015 (C-115). 
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440. Given that Mr. John Pennie and Ms. Marilyn Field are Canadian citizens, the Claimant cannot be 

said to have assumed any loss caused to an investment of an investor of a Party within the meaning 

of Article 1139 of the NAFTA by acquiring their shares.  

441. As regards the 22.6% shares owned by Mr. John Tennant as a U.S. citizen, there is no evidence, 

nor does the Claimant allege, that it paid any consideration when it acquired these shares from 

Mr. John Tennant on 15 January 2015, or that it in any other way assumed whatever loss may 

have occurred because of any Treaty breaches. The Claimant’s witness statements and pleadings 

are silent on this point. Mr. John Tennant simply states that “the Skyway 127 shares in the trust 

were formally transferred over to Tennant Travel Services and registered in January 2015.”683 In 

fact, given the Claimant’s case that Mr. John Tennant always held the Skyway 127 shares for the 

benefit of Tennant Travel under an oral trust, it would seem incongruous for the Claimant to have 

paid consideration for Mr. John Tennant’s shares on, or at any time prior to, 15 January 2015. 

Whilst Mr. John Tennant had acquired his 11.3% shares from I.Q. Properties on 20 June 2011 in 

exchange for $200,000 (being the sum of his loan to Mr. Derek Tennant), this would amount to 

consideration from Mr. John Tennant, and not from the Claimant. Similarly, even if Mr. John 

Tennant had paid consideration for his acquisition of a further 11.3% shares from Premier 

Renewable Energy Ltd on 30 December 2011 (of which there is no evidence),684 this would not 

constitute consideration from the Claimant.  

442. Second, there is insufficient evidence for the Tribunal to conclude that the Claimant paid any 

consideration for its subsequent acquisition of Skyway 127 shares after 15 January 2015. The 

Tribunal notes that the changes in the Claimant’s shareholding in Skyway 127 are unclear after 

January 2015:  

(a) From 15 January 2015 to 30 June 2016, the Claimant held 45.2% of Skyway 127 shares.  

(b) On 30 June 2016, GE Energy allegedly transferred its shares in Skyway 127 to the Claimant 

“in exchange for consideration, including the irrevocable right to sell wind turbines to it if 

Skyway 127 is awarded a renewable energy contract by Ontario” (the “GE Energy 

Shares”).685 The Claimant does not specify the number of shares transferred by GE Energy 

to the Claimant, nor the amount of consideration paid by the Claimant for GE Energy’s 

shares. The Claimant has also not adduced any documentary evidence to show that it indeed 

acquired GE Energy’s shares, much less for any consideration.  

                                                      
 
683  Witness Statement of John Tennant, ¶ 28 (CWS-2). 
684  Shareholders & Transfers Register: Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc., 30 December 2011 (C-114); Memorial 

¶ 128. 
685  Pennie Statement, ¶ 67 (CWS-1); Memorial ¶ 133 (emphasis added). 
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(c) More importantly, it is not clear to the Tribunal that there was a continuity of U.S. 

nationality in respect of the GE Energy Shares between the time of the alleged breaches 

(i.e., 2008 to 2014) and the Claimant’s later acquisition of those shares on 30 June 2016. 

Based on the documentary evidence before the Tribunal, GE Energy had disposed all of its 

Skyway 127 shares between 30 December 2011 and 15 January 2015.686 It is not evident 

who GE Energy transferred its Skyway 127 shares to during this period. In any case, it is 

clear that those shares were not transferred to the Claimant since the Claimant first acquired 

its Skyway 127 shares only on 15 January 2015 from Mr. John Tennant, Mr. John Pennie, 

and Ms. Marilyn Field.687 Subsequently, GE Energy reacquired shares in Skyway 127 on 

an unknown date, and then purportedly transferred the GE Energy Shares to the Claimant 

on 30 June 2016.  

(d) After 30 June 2016, it is alleged that Tennant “owned almost all of the shares in Skyway 

127”.688 There is again no evidence of payment from the Claimant for these shares. 

443. Even if consideration had been paid by the Claimant for its acquisition of Skyway 127 shares on 

or after 15 January 2015, the Claimant would have acquired those shares with the knowledge that 

Skyway 127 failed to receive a FIT contract on 12 June 2013. This necessarily leads the Tribunal 

to the conclusion that any consideration paid would have taken into account Skyway 127’s failure 

to receive a FIT contract. This is not the case where, for instance, the Claimant acquired Skyway 

127 shares at a premium because there was an expectation that Skyway 127 may in the future 

receive a FIT contract. At the time it acquired Skyway 127 shares, the Claimant was well aware 

that Skyway 127 had failed to obtain a FIT contract. The Claimant also has not asserted that it 

suffered any loss in an indirect way, whether by assuming any liabilities suffered by Mr. John 

Tennant because of the alleged breaches or otherwise. Consequently, it is difficult to see what 

loss or damage the Claimant could have itself suffered by reason of, or arising out of, the alleged 

breaches which led to Skyway 127’s failure to obtain a FIT contract. 

444. For the foregoing reasons, the Tribunal finds that the Claimant has not proved, on a prima facie 

basis, that it incurred any loss or damage by reason of or arising from the Respondent’s alleged 

breach, which occurred prior to the Claimant becoming an investor and acquiring an investment. 

The Tribunal’s decision means that a condition under Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA is not 

satisfied, and consequently, that the Tribunal lacks jurisdiction to hear the claim. 

                                                      
 
686  Shareholders & Transfers Register: Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc., 30 December 2011 (C-114); 

Shareholders & Transfers Register: Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc., 15 January 2015 (C-115). 
687  Shareholders & Transfers Register: Skyway 127 Wind Energy Inc., 15 January 2015 (C-115). 
688  Pennie Statement, ¶ 68 (CWS-1). 
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9. Conclusions on the First Objection 

445. For the foregoing reasons, the Tribunal finds in favour of the Respondent on the First Objection. 

B. THE SECOND OBJECTION 

446. The Tribunal having found in the Respondent’s favour on the First Objection, and thus disposing 

of the case in its entirety for the Respondent, considers that it need not address the Second 

Objection. 

VIII. THE RESPONDENT’S RE-APPLICATION FOR SECURITY FOR COSTS  

447. In the Respondent’s re-application for security for costs dated 16 February 2022, the Respondent 

relied on Mr. John Tennant’s testimony at the Hearing on Jurisdiction that Tennant Energy is a 

holding company with no financial resources in a bank account, no assets besides the Skyway 

127 shares, and no business operations selling goods or services to consumers.689 According to 

the Respondent, this is new evidence which provides a reasonable basis to find that the Claimant 

is impecunious. The Respondent thus requested that the Tribunal order Tennant Energy to issue: 

(a) security for costs within 90 days of the order, either by depositing the security into an 

escrow account arranged by the PCA or by submitting a bank guarantee, in the amount of 

CAD 1,477,098.91 for the procedural and jurisdictional phase of the proceeding; and  

(b) security for costs in the amount of CAD 5,456,903.04 for the remaining phases of the 

arbitration at a later date that the Tribunal deems appropriate, should the arbitration proceed 

to the merits and damages phases. 

448. If Tribunal issues an order for security for costs, and if the Claimant subsequently indicates that 

it has been unable to obtain the funds or a bank guarantee to satisfy the order, the Respondent 

requested that the Tribunal: (a) order Tennant Energy to credibly demonstrate that it has taken 

best efforts to satisfy the order for security for costs; (b) sign an undertaking to confirm that the 

Claimant will pay any adverse costs orders; and (c) take into account Tennant Energy’s non-

compliance in the Tribunal’s final decision on the allocation of costs.  

449. In response, the Claimant argued that the Respondent does not demonstrate any “exceptional 

circumstances” or urgency which would justify an interim order for security for costs. According 

                                                      
 
689  Hearing on Jurisdiction Transcript, Day 3, 395:10-24. 

PUBLIC VERSION



PCA Case Nº 2018-54 
Final Award 

Page 130 of 137 
 
 

 

to the Claimant, Mr. Tennant’s testimony at the Hearing is not new and does not amount to an 

admission of impecuniosity. 

450. The Tribunal hereby dismisses the Respondent’s renewed application for security for costs. The 

Respondent’s application is unavoidably contingent on the Tribunal’s decision on jurisdiction. In 

the light of the Tribunal’s decision that it lacks jurisdiction to hear the Claimant’s claim, the issue 

of security for costs is moot. The Tribunal will decide on the issue of costs below. 

IX. COSTS 

A. THE PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS ON COSTS  

451. Were it to have been successful in its claim, the Claimant requested that the Tribunal order the 

Respondent to bear the costs of the arbitration that have been incurred by the Claimant as defined 

in Article 40 of the UNCITRAL Rules, in the total amount of USD 5,430,768.03,690 including the 

following costs: 

(a) attorney fees and disbursements at USD 5,097,825.64; 

(b) costs of expert witnesses at USD 150,848.46; 

(c) other disbursements at USD 31,245.47; and 

(d) fees paid for Tribunal and Institutions at USD 335,000. 

452. According to the Claimant,691 Article 40 of the UNCITRAL Rules sets out two separate tests for 

awarding costs. Paragraph 1 of Article 40 creates a rebuttable presumption that arbitration costs 

(which the Claimant defines to mean costs of the arbitration or institutional fees paid to the 

Tribunal, the secretariat, and the appointing authority) will be paid by the unsuccessful party. 

Paragraph 2 of Article 40 further provides that representation costs (which the Claimant defines 

to mean legal costs and associated expert fees, and management costs) are mainly left to the 

Tribunal’s discretion based on the circumstances of the case. 

453. In this regard, the Claimant asserted that the Respondent should bear the arbitration costs of this 

arbitration, as well as the Claimant’s representation costs in full, if the Claimant is successful in 

any of its claim. In particular, the Claimant relies on inter alia: (a) the complexity and novelty of 

                                                      
 
690  Claimant’s Costs Submission, ¶ 40. 
691  Claimant’s Costs Submission, ¶¶ 13-40. 
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the claim,692 (b) that the Claimant’s claim was made in good faith, and was reasonable in light of 

the circumstances of the Respondent’s unfair and non-transparent conduct,693 and (c) the amount 

of the Claimant’s costs are proportional to the amounts in dispute.694  

454. The Claimant further asserted that were it not to be successful in any of its arbitration claims, it 

should: (a) still be awarded certain specific and identifiable costs incurred due to the Respondent’s 

vexatious arguments, repetitive and convoluted pleadings, and conduct throughout these 

proceedings under Article 40(2) of the UNCITRAL Rules,695 and (b) not bear the Respondent’s 

arbitration or representation costs. 

455. In respect of (a) above, the Claimant requested an award of 50% of the costs (USD 2,781,000) 

based on the Respondent’s alleged vexatious argumentation and egregious conduct, which caused 

the Claimant specific, identifiable and unnecessary costs. 

456. In respect of (b) above, the Claimant submitted, amongst others, that several aspects of the claim 

were novel and of the first instance,696 there was no unreasonable or wasteful conduct on the 

Claimant’s behalf, 697  and that material misrepresentations were allegedly made by the 

Respondent denying any maladministration in the FIT Program when the record demonstrates 

that the Respondent knew at the time that these public statements were false and intended to 

mislead.698 

457. On the contrary, the Respondent argued that the Claimant should never have brought this claim 

because the Respondent had not consented to arbitrate it under NAFTA Chapter Eleven. Thus, if 

the Tribunal determines that it has no jurisdiction over this claim by finding for the Respondent 

on one or both of its jurisdictional objections, the Respondent requested that the Tribunal order 

the Claimant to bear all of the costs of this arbitration and the Respondent’s legal costs pursuant 

to NAFTA Article 1135(1) and Article 40 of the UNCITRAL Rules.699 The Respondent submitted 

that it should be entitled to CAD 3,526,411.02, which comprises of:700 

(a) arbitration costs at CAD 932,262.88; and 

                                                      
 
692  Claimant’s Costs Submission, ¶ 25. 
693  Claimant’s Costs Submission, ¶ 27. 
694  Claimant’s Costs Submission, ¶ 33. 
695  Claimant’s Costs Submission, ¶¶ 34-39. 
696  Claimant’s Costs Submission, ¶¶ 43, 50-55. 
697  Claimant’s Costs Submission, ¶¶ 44, 57. 
698  Claimant’s Costs Submissions, ¶¶ 45-46, 56. 
699  Respondent’s Costs Submission, ¶¶ 1-2. 
700  Respondent’s Costs Submission, ¶¶ 4, 21. 
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(b) legal representation and assistance at CAD 2,594,148.14. 

458. Were payment not to be received by the Respondent within 30 days of the issuance of the Award, 

the Respondent further requested that the Tribunal order the Claimant to pay post-award 

compound interest.701 

459. According to the Respondent, Article 40(1) of the UNCITRAL Rules provides that in principle, 

the unsuccessful party shall bear the arbitration costs, and that Article 40(2) provides that the 

Tribunal has discretion to apportion the disputing parties’ legal representation and assistance costs 

as it considers reasonable. In apportioning costs under Article 40, the Respondent argued that the 

Tribunal should have regard both to the outcome of the proceedings and to the relevant factors in 

order to serve the dual function of reparation and dissuasion. 

460. Consequently, the Respondent claimed that it should be awarded all its arbitration costs and costs 

of legal representation and assistance because (a) the Claimant’s legal arguments were 

convoluted, incurred and unsupported by jurisprudence,702 (b) the Claimant’s factual assertions 

continuously shifted and lacked evidentiary support, 703  (c) the Claimant created procedural 

difficulties throughout the arbitration by inter alia re-litigating decisions already made by the 

Tribunal and attempted to gain for itself a third round of jurisdictional submissions,704 (d) the 

Claimant filed needless procedural motions in the arbitration and otherwise failed to follow the 

procedures set by the Tribunal,705 (e) the Claimant persistently objected to reasonable requests 

from the Respondent,706 and (f) the Claimant’s conduct has undermined the integrity of the 

arbitration proceedings in general.707 

461. If, however, the Tribunal finds that it has jurisdiction over the Claimant’s claim, the Respondent 

asserted that the Tribunal should refrain from allocating costs for the jurisdictional phase of the 

proceedings and instead apportion costs with its final award on merits and damages, as only at 

that time will the Tribunal have a full appreciation of the relevant cost considerations arising over 

the course of the entire proceeding.708 

                                                      
 
701  Respondent’s Costs Submission, ¶ 21. 
702  Respondent’s Costs Submission, ¶ 8. 
703  Respondent’s Costs Submission, ¶ 8. 
704  Respondent’s Costs Submission, ¶¶ 9-11. 
705  Respondent’s Costs Submission, ¶ 12 
706  Respondent’s Costs Submission, ¶¶ 13-14. 
707  Respondent’s Costs Submission, ¶ 15. 
708  Respondent’s Costs Submission, ¶¶ 3, 17-18. 
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B. THE TRIBUNAL’S ANALYSIS 

462. Article 1135(1) of NAFTA provides that a “tribunal may also award costs in accordance with the 

applicable arbitration rules.”  

463. In the present case, the relevant provisions are Articles 38 and 40 of the UNCITRAL Rules. 

Article 38 of the UNCITRAL Rules provides:  

“1.  The arbitral tribunal shall fix the costs of arbitration in its award. The term “costs” 
includes only: 

(a) The fees of the arbitral tribunal to be stated separately as to each arbitrator and to 
be fixed by the tribunal itself in accordance with article 39;  

(b) The travel and other expenses incurred by the arbitrators;  
(c) The costs of expert advice and of other assistance required by the arbitral tribunal;  
(d) The travel and other expenses of witnesses to the extent such expenses are 

approved by the arbitral tribunal;  
(e) The costs for legal representation and assistance of the successful party if such 

costs were claimed during the arbitral proceedings, and only to the extent that the 
arbitral tribunal determines that the amount of such costs is reasonable;  

(f) Any fees and expenses of the appointing authority as well as the expenses of the 
Secretary-General of the Permanent Court of Arbitration at The Hague.” 

464. Article 40 of the UNCITRAL Rules further provides: 

“1.  Except as provided in paragraph 2, the costs of arbitration shall in principle be borne 
by the unsuccessful party. However, the arbitral tribunal may apportion each of such 
costs between the parties if it determines that apportionment is reasonable, taking 
into account the circumstances of the case. 

2.  With respect to the costs of legal representation and assistance referred to in article 
38, paragraph (e), the arbitral tribunal, taking into account the circumstances of the 
case, shall be free to determine which party shall bear such costs or may apportion 
such costs between the parties if it determines that apportionment is reasonable.” 

465. Article 40(1) of the UNCITRAL Rules provides that the unsuccessful party shall “in principle” 

bear all the costs of the arbitration, save for costs of legal representation and assistance referred 

to in Article 38, paragraph (e). The Tribunal has decided that it has no jurisdiction over the 

Claimant’s claim. Consequently, the Respondent has prevailed in the present proceedings and the 

Tribunal sees no reason to depart from the general rule set out in Article 40(1) of the UNCITRAL 

Rules. Accordingly, the Tribunal finds it appropriate that the Claimant bear the entire costs of the 

arbitration, as defined in Article 40(1) of the UNCITRAL Rules. 

466. The Claimant has made advances towards costs in the amount of USD 425,000 and the 

Respondent also in the amount of USD 425,000, which gives a total advance of USD 850,000. 

The PCA will provide the Parties with a statement of account after the issuance of this Final 
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Award and will return the unused balance (USD 81,774.88) to the Parties in equal share (i.e., 

USD 40,887.44 each side). 

467. The fees and expenses incurred by the members of the Tribunal, as well as those incurred by the 

PCA in its capacity as Registry in these proceedings, are as follows: 

 Fees Expenses 

Mr. Cavinder Bull, SC USD 260,535.39 USD 21,788.48 

Mr. R. Doak Bishop USD 110,300.00 USD 3,217.24 

Sir Daniel Bethlehem KC USD 138,794.02 USD 15,599.89 

Permanent Court of Arbitration USD 127,407.25 USD 12,038.60 

468. Other administrative costs, including the costs of organization of the First Procedural Meeting, 

the Hearing on Bifurcation and Preliminary Motions, and the Hearing on Jurisdiction amount to 

USD 78,544.25. Thus, the amounts paid from the deposit established with the PCA total 

USD 768,225.12. 

469. Accordingly, the total costs of the arbitration under Article 40(1) of the UNCITRAL Rules 

amount to USD 950,319.05709 and CAD 359,710.09.710 This includes the fees and expenses of the 

Tribunal, the costs of expert advice, the travel and other expenses of witnesses, and fees and 

expenses of the PCA (i.e., the items enumerated at Article 38(a), (b), (c), (d) and (f) of the 

UNCITRAL Rules). 

470.  The Tribunal thus fixes the costs of arbitration at USD 950,319.05 and CAD 359,710.09, and 

orders the Claimant to pay to the Respondent USD 384,112.56 (i.e., the share of the amounts paid 

from the advances on costs borne by the Respondent) plus CAD 359,710.09 (i.e., the 

Respondent’s total disbursements towards the costs of arbitration other than Tribunal 

Advancements). 

                                                      
 
709  This figure represents the amounts paid from the deposit established with the PCA (USD 768,225.12) plus 

all other disbursements in USD corresponding to the items enumerated at Article 38(a), (b), (c), (d) and (f) 
of the UNCITRAL Rules – i.e., the Claimant’s costs of expert witnesses (USD 150,848.46) and other 
disbursements (USD 31,245.47). 

710  This figure represents the Respondent’s total disbursements towards the costs of arbitration other than 
Tribunal Advancements. See Respondent’s Costs Submission, Annex II. 
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471. Turning to the costs of legal representation and assistance, the UNCITRAL Rules do not contain 

a presumption for awarding such costs to the successful party. Instead, Article 40(2) provides that 

in apportioning these costs, the arbitral tribunal should take into account “the circumstances of 

the case”. In doing so, and as submitted by the Parties, NAFTA tribunals have generally taken 

several factors into account, including the novelty of the case and the parties’ conduct in the 

arbitration proceedings. 

472. Here, both Parties have complained that the other Party’s conduct led to an unnecessary increase 

in costs. 

473. The Tribunal recalls that both Parties brought a large number of procedural requests in the course 

of this arbitration. Whilst neither Party should be faulted for doing so, many of these requests 

unnecessarily burdened and prolonged the arbitral process. In particular, the Tribunal notes that 

some of these procedural requests were initiated by and decided against the Respondent, the 

successful party in this arbitration. This includes the Respondent’s Motion for Security for Costs, 

the Respondent’s Motion for Targeted Document Production, as well as the Respondent’s 

applications to impose confidentiality designations.711 

474. Additionally, the Tribunal agrees with the Claimant that some of the issues raised were novel. For 

instance, whether a NAFTA claim can be assigned to another investor who did not hold the 

investment at the time of the breach is a novel issue which was decided only recently, and for the 

first time, in Westmoreland. In fact, the Westmoreland Award was issued several months after 

the Hearing on Jurisdiction had concluded. Furthermore, the principles set out in Westmoreland 

are not without controversy and the Tribunal did not reach a conclusion that these principles 

should apply in all situations.  

475. Taking all the above into account, the Tribunal is of the view that the Claimant should bear all of 

its own costs, and 80% of the Respondent’s legal representation and assistance costs in the amount 

of CAD 2,075,318.51. 

X. THE TRIBUNAL’S DECISION  

476. For the reasons set forth above, the Tribunal decides as follows: 

(a) The Tribunal does not have jurisdiction to hear this claim on the grounds that the 

requirements under Article 1116(1) of the NAFTA are not satisfied;  

                                                      
 
711  See, for example, Procedural Order No. 7 and Procedural Order No. 12. 

PUBLIC VERSION



PCA Case Nº 2018-54 
Final Award 

Page 136 of 137 
 
 

 

(b) The Claimant’s claim is accordingly dismissed in its entirety;  

(c) The Respondent’s re-application for security for costs dated 16 February 2022 is dismissed; 

(d) The costs of the arbitration are fixed at USD 950,319.05 and CAD 359,710.09; 

(e) The Claimant shall bear 100% of the arbitration costs fixed in the preceding paragraph and 

the Tribunal thus orders that the Claimant pay the Respondent USD 384,112.56 and 

CAD 359,710.09 within 30 days of notification of this Final Award; and 

(f) The Claimant shall bear 80% of the Respondent’s legal representation and assistance costs 

and the Tribunal thus orders that the Claimant pay the Respondent CAD 2,075,318.51 

within 30 days of notification of this Final Award.  
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